
 
 

(Established pursuant to section 103 of the Local Democracy, Economic Development  
and Construction Act 2009 as the Halton, Knowsley, Liverpool, St Helens, Sefton  

and Wirral Combined Authority) 

 

MEETING OF THE LIVERPOOL CITY REGION  
OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

 

 

To: The Members of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
 
Dear Member, 
 
You are requested to attend a meeting of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
to be held on Thursday, 20th January, 2022 at 2.15pm in the Authority 
Chamber, No. 1 Mann Island, Liverpool L3 1BP. 
 
Members of the public are encouraged to view the meeting via the webcast but 
for anyone who would like to attend in person, please contact Democratic 
Services on 07833 047153 or email democratic.services@liverpoolcityregion-
ca.gov.uk in advance of the meeting. Please note that there is very limited 
capacity in the Chamber and seating will be allocated on a first come, first 
served basis. 
 
All those attending will be asked to wear a face covering (unless exempt) and 
are encouraged to take a Lateral Flow Test before attending. You should not 
attend if you have tested positive for Coronavirus or if you have any symptoms 
of Coronavirus 

Yours faithfully 

 
Chief Executive 

 
WEBCASTING NOTICE 

 
This meeting will be filmed by the Combined Authority for live and/or 
subsequent broadcast on the Combined Authority’s website. The whole of the 
meeting will be filmed, except where there are confidential or exempt items.  
 
If you do not wish to have your image captured or if you have any queries 
regarding the webcasting of the meeting please contact the Democratic 
Services Officer on the above number or email 
democratic.services@liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk.  
 
A Fair Processing Notice is available on the Combined Authority’s website at 
https://www.liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/Fair-Processing-
Notice-CA-Meeting-Video-Recording.pdf 
 
 

mailto:democratic.services@liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk
mailto:democratic.services@liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk
mailto:democratic.services@liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk.
https://www.liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/Fair-Processing-Notice-CA-Meeting-Video-Recording.pdf
https://www.liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/Fair-Processing-Notice-CA-Meeting-Video-Recording.pdf


 

 

 

OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
 

AGENDA 
 
 

1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  

   

2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  

   

3. MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON 3 NOVEMBER 2021  

 To consider the minutes of the last meeting of the Liverpool City Region 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee held on 3 November 2021. 

  (Pages 1 - 16) 
 

4. COMBINED AUTHORITY BUDGET REPORT 2022/23  

 To consider the report of the Portfolio Holder for Policy, Reform and 
Resources and the Executive Director of Corporate Services. 

  (Pages 17 - 88) 
 

5. LCR COMBINED AUTHORITY CORPORATE PLAN 2021-24 - 
BIANNUAL/Q2 PERFORMANCE REPORT 2021/22  

 To consider the report of the Executive Director of Corporate Services. 

  (Pages 89 - 124) 
 

6. APPOINTMENT OF SUBSTITUTE SCRUTINY MEMBER TO THE LCR 
AUDIT AND GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE 2021/22  

 To consider the report of the Chief Legal and Monitoring Officer. 

  (Pages 125 - 128) 
 

7. LIVERPOOL CITY REGION PATHWAY TO NET ZERO - OVERVIEW 
AND PROGRESS UPDATE  

 To consider the report of the Executive Director of Policy, Strategy and 
Government Relations. 

  (Pages 129 - 176) 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 

8. EQUALITY STRATEGY DRAFT VISION AND OBJECTIVES  

 To consider the report of the Executive Director for Corporate 
Development and Delivery and Portfolio Holder for Policy, Reform and 
Resources. 

  (Pages 177 - 186) 
 

9. ANY OTHER BUSINESS WHICH THE CHAIRPERSON DEEMS TO BE 
OF AN URGENT NATURE  

   
 

 



This page is intentionally left blank



LCR OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
 
 

At a meeting of the LCR Overview and Scrutiny Committee held in the 
Authority Chamber - No.1 Mann Island, Liverpool, L3 1BP on Wednesday, 3rd 
November, 2021 the following Members were 
 

P r e s e n t: 
 

Councillor 
S Radford 

Chair of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
(in the Chair) 

 
J Abbott, D Burgess-Joyce, E Dourley, E Finneran, J Hansen, A Jones, T Long,  
J McManus, P Moloney, J Morgan, K Taylor, M Uddin and C Waterfield. 
 
Also in attendance – Metro Mayor Steve Rotheram and Councillor L Robinson, 
Portfolio Holder for Transport and Air Quality. 
 
12. CHAIR'S OPENING REMARKS  
 
The Chair, Councillor Steve Radford opening the meeting and welcomed newly 
appointed Committee Member, Councillor Tricia Long from St Helens to her first 
meeting.  
 
The Chair also remarked on the sad passing of former Vice-Chair of the Committee, 
Councillor Andy Corkhill from Wirral Council.  He invited the Metro Mayor, Steve 
Rotheram to address the Committee. 
 
Metro Mayor, Steve Rotheram paid tribute to Andy Corkhill and stated that cross 
party relationships was an important factor in getting the business done and Andy 
Corkhill had been a person who could see beyond party politics and ensured that he 
worked for the community he represented. The Metro Mayor explained that Andy 
Corkhill was due to stand in the Mayoral elections which were due to take place in 
2020 but were postponed due to the pandemic, but he became unwell and had to 
withdraw as the Liberal Democrat candidate. Andy Corkhill was passionate about 
representing people and his passing would be a great loss to the Authority and local 
politics. The Metro Mayor confirmed that he had conveyed condolences from the 
Combined Authority and felt that Andy Corkhill deserved a minute’s silence in order 
that he could be recognised for the work he had undertaken on behalf of everyone. 
 
The Committee stood in silence as a mark of respect. 
 
13. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  
 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Michael Haw, Christine 

Howard, Anna Rothery, Pam Thomas and Sir Ron Watson CBE.  

14. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
 There were no declarations of interest.  

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



 
15. MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON 14 JULY 2021  
 
The minutes of the meeting of the LCR Overview and Scrutiny Committee held on 14 
July 2021 were approved as a correct record.  
 
16. VERBAL UPDATE FROM METRO MAYOR S ROTHERAM  
 
Metro Mayor, Steve Rotheram provided the Committee with an update on his 
activities since the previous meeting. 
 
The Metro Mayor asked for guidance around the process as there had been a lot 
which had happened since the last meeting. The Chair of the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee felt that it would be useful to have an overview of the whole presentation 
following which Members could pick up on any queries thereafter.  
 
The Metro Mayor stated that the biggest headline since the previous meeting had 
been around the £710m of transport block funding which had been received from the 
Government. However, the Government had not specified what it should be spent on 
and therefore a comprehensive business case had had to be put together with a 
pipeline of projects to bid for which needed to be transformational and City Region-
wide. There were a number of strategic aims – the first of which was to create a 
‘London-style’ integrated transport system that was fit for the 21st Century. Also, as 
part of that, it was proposed to have ‘London-style’ fares which would be much more 
affordable. London received a huge subsidy for its fares which was understandable, 
but he felt that if other areas received a subsidy then the City Region should do so as 
well in order to make public transport more affordable for all.  
 
As part of the transformational review of the City Region there was something called 
Merseyrail for All. He noted that there were places that Merseyrail did not currently 
serve and there were some communities who could not access trains and therefore it 
was proposed to undertake a trial using battery technology to see if it was possible to 
get to those outlying communities. The batteries had been trialled during Covid to 
see how far they could go. It had been anticipated that they would be able to last for 
eight miles but it had been found that they could potentially last about 20 miles and 
therefore it would be possible to start expanding the network beyond the current 
borders. Of course, it would be essential to have the right infrastructure in place but 
with battery technology it would not be necessary to pay out for the live third rail. The 
first test would hopefully take place at the end of next year when Headbolt Lane 
would be built and opened and have brand new rolling stock.  

 
The Metro Mayor stated that further control was required over buses as currently bus 
companies were subsidised, and work would continue in partnership with Local 
Authorities to create green bus corridors, improve the timetable and create priorities 
for buses. Currently 82% of journeys were made by bus in the City Region and were 
an important part of travel and that integration continued with active travel such as 
walking and cycling. He had ambitions of achieving 600km of active travel network 
and work had already commenced on this which involved looking at where the 
breaks were between different parts of the infrastructure to connect them up. 113km 
of active travel network was already under construction. The BSIP bid was £667m 
and it was hoped that the Government would work closely with the Combined 
Authority in order to connect communities. 
 
The Metro Mayor was pleased that Sefton, Liverpool and Wirral had been awarded 
levelling up fund in the recent budget. Wirral received £19.6m, Liverpool £20m and 

Page 2



Sefton £2.5m and that was also part of what people were trying to do with the Town 
Deal Fund. The Metro Mayor had received feedback from Government that the 
Liverpool City Region Transport Settlement bid had been of a high calibre and 
consequently the Region received more per head than any other Combined 
Authority. He thanked staff involved for all their hard work behind the scenes. 
 
The Metro Mayor made the following further announcements: 
 

 The Combined Authority had supported Bramley Moore with a sum of £45m. 
£15m of that was a grant for the heritage element and £30m was a loan which 
would provide a substantial return for us and would enable us to turn capital into 
revenue that could be used in the future differently to the blocks of funding 
received from Central Government for projects. He was certain that that would 
act as a catalyst for wider regeneration in that area. 

 

 In mid-October it was noted that Kirkby had opened its first supermarket in 41 
years. He was proud of it as a totemic anchor for regeneration to be built around 
and it was hoped that the connectivity and economic coherence would start to 
make sense.  

 

 He referred to Fords and the announcement of a £230m investment in the 
Halewood plant which would secure 500 jobs but it would also enable the 
transition from the internal combustion engine into the new E-engines (electric). 
We won this against global competitors, and he thanked Councillor Morgan, the 
Government and local Councillors for their support.  

 

 He stated that High-Net would be the opportunity for us to start to look now at 
what a hydrogen fuel future would mean for the Liverpool City Region. Currently 
it was blue hydrogen and that was an issue for everyone, but the infrastructure 
could be built around it whilst creating capacity for green hydrogen which was 
the aim. That was the reason why the tidal project was so important.  

  

 In summary he concluded that all of this would contribute to the vision to get to a 
high wage and high skilled economy. The people in this City Region were as 
talented as the rest of the country and opportunities were required to allow them 
to reach their full potential and that was why these announcements were positive 
for the future of the Liverpool City Region. 

 
Councillor Steve Radford thanked the Metro Mayor for his comments and stated that 
it was encouraging that such a positive response to these initiatives had been 
received from the Government. It had been a great disappointment when Liverpool 
lost Plessey Telecommunications, a high earning employer in the City Region.  
 
Councillor David Burgess-Joyce liked the final comment made by the Metro Mayor. 
He thought that the comment about people in Merseyside having a lot to offer was an 
understatement. What he did not support was the promise of approximately 
£1.4billion of investment into Liverpool, which regardless of political will or otherwise, 
was an investment into Merseyside and also into the Metro Mayor’s leadership. He 
felt that time should be taken to consider the excellent work undertaken by the team 
and the fact that it also proved the Government’s commitment to Merseyside. What 
he was worried about specifically was the ‘London style’ transport and the fact that 
Liverpool was not London. He was concerned that congestion charges would be 
introduced and the impact this could have on businesses. He asked what had been 
done to secure support from businesses who wanted to be green but who also 

Page 3



wanted to know that they would not be put out of business by what they might see as 
a potential fad that might go away, just as diesel traffic had done some time ago? He 
asked when a congestion charge was being introduced and at what level would it 
start off at?  
 
The Metro Mayor responded that he did work closely with Mayor Khan and he was 
envious of what London had because it was the only bus transport system in the 
country that had not been deregulated by Margaret Thatcher. Liverpool had 
experienced some 30 plus years of a sub-optimal bus service.  Whilst it was ok, it 
could be so much better. Plans were being developed on bus reform. Detailed 
negotiations were currently ongoing with the Secretary of State regarding stations, 
signals, rails and land in order to put in place a plan for integrated use for train land 
and link to other public transport like buses or tram trains. Congestion charges was 
something that Boris Johnson had increased. London particularly had introduced 
congestion charges and Manchester was looking into it at present. He confirmed that 
there were currently no plans to introduce congestion charging in the City Region and 
the Government had not specifically requested it. The Government had requested a 
look at air quality and there had been investment in monitoring systems in order to 
obtain a greater understanding of requirement before any other punitive measures 
were considered.  
 
The Metro Mayor reminded the Committee that the COP 26 conference was taking 
place shortly and he would be representing the North-West and the City Region. He 
expressed concern that the planet was dying and it was necessary to act to ensure 
that the carbon footprint could be reduced as far as possible. This could be achieved 
by punitive measures e.g. charging but the focus was on introducing genuine quality 
alternatives to personal car use. If that did not work, he advised that he would not 
rule out the introduction of congestion charging in the future. There was a need to 
look at all of the policies to see if more could be squeezed out on the green premium. 
He reiterated that there were currently no plans for congestion charging but it was 
essential to address congestion and air quality issues. 
 
Councillor Pat Moloney referred to the green agenda and in particular progress on 
hydrogen buses which had been ordered. He had read that the City Region was 
working with Scottish Power on electric vehicle charging infrastructure and he would 
like further information on that and also on progress with hydrogen boilers which 
were due to be introduced before the end of this year? He also asked how many 
monitoring stations were in place for measuring air quality throughout the City Region 
and what plans were in place to increase that and at what level?  
 
Councillor Liam Robinson replied that in relation to air quality there were different 
types of management infrastructure in place from diffusion tubes through to 
automatic stations of which there were six across the Local Authorities). There had 
recently been a procurement process to be able to co-ordinate that better. Some 
great work was taking place on an individual Authority level but there was a need to 
make it more cohesive. Air quality did not respect boundaries or lines on maps. The 
Combined Authority was looking into information being made available in real time on 
an hourly basis to monitor how air quality in key locations was changing in order to 
make the right decisions. Some information would be difficult for us to face but it 
would be vital to do so.  
 
The Metro Mayor responded to the question in relation to hydrogen boilers. The issue 
was getting the infrastructure and pipework from the production site to domestic 
suppliers. The first trial of this had taken place in St Helens and looked at up to 21% 
of hydrogen in the gas supplies. The Metro Mayor confirmed that he had attended 

Page 4



the world’s first trial of hydrogen for energy intensive production which had been 
100% successful. It would be possible to take 10 million tonnes of CO2 out of 
Liverpool City Region’s atmosphere every year if that was successful. Hydrogen 
boilers were also part of a retrofitting scheme which had commenced in many areas. 
In respect of the comment made in relation to electric vehicle charging infrastructure, 
Scottish Power advised that if there were three electric cars charging on same street, 
the lights would dim due to impact on the capacity of the network. Improved 
infrastructure was therefore required. Even for new areas where development was 
taking place, Scottish Power and others had been denied the opportunity of putting 
anticipatory investment in the infrastructure until the development was complete. 
Infrastructure should be put in first and not after. It was hoped that the Authority 
would benefit from this scheme, but those negotiations were at a very early stage at 
the moment. 
 
Councillor Steve Radford mentioned air quality pollution and getting greener 
transport. All transport was effective in deprived communities in getting people to 
employment markets. He was concerned that there were missed opportunities with 
the Bootle branch line as a lot of the northern communities suffered from incredible 
football congestion and the air quality impact but also they were communities that 
needed a connection to a wider job employment. benefit. He asked for an update on 
the Bootle branch line. 
 
Councillor Liam Robinson replied that he would be briefing the Metro Mayor following 
day on some feasibility work for connections for Anfield and the whole north Liverpool 
corridor along with links to John Lennon Airport. A number of options had been 
considered which included passenger services onto the Bootle branch line, tram train 
technology in North Liverpool, similar to that used in Sheffield and another option 
was bus rapid transit approach which consisted of a very high-quality bus that looked 
like a tram which would run on street based infrastructure. A lot of feasibility work 
was underway to develop this further in the years ahead and further announcements 
would follow.   
 
Councillor Edna Finneran said that she loved the idea of the bus system and felt that 
it would be of great benefit to Merseyside. The facilities in her area were horrendous 
and some services had disappeared. Halewood was a growing area with new build 
housing requiring good transport links to get people out of cars. If there was transport 
on the outskirts it would allow people to get better jobs and better housing.  
 
The Metro Mayor agreed that it was not just business to business but it was about 
connecting people with opportunities which was the aim of the system the Combined 
Authority was trying to create. 
 
Councillor Kai Taylor was really interested in the plans for a ‘London style’ transport 
system as there was a lot of disparity on the accessibility of the transport network. 
Connectivity into Liverpool City Centre was good but inter borough travel remained a 
problem. He was pleased that the Metro Mayor was looking at ways to tackle air 
pollution. Some measures could be inconvenient to some but he believed that food 
shortages, flooding and toxic air was a greater inconvenience in the long run. He 
asked about a specific bus service as being a student, night-time worker or a woman, 
a vital service for people working in the night-time economy was the 86A bus route 
which previously operated hourly through the night.  It was also a valuable service for 
people going into Town and returning home. It helped people such as students who 
did not have enough money for a taxi. He asked if the Metro Mayor could provide an 
update on when it was expected that night bus services would come back to pre-
covid capacity? 

Page 5



 
The Metro Mayor stated that as part of the Bus Service Improvement Plan (BSIP), 
the aspiration was to improve services and infrastructure so it was really important 
that funding was secured. He agreed with Councillor Taylor’s comments on 
connectivity between Boroughs.  Green corridors and priority lanes were things that 
the City Region Local Authorities had already agreed to and was deliverable. The 
consultation, the ‘Big Bus Debate’ identified that people wanted buses to start earlier 
and to run later and this was being looked at, although the feedback received was 
that the later the buses ran the less safe women and girls felt on them. Therefore, 
women’s safety and the safety of passengers was part of the ‘Big Bus Debate that 
was currently taking place and it would depend on how much funding was made 
available.  
 
Councillor Liam Robinson felt that the current deregulating nature of the bus network 
did not work as although there were some good links there were a lot that were 
missing. Bus companies would run routes that were profitable but routes which were 
not commercially viable but were socially necessary fell to the Combined Authority to 
subsidise. This meant that we were legally prevented from being able to run anything 
in competition which resulted in a situation where it was not possible to co-ordinate 
the network properly. The good news was that early in the New Year a plan would be 
brought forward on how those devolved powers could be used to re-regulate and co-
ordinate the network and that would open up opportunities to integrate. In respect of 
the 86A night service, the Combined Authority did not have control over that route to 
do anything about it. Bus operators were struggling with staffing resource issues due 
to the ‘pingdemic’ and self-isolation. Also, there were some driver shortages due to 
HGV vacancies and backlogs with DVLA processing of licences. New drivers could 
not work until the paperwork had been received and the Government were being 
lobbied on that issue. Discussion would continue with the bus operators in respect of 
route 86A and it was hoped that this would go back to a 24 hour route as quickly as 
possible as it was important both pre-pandemic and into the future. As part of the 
BSIP submission, the Government had been asked for funding for 15 core routes to 
go 24 hours across the City Region which would provide services for shift workers 
and the night-time economy which presently did not exist. He confirmed that routes 
79C and 86A were candidate routes for the green routes programme as well so they 
would be quicker and higher specification, ideally hydrogen vehicles as well.  
 
Councillor John Abbott stated that he wanted to connect the Liverpool City Region to 
the people he represented as it was still quite remote. The ideas were sound - all big 
cities across the world had integrated transport systems and all were controlled by 
the Local Authority. He queried whether powers existed to take this into public 
ownership at the moment before making promises to people?  
 
The Metro Mayor responded that nobody had those powers. There was an Act of 
Parliament entitled the Bus Services Act 2017 which was currently being worked 
through which provided an option to look at franchising as one option. If that could be 
overcome and a consultation process was put in place, then it would be possible to 
use those powers for only areas with a Metro Mayor. He reported that Manchester 
was ahead of the game and they would be likely to go first with the Liverpool City 
Region following shortly after. It was also proposed to look at bringing together the 
Manchester and Liverpool City Region cross-border as part of the mix.  
 
Jill Coule, Chief Legal and Monitoring Officer, added that it was a huge process that 
the organisation was going through to consider and determine what option would be 
proceeded with and there was some decision-making planned for March 2022 which 
was actively under review. She felt that there would be a role for Overview and 

Page 6



Scrutiny to play as part of that decision making process and Officers would be able to 
support Members through that. She also asked if Councillor Robinson would also be 
prepared to come in and support that process and he agreed to do so.  
 
Councillor Julie McManus asked for reassurance about residents on the Beechwood 
estate in particular. A lot of people travelled to Arrowe Park Hospital and struggled to 
get there particularly late at night for example Heath Care workers etc.  
 
Councillor Liam Robinson recognised the fact that hospital links were vital to connect 
people across the City Region and agreed that they needed to be improved. A bid 
had been included in the BSIP for additional pots of money to look at some of those 
connections so if Government looked upon that favourably, funding of those 
connections could be looked at. It also linked into the bus reform proposals and if it 
was possible to take control of the network then it would enable the design routes 
that actually worked for communities rather than using historical routes.  
 
Councillor Steve Radford thanked the Metro Mayor for his attendance and 
Councillors for engaging with this process. 
 
17. UPDATE ON LIVERPOOL CITY REGION COMBINED AUTHORITY 

CORPORATE PLANNING AND PROPOSED REPORTING PRACTICE  
 
The LCR Overview and Scrutiny Committee considered the report of the Executive 
Director of Corporate Services which highlighted the progress made since the 
publication of the Liverpool City Region Combined Authority Corporate Plan in 
developing the work activities that supported the delivery of that plan. The report also 
advised that a full, substantive progress report would be prepared for the Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee for its meeting on 20 January 2022. 
 
Dan McCafferty, Head of Programme Management and Corporate Performance 
explained that a commitment had been made to keep Members appraised on how 
the business plan would be delivered as a Combined Authority and the goals which 
had been set. He explained that at the last meeting of the Committee he had given a 
presentation on the top-level Corporate Plan which had looked at five key priorities 
for improving the City Region as follows:-  
 

 Fairer - young person’s guarantee, households into work programme, race 
equality and digital inclusion  

 Stronger - Covid recovery and social value framework, innovation projects and 
business support 

 Cleaner - net zero carbon plan, Mersey tidal programme, hydrogen bus. Green 
jobs 

 Connected – smart ticketing, tunnel strategy, transport etc 

 Vibrant - cultural compact, public land strategies  
 
Dan McCafferty advised that there was an internally focused package of work 
ongoing which would ensure that the Combined Authority, as a body of staff, was 
running as efficiently as it could be and there were a lot of internal initiatives in place 
to look at how that could be achieved.  
 
Dan McCafferty indicated that following the request by Members at the last session 
for more user friendly information, a new priorities summary had been included within 
the report which highlighted what was going well and what was not. He explained 

Page 7



that further information would be provided on what was being delivered with money 
invested and progress within each of the projects.  
 
Councillor David Burgess-Joyce referred to Priority 3 - Cleaner City. He noted that 
there was an aspiration to become carbon zero and he asked what that was likely to 
look like for the residents of Merseyside and what would it feel like. 
 
Dan McCafferty responded that he did not have a summary of the actions that sat 
underneath the plan to hand but he could let Councillor Burgess-Joyce have them 
outside of the meeting. Inevitably it linked into the variety of programmes proposed to 
transform the City Region. The green initiatives would be built into every project and 
actual outputs would be monitored as it was essential to show the real world impact.  
 
Councillor Pat Moloney noticed that the concentration was around power generation 
but he felt that a few things had been missed. There was mention of off-shore wind 
but not on-shore wind and it was arguable that that would be cheaper, more reliable 
and sustainable. For most residents in the City Region the biggest impact for them, 
from an economic and climate change point of view, would be improved insulation of 
their homes and that would become increasingly important over next few months due 
to the rise in energy prices and that would mean we would not need to generate so 
much power.  
 
Councillor John Morgan commented that the language in the Corporate Plan tended 
to be subjective. For example, to provide good quality jobs and achieve an inclusive 
economy in the world and most digitally connected City Region. He questioned what 
those statements actually meant and how they would be manifested. He also referred 
to resources and asked how it would be funded. If the Committee was to scrutinise 
the Corporate Plan then it needed to be aware of what these items actually meant.  
 
Dan McCafferty would be happy to come back with clear information on what it was 
that would be delivered with what resources in order to make it tangible. Further 
information was available on what was meant by good jobs, inclusive economy and 
resources and he would ensure that the thread ran through the presentation in 
January 2022. In relation to the points made about onshore winds and solar power, 
the policy took into account a full energy mix and he could bring forward more 
detailed information on that package at the January meeting. The Combined 
Authority had undertaken a £40m programme on insulating housing stock exclusively 
for retrofit initiatives. This programme was progressing well and this could also be 
brought forward in more detail to the next meeting.  
 
The Chair, Councillor Steve Radford expressed concerns with retrofitting as it tended 
to be utilised by Housing Associations and large Corporate Bodies but bypassed a lot 
of the private owner/occupiers. He suggested that this was something that should be 
looked at.  
 
Councillor Edna Finneran asked whether each Council had been given an 
opportunity to input into the plan? 
 
Dan McCafferty was confirmed that the plan had been put together over a six month 
period within the City Region and there had been a considerable amount of 
stakeholder engagement between January and June 2021. 
 

RESOLVED - That: 
 

(i) the update be noted; and 

Page 8



 
(ii) it be noted that a full progress report on plan delivery would be  

brought to the Committee for its meeting on 20 January 2022. 
 

18. RACE EQUALITY PROGRAMME UPDATE  
 
The Overview and Scrutiny Committee considered a report of the Chief Executive 
which gave an overview of recent progress in relation to the Liverpool City Region 
Combined Authority (LCRCA) Race Equality Programme. The report outlined how 
progression towards the establishment of a regional Race Equality Hub would be 
developed and the steps being taken towards the creation of this new approach to 
addressing racial inequality. It also provided an update on ‘The World Reimagined,’ 
internal human resource work, the establishment of a Business Support Working 
Group and ‘Generations for Change project, that were additional projects and 
workstreams which formed an integral part of the overall Race Equality Programme. 
 
Lorna Rogers, Assistant Director, Mayoral Delivery gave a presentation and 
reiterated that this was an opportunity for Members to review progress against 
targets.  She specifically highlighted the following achievements: 
 

 The Business Case had been agreed with an investment of £3.6m secured from 
the Combined Authority. That would be drawn down in two phases. £1.3m had 
been allocated for phase 1 and it would be necessary to go back to the 
Combined Authority in the following year to ask for phase 2 funding. The 
establishment of the Race Equality Hub would be part of that. 

 A Consultancy review of recruitment process would be undertaken as part of the 
HR Positive Action Work which would include the delivery of five staff focus 
groups. 

 The Nia Black Business Hub had reported that a growing number of 
beneficiaries had accessed business support services and were advancing 
funding sustainability plans to continue their work. A draft report for consultation 
would be produced and an engagement event would be held.  

 The Growth Platform had announced new members - Gloria Hyatt and Ben Osu 
who would be leading the work of that group.  

 Winners had been announced for the design competition to transform the 
International Slavery Museum entrance and Canning Dock area. Some 
innovative plans and designs had been drawn up to take forward.  

 
Lorna Rogers updated on progress with the Race Equality Hub which should provide 
a bold, ambitious, and innovative approach to how race inequality should be 
addressed. It was proposed to bring together a range of services in a co-ordinated 
way with strategic alignment and sustainability. The focus would be on employment 
and business and skills development in order to co-design solutions. The Equality 
Hub would deliver interventions around leadership development, recruitment, 
business advice, mentoring, and coaching and would impact across all age ranges. It 
was proposed to set up a ‘Development Board’ in Phase 1 to look at the best ways to 
deliver these interventions and lead on the co-design process and approach.  
 
Lorna Rogers advised that ‘The World Reimagined’ National Project had been 
launched and the event would run from August -  October 2022. It would consist of 
globe sculptures, designed by artists, schools and community organisations and 
would be installed across the City Region to provide a trail. It would be an opportunity 
to tell Liverpool’s story in terms of the historical transatlantic slave trade and its 

Page 9



impact. Work was being undertaken in conjunction with ‘Culture Liverpool’ to facilitate 
the programme.   
 
In relation to the Learning and Development collaboration, Lorna Rogers informed 
the Committee that work was being undertaken with Local Authorities on racial 
literacy across workforces. The idea was to provide an innovative training experience 
to understand race equality, what the implications were and how to work within roles 
to help with the process. Procurement work was underway to appoint a supplier to 
design the programme and training roll-out.  
 
Work was also ongoing in relation to inclusive recruitment in order to help 
marginalised communities understand the opportunities available to them with in the 
Combined Authority. It was proposed to expand vacancy advertisement and further 
engage with community groups to advertise opportunities as well as recent 
engagement had resulted in a small increase in applications received. 
 
Lorna Rogers concluded her presentation and summarised the areas of focus over 
the next few months.   
 
Councillor Pat Moloney felt he had got a grasp on what the Race Equality Hub 
targets were and how they would be achieved but he did not really understand what it 
was. It talked about a socially trading legal entity but he did not know what that was 
either. Was it a resource centre, drop-in centre, a meeting place, think tank or 
community interest company?  
 
Lorna Rogers advised that the Development Board would determine that, but it was 
likely to be a community interest company. The socially trading element would be to 
help sustainability and generate income, but it definitely needed to be an 
independent organisation. The Development Board would shape what the actual 
entity was.  The Hub was envisaged to be a physical space where people could 
collaborate, receive services and develop other solutions.   
 
Councillor Edna Finneran advised the Committee that a Race Equality policy would 
be considered for adoption by Knowsley Council at its Full Council meeting in 
December 2021 and every staff member would receive Race Equality training. She 
asked if that was happening across the City Region? 
 
Lorna Rogers explained that the training was being undertaken collectively on the 
programme.  All Local Authorities had signed up to benefit from that training, but 
different Local Authorities were approaching it in different ways. Three areas had 
been taken forward and a ‘Declaration of Intent’ had been completed which all would 
benefit from. 
 
Councillor David Burgess-Joyce referred to the table of figures at paragraph 10.1 of 
the report that amounted to £3.362m. He felt that this was a similar experience to that 
on the Police Committee, where a lot of public money had been spent which was not 
able to be tangibly measured. Some items were actually jobs which would not be 
payable for just one year. He referred to paragraph 12.2 of the report and asked how 
the race equality programme would develop a monitoring and evaluation system to 
track progress against the programme objectives. He questioned how it was possible 
to put in a bid for something if it was not known how to monitor what it was in the first 
place.  He was also concerned about the 625 businesses mentioned and what was 
the sustainability of this investment with no tangibility.  
 

Page 10



Lorna Rogers stated that reporting on progress was over a five-year period. The 
funding detailed in table 10.1 was some of the activities going towards delivery on 
those targets but some would be allocated on activity to establish a new entity with 
forecast funding for two years.  The sustainability plan would be developed as part of 
that business plan and this would be overseen by the Development Board. 
Therefore, targets had been set in advance of developing the business plan. 
 
Councillor David Burgess-Joyce felt that there was a need to keep a very close eye 
on this programme.  
 

RESOLVED - That: 
 
(i) the progress made on the Liverpool City Region Race Equality 

programme be noted and endorsed and the report be accepted; 
 
(ii) progress be reviewed against targets biannually and scrutiny, advice, and 

challenge be offered to the project delivery team; and  
 
(iii) the Committee continue to act as champions for the Race Equality 

Programme and be an advocate for change within their respective 
organisations and influence other partners and stakeholders to do the 
same. 

 
19. DEVELOPING THE LIVERPOOL CITY REGION COMBINED AUTHORITY 

EQUALITY STRATEGY  
 
The Overview and Scrutiny Committee considered a report of the Executive Director 
for Corporate Development and Delivery which set out the process being followed to 
develop the Liverpool City Region Combined Authority’s (LCRCA) Equality Strategy 
and provided initial feedback from the public engagement that had already been 
undertaken to inform the objectives.  
 
 
Olly Martins, Fairness and Social Inclusion Policy Lead advised that the report was 
being submitted at this early stage of the process in order to afford Members of the 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee the opportunity to contribute to the development of 
the Combined Authority’s Equality Objectives. 
 
Olly Martins explained that the Authority had looked at Race Equality and a similar 
exercise was undertaken for the overall equality objectives. It was felt to be important 
to engage the Overview & Scrutiny Committee at an early stage. The advantages of 
engagement with the Committee was it brought together Members of each 
constituent part of the City Region who were connected with their communities 
across the City Region but also had a knowledge of the Combined Authority’s role 
which was important to help shape the equality objectives.  
 
Olly Martins showed a diagram of the Corporate Plan priorities demonstrating that 
equality was at the core of the Organisation. It was a commitment from the Metro 
Mayor and the Chief Executive to develop an overall equality scheme as well as 
being included within the Corporate Plan.  The Combined Authority was committed to 
equality as well as having regard to its legal duty to comply under the Equality Act 
2010.  
 
Olly Martins referred to the draft vision and objectives which set the overall 
framework for the equality scheme and sought feedback from Members of the 

Page 11



Committee. The structure mirrored the structure included within the ‘Declaration of 
Intent’ on Race Equality. It would look at Combined Authority’s role as an employer, 
commissioner and as a civic leader. It would then describe the ambitions, actions and 
achievements under each of the headings. At this stage the focus was on ambitions. 
Once those had been taken to the January 2022 Combined Authority meeting, more 
detailed actions and achievements would then be developed.  
 
Olly Martins explained that once the strategic objectives had been developed some 
public engagement and feedback would be undertaken. Direct engagement had also 
been commissioned in relation to disability, using focus groups. This was quite an 
ambitious timetable to publish the strategic objectives by January 2022 and therefore 
feedback was welcomed. A further report would be brought back to the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee after it had been considered at the January Combined Authority 
meeting.  
 
Trudy Bedford, Statutory Scrutiny Officer asked if there would be any benefit in 
undertaking a rapid review of Members ahead of the Strategy going to the Combined 
Authority in January 2022 with wider Overview and Scrutiny involvement over the 
next 12 months. Olly Martins stated that this was the opportunity for Members to feed 
into the strategic objective stage but following that he would welcome maximum 
Member engagement in the more detailed work on how the strategy was developed.  
 
Councillor John Abbott referred to paragraph 3.5 and stated that it was a pleasure to 
see that socio-economic status would be included. He asked if the focus would be on 
the exclusion of working class people from things like commerce and politics? In 
paragraph 3.1.1 of the report, socio-economic status it highlighted positive action and 
encouraged diverse applicants for jobs. Again the excluded groups were from poor 
working-class backgrounds and he asked what was the positive action being taken? 
 
Councillor Pat Moloney commented that section 3.9 included a doughnut chart which 
was perfect as each segment was labelled and was clear to see. However, on the 
next page the chart was not so clear if reading from a black and white print out and 
he therefore asked if the layout in the chart in 3.9 could be used throughout.  Olly 
Martins agreed to take the comment on board. 
 
Olly Martins responded to Councillor Abbott’s question and indicated that a Social 
Mobility Commission had set out recommendations and there was a methodology 
around the interventions that could be made to support social mobility. One of the 
most important initial steps was to begin to capture data on people so we that could 
be looked that. The Social Mobility Commission advocated it and that data was not 
often captured as it was not a requirement of the Equality Act 2010. 
 

RESOLVED - That: 
 
(i) the Committee provide comments and feedback on the process, the draft 

vision, and initial engagement feedback detailed in the report; and  
 

(ii) it be noted that a further report would be submitted to the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee in due course in relation to the more detailed action 
plan. 

 

Page 12



20. UPDATE ON THE AIR QUALITY ACTION PLAN AND ITS INTEGRATION 
INTO THE CLIMATE ACTION PLAN  

 
The Overview and Scrutiny Committee considered a report of the Executive Director 
for Policy, Strategy and Government Relations which provided an update on 
progress since the publication of the Air Quality Task Force’s Air Quality Action Plan 
report in December 2020. 
 
Councillor Liam Robinson, Portfolio Holder for Transport and Air Quality presented 
an overview of the work of the Air Quality Task and Finish Group in response to the 
issue of the air quality crisis that the City Region faced cross-boundaries. Whilst the 
air quality crisis was different to the climate emergency it was inextricably linked.  
 
Councillor Robinson explained in detail, the work undertaken by the Task and Finish 
Group as part of the review including:- 
 

 context, processes and examples of actions undertaken; 

 Air quality, management across the City Region and specific Local Authority 
Plans; 

 Air quality monitoring and the location of the monitoring stations; 

 Factors that caused poor air quality; 
 
Councillor Robinson stated that the Air Quality Task Force had published a report in 
December 2020 with recommendations to be addressed at a Combined Authority, 
Local Authority and partner level. There were also areas for national Government 
and Government agencies which needed to be addressed.  
 
Councillor Robinson stressed that air quality should not be seen as a stand-alone 
issue. It needed to be integrated into all of the work of the Combined Authority. The 
recommendations of the Air Quality action plan had been included in the Combined 
Authority’s Climate Partnership Plan and work was currently under way to look 
through each of the different thematic areas and how the issues could be addressed.  
It was noted that work of the Task Group had been reviewed in light of Covid as 
people had stopped travelling which had had a positive impact on air quality in the 
region.  
 
Councillor Liam Robinson presented a number of dashboards and charts which 
indicated that the majority of the actions included in the Climate Action Plan had 
commenced. A few had been completed and whilst a number had been delayed,  
overall good progress had been made. 
 
He highlighted some examples of work which was being undertaken. The Combined 
Authority was working closely with each of the six Local Authorities and had mapped 
out expertise sat across the six areas and how it could be utilised across the City 
Region. The Combined Authority was keeping in contact with Liverpool City Council 
and the work they were doing on their ‘Clean Air Plan’ and similarly, the work that 
Sefton Council were doing on the potential for air quality zones.   
 
Councillor Robinson referred to important work being undertaken with the University 
of Liverpool and Alder Hey Hospital examining the correlation between air quality and 
respiratory problems in young children. He advised that when particulate matter hung 
in the air, it was often at pram height so it was important to carry out that detailed 
research.  
 

Page 13



Councillor Robinson also stressed that active travel was key in improving air quality. 
As well as the infrastructure needed to give people information on how to get around 
the region and information as to how much money and carbon and other emissions 
they could reduce, work was also being undertaken with Liverpool John Moores 
University on a smart journey mobile app.   
 
Work was ongoing in relation to community engagement and public information 
campaigns such as best vehicle for short journeys, i.e. feet or bike with marketing on 
petrol pumps to show that there were better alternatives to car use.  
 
In relation to the E-scooter pilot in the Liverpool City Council area, there had been 
some issues, but overall, it had been the most successful pilot in the Country in terms 
of usage and had regularly featured in the top three across the whole of Europe. It 
was known from the work with Liverpool City Council that 42% of journeys had 
replaced short car journeys. It was a different method of getting around but it had 
reduced car use.  
 
Councillor Robinson concluded and stated that, in terms of next steps, the Climate 
Strategy was scheduled to be considered by the Combined Authority shortly. He was 
also conscious of the upcoming Environment Bill and how it might be necessary to 
reflect that within the climate plans for the City Region. He stressed that this was a 
vital issue and he hoped that this was the right forum to scrutinise this in detail going 
forward.  
 
Councillor Trisha Long referred to the monitoring of air quality and asked if this was 
equitably monitored in all Local Authorities so that all the relevant decisions to make 
improvements to be air quality would be fair across the City Region?  
 
Councillor Liam Robinson stated that it was the intention and each Local Authority 
had been doing great work but slightly different to each other. To get a truly accurate 
picture it was necessary to have accurate facts. When real time information was 
publicly available then some of that would be shocking but it was important that the 
public were fully aware  to enable them to make informed choices.  
 
Huw Jenkins, Lead Officer for Transport Policy explained that improving data was a 
fundamental recommendation of the report in order to understand the scale of the 
problem. A lot of those sensors covered large areas and it wasn’t possible to obtain 
granular data on school streets, for example which was why there was now a 
commitment to roll-out 37 high-tech smart air quality monitors through Combined 
Authority funding in order to measure air quality in real time. It would provide stark 
information and allow decision makers to take action in response and provide 
accurate information. 
 

RESOLVED - That: 
 
(i) the contents of the report be noted; 
 
(ii) the need for collective action on air quality by all partners and 

communities across the Liverpool City Region, be recognised and 
supported;  

 
(iii) the considerable progress that had been made in a number of key areas 

of the Action Plan and its incorporation into the Climate Action Plan, 
along with robust monitoring activities, be recognised; and 

 

Page 14



(iv) the Combined Authority’s proposals to develop a Year 2-5 Climate Action 
Plan that fitted within the 2040 Pathway to net zero carbon, be supported. 

 
21. WORK PROGRAMME 2021/22  
 
The Overview and Scrutiny Committee considered a verbal update from Trudy 
Bedford, Statutory Scrutiny Officer in relation to the development of the work 
programme for 2021/22 and the outcome of the recent consultation with Committee 
members in relation to meeting arrangements. 
 
The Chair, Councillor Steve Radford thanked everyone for taking part in the 
consultation and was pleased that the meeting was quorate.  
 
Trudy Bedford confirmed that a questionnaire had been sent out to seek views on 
days, times and venues for meetings. Essentially it had been found that the afternoon 
was best with 45% stating they would prefer an afternoon session. However, a small 
number of Members stated a preference for evening meetings, so it was proposed 
that the January meeting should be held at 6pm on a trial basis, if Members were 
agreeable? Members were also asked about holding site visits which had been a 
suggestion by the Chair of the Committee. Again, Members seemed to be supportive 
of that but it was recognised that Members preferred afternoon meetings so it was 
proposed that the afternoon would be best for site visits and for these to be held in 
relation to work of the task and finish groups, if required.   With regard to venue, the 
feedback was that meetings should remain at Mann Island as it was good for 
transport links around the City Region. 
 
Trudy Bedford asked the Committee if the pilot for the January meeting at 6.00pm 
could be agreed and that the time could be reviewed again following that meeting. It 
was proposed that all Committee meetings be held at Mann Island and site visits 
could be included in the work programme to take place in the afternoon. 
 

RESOLVED - That: 
 
(i) the Work Programme for 2021/22 be noted; 
 
(ii) the January meeting of the Committee be held at 6.00pm and timings for 

future meetings be reviewed following that meeting; and 
 

(iii) site visits be incorporated in the work programme as part of task and 
finish groups, if required and that they be held in the afternoon. 

 
22. ANY OTHER BUSINESS WHICH THE CHAIRPERSON DEEMS TO BE OF 

AN URGENT NATURE  
 
 There were no items of urgent business to be considered.  
 
 
Minutes 12 to 22 received as a correct record on the 20 day of January 2022. 
 
 
 

 

Chair of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
 

(The meeting closed at 3.57 pm) 

Page 15



 
 

Page 16



LIVERPOOL CITY REGION COMBINED AUTHORITY 
 
 
To:      The Chair and Members of the Overview and Scrutiny 
     Committee  
 
Meeting:     19 January 2022 
 
Authority/Authorities Affected:  All 
 
EXEMPT/CONFIDENTIAL ITEM: No 
 
 
REPORT OF THE PORTFOLIO HOLDER FOR POLICY, REFORM AND RESOURCES 

AND THE EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR OF CORPORATE SERVICES  
 

COMBINED AUTHORITY BUDGET REPORT 2022/23 
 

 
1. PURPOSE OF REPORT 
 
1.1 This report provides the Members of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee with an 

opportunity to consider the 2022/23 budget for the Liverpool City Region Combined 
Authority. 

 
1.2 On 21 January 2022 the Combined Authority will consider the budget and as part of 

this, will receive and consider any comments on the Budget from this Committee. 
 
 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
2.1 It is recommended that the Overview and Scrutiny Committee: 
 

(a) Note the contents of the report; and 
(b) Consider the proposals contained within the appendices and provide any 

comments to the Liverpool City Region Combined Authority which can be 
considered as part of the formal approval of the Budget for 2022/23 

 
 
3. BACKGROUND 
 
3.1 The Combined Authority is required to approve a legal balanced budget by 8 

February each year.  A proposed Mayoral revenue and capital budget for the 
Mayoral Combined Authority has been drafted in consultation with the Mayor, with 
input from Directors, Assistant Directors and Heads of Service as budget holders.  

 
3.2 There has been engagement with the constituent Local Authority Leaders and Chief 

Executives throughout the process to ensure that the budget as presented is 
affordable, both from a Combined Authority perspective but also to the constituent 
local authorities who pay the Transport Levy and raise the Mayoral Precept on 
behalf of the Mayor.  A copy of the budget report is attached at Appendix One. 

 

Page 17

Agenda Item 4



 
4. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 
 
4.1 Financial 
 

The appended report provides details the proposed revenue and capital budget for 
the Combined Authority for 2022/23. The budget as proposed provides a balanced 
revenue budget and affordable capital plans. 

 
4.2 Human Resources 

 
None arising directly as a consequence of this report. 

 
4.3 Physical Assets 

 
None arising directly as a consequence of this report. 
 

4.4 Information Technology 
 

None arising directly as a consequence of this report. 
 
 

5. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 
 

None arising directly as a consequence of this report. 
 
 
6.  RISKS AND MITIGATION 
 
 The Combined Authority has a legal duty to set a balanced budget in accordance 

with statutory deadlines. Failure to set a balanced budget by 8 February would fail 
to meet this requirement. The Combined Authority has sought to mitigate the risk of 
this position not occurring through engagement with constituent authorities and 
Scrutiny in the setting of the budget to ensure the budget as presented to the 
Combined Authority on 21 January is approved. 

 
 
7.  EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY IMPLICATIONS 
 
 None arising directly as a consequence of this report. 

 
 

8. PRIVACY IMPLICATIONS 
 

 None arising directly as a consequence of this report.  
 
 
9.  COMMUNICATION ISSUES 
 
 None arising directly as a consequence of this report.  
  

Page 18



 
 
10.  CONCLUSION 
 
 The proposed budget report for 2022/23 is provided to the Members of the 

Committee for their scrutiny and comments. 
 
 
 
 

JOHN FOGARTY 
Executive Director of Corporate Services 

 
 
 
Contact Officer(s): 
Sarah Johnston, Assistant Director of Finance, 0151 330 1015 
 
Appendices: 
Appendix One – Combined Authority Budget Report 2022/23 
 
Background Documents:  
None 
 
 
 

Page 19



This page is intentionally left blank



LIVERPOOL CITY REGION COMBINED AUTHORITY 
  
 

To:   The Chair and Members of the Combined Authority 
  
Meeting:     21 January 2022 
 
Authorities Affected:    All 
 
EXEMPT/CONFIDENTIAL ITEM:  No 
 
Key Decision    Yes 
 
 

REPORT OF THE EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR CORPORATE SERVICES AND THE 
PORTFOLIO HOLDER FOR POLICY, REFORM AND RESOURCES 

 
MAYORAL COMBINED AUTHORITY BUDGET SETTING REPORT 2022/23 

 
 
1. PURPOSE OF THE REPORT 
 
1.1 This report seeks approval for the Liverpool City Region Mayoral Combined 

Authority budget for 2022/23.  In establishing its budget, the Combined Authority 
needs to make a series of key decisions regarding its income and how it uses this 
income. 

 
1.2 The Combined Authorities (Finance) Order 2017 established financial arrangements 

in respect of Mayoral Combined Authorities that need to be reflected in the 2022/23 
budget.  These include the requirement to specifically determine the costs of the 
Combined Authority Mayor.  

 

1.3 The Order also requires the Combined Authority Mayor to notify the Combined 
Authority of the Metro Mayor’s draft budget before 1st February 2022, which was 
complied with in the issuing of this report and provides a statutory timescale for the 
Combined Authority to consider and, where appropriate, to recommend 
amendments to the Metro Mayor before 8th February 2022. 

 
This provision only applies to the Mayoral Cost element of the Combined Authority’s 
budget for 2022/23, and specifically those areas where the Mayoral Combined 
Authority is funded through the Mayoral precept. 

 
1.4 The Combined Authority must also set a budget for its other costs in 2022/23.  This 

includes transport activity funded through the Transport Levy mechanism and the 
operation and maintenance of the Mersey Tunnels estate. 

 
1.5 Members will be aware that the Combined Authority has a statutory duty to agree a 

Transport Levy for 2022/23 before 14th February 2022.   
 
1.6 The Combined Authority must also set the schedule of tolls applicable to the Mersey 

Tunnel for 2022/23.  This tolls decision is subject to a separate report that was 
considered by the Transport Committee at its meeting of the 13th January 2022.  

Page 21



Their recommendation is incorporated into the Combined Authority budget for 
2022/23. 

 
1.7 In funding its transport activities, the Combined Authority also needs to establish a 

differential levy in respect of the Combined Authority’s transport powers in Halton.  It 
is important to note, however that there are no changes to the delivery of transport 
services in Halton implied within this report. 

 
1.8 The purpose of this report is to bring together these key decisions and present 

detail of the budget requirement for the Authority for 2022/23, together with the 
operational grants that will be payable to Merseytravel and Halton for the delivery of 
the Combined Authority’s transport activities throughout the City Region. 
 

 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
  
2.1 The Liverpool City Region Combined Authority is recommended to: - 

 
(a) note this report; 
(b) agree the Mayoral Budget as presented at Table 2 of this report; 
(c) agree to freeze the Mayoral precept at its 2021/22 level equivalent to £19 per 

year for a Band D property and £12.67 per year for a Band A property; 
(d) approve the composite Combined Authority budget for 2022/23 as presented at 

Table 3; 
(e) approve a 2% increase in the Transport Levy to £99.352m for 2022/23; 
(f) approve the payment of an operational grant of £95.827m to Merseytravel to 

cover its operational costs and the revenue project costs associated with the 
Rolling Stock project as detailed at paragraph 5.1.2; 

(g) approve the delegation to Merseytravel to develop and implement the proposed 
concession administration charge for certain concessionary passes as detailed 
at paragraph 5.3.6; 

(h) note the level of ‘authorised tolls’ for the Mersey Tunnels as determined in the 
County of Merseyside Act 1980 (as amended by the Mersey Tunnels Act 2004) 
with details on calculation methods explained in section 5 of this report; 

(i) accept the recommendation of the Transport Committee and implement a 
schedule of Tunnel Tolls as contained in Table 6 of this report; 

(j) approve the discounts and concessions as detailed at paragraphs 5.4.2 and 
5.4.3; 

(k) approve the request for an operational grant of £21.892m in respect of the 
operation of Mersey Tunnels for 2022/23 as detailed at paragraph 5.1.2; 

(l) approve the capital programme as detailed in Table 7 and Appendix Three; 
(m)approve a grant of £140.04m to Merseytravel to support the delivery of capital 

schemes; 
(n) recognise the differential levy payable by Halton as £3.235m;  
(o) agree a corresponding grant from the Combined Authority to Halton of £3.235m 

in order that Halton can continue to provide transport services in Halton on 
behalf of the Combined Authority in 2022/23; 

(p) approve the Treasury Management Strategy 2022/23 incorporating the Minimum 
Revenue Provision and associated Treasury Limits and Prudential Indicators as 
detailed at Appendix Four; and 

(q) approve the Capital Strategy as detailed at Appendix Five. 
 

  

Page 22



3. BACKGROUND  
 
3.1 The Mayoral budget reflects the priorities of the City Region Metro Mayor and is 

focussed on securing the City Region’s economic recovery by prioritising 
investment in infrastructure, skills and environment. 

 
3.2 The Combined Authority has been at the forefront of responding to the challenges 

of the Covid pandemic while at the same time building the foundations for the City 
Regions future economic recovery and prosperity.  Despite the huge challenges the 
effects of the pandemic will place on the Authority’s budgets in the medium term, 
the Metro Mayor is determined that the Combined Authority should play a central 
role in supporting the City Region’s future economic recovery; ensuring that it is a 
green recovery and this budget supports the City Region’s net zero carbon 
ambitions.  

 
3.3 The Combined Authority’s financial strategy is to ensure that over the medium term 

it is able to achieve financial sustainability, make sure value for money is at the 
heart of all its activities.  The budget setting process has sought to ensure that there 
is an alignment of resources with the key priorities as detailed in the Authority’s 
Corporate Plan whilst maintaining a strong focus on developing a sustainable and 
balanced budget.   

 
3.4 The budget as set for 2022/23 covers the operational costs associated with the 

group position: that is the costs associated with the operation of a Mayoral 
Combined Authority and those that relate to powers and responsibilities held by the 
Combined Authority prior to the establishment of the City Region Mayoral powers.  
These principally relate to transport powers.  In respect of transport powers, this 
budget considers the Transport Levy payable by each of the constituent local 
authorities within the city region and the schedule of tolls in respect of the Mersey 
Tunnels for 2022/23. 

 
3.5 The Combined Authority has delegated detailed financial monitoring with respect to 

transport activities to the Transport Committee. However it is important for the 
Combined Authority to oversee all aspects of the budget and therefore for full 
visibility the transport budgets are also detailed as part of this report.  The Transport 
Committee considered the detailed transport budget for Merseytravel at its meeting 
on 13th January 2022 and a verbal update on the outcome of these discussions will 
be provided. 

 
 
4. MAYORAL COSTS AND BUDGET 2022/23 
 
4.1  The Liverpool City Region Mayoral Combined Authority has been established in law 

as a major precepting authority in order that the costs associated with exercising its 
functions can be funded in an appropriate manner. 

 
4.2 Having due regard to the principles of value for money the Metro Mayor has sought 

to minimise the costs associated with these functions and has established a 
structure that includes only those functions directly associated with delivering the 
maximum benefit for the City Region. 

 

Page 23



4.3 The Metro Mayor has sought to provide resources to further priorities in digital 
connectivity, tidal energy, bus reform and other areas associated with the devolution 
agreement which will be of significant and long-term benefit to the City Region. 

 
4.4 The Metro Mayor recognises the financial challenges facing households across the 

City Region as a result of the Covid pandemic and does not want to add to this 
burden unnecessarily. 

 
4.5 To help address these pressures it is proposed to freeze the precept for 2022/23 at 

the levels approved in 2021/22.  This means that the precept for a Band D property 
in 2022/23 will remain at the level of £19.00 and £12.67 for Band A. 

 
4.6 The table below confirms the precept that will be payable for each band of property 

across the City Region.  
 

Table 1 Mayoral Precept by Council Tax Band 2022/23 
 

Band Charge £ 

Band A 12.67 

Band B  14.78 

Band C  16.89 

Band D  19.00 

Band E  23.22 

Band F  27.44 

Band G 31.67 

Band H  38.00 

 
4.7 Additional responsibilities and commitments arising from the devolution deal 

continue to increase and wherever possible, the Metro Mayor is using other sources 
of funding to shield households from corresponding increases in taxation. 

 

4.8 The Combined Authority (Finance) Order 2017 requires the Metro Mayor to 
specifically identify the budget for costs directly related to the exercise of Mayoral 
function in 2022/23.  These are presented in Table 2 below. 

 
4.9 It should be noted that Table 2 includes only those costs associated with the 

Mayoral budget for 2022/23 and is provided for the purposes of transparency.  In 
reality, these costs form only a proportion of overall Combined Authority expenditure 
which is shown in its general budget in Table 3. 

  

Page 24



Table 2 Liverpool City Region Combined Authority Mayoral Budget 2022/23 
 

 2022/23 
Proposed 

Budget  
£’000 

Bus Reform 2,000 

Tidal Power 1,498 

Other Mayoral Priorities 150 

Digital 286 

Mayoral Programme Delivery 746 

Mayoral and Corporate Management Costs 679 

Investment and Delivery 573 

Policy Strategy and Government Relations 944 

Corporate Services 591 

Corporate Development and Delivery 173 

Total Expenditure 7,640 

Funded by:  

Mayoral Precept (7,640) 

Net Budget Requirement 0 

 
  
5. LCR COMBINED AUTHORITY REVENUE BUDGET 2022/23 
 
5.1 Overview 
 
5.1.1 The table below provides a comprehensive group revenue budget for 2022/23 

which includes all the functions of the Combined Authority and not just those 
associated with the exercise of Mayoral powers.  The table details spend by 
directorate.  Appendix One provides a more grdetailed breakdown of the budget by 
service areas.   

  

Page 25



Table 3 Combined Authority Revenue Budget 2022/23  
 

 2022/23 
Proposed 

Budget  
£’000 

Place Directorate 110,939 

Investment and Delivery Directorate 11,758 

Policy, Strategy and Government Relations Directorate 6,050 

Corporate Services Directorate 5,911 

Corporate Development and Delivery Directorate 10,102 

Chief Executive 267 

Mayoral Priority Budget 2,150 

Corporate Costs 1,599 

Halton Differential Levy 3,235 

Revenue Grants 40,364 

Net Debt Servicing Costs 13,194 

Total Expenditure 205,569 

Funded by:  

Transport Levy (99,352) 

Tunnel Tolls (39,700) 

Halton Differential Levy (3,235) 

Mayoral Precept (7,640) 

Gain Share Revenue (17,191) 

Mayoral Capacity Grant (1,000) 

European Grants (21,064) 

CRSTS Capacity Top Slice (8,127) 

MHCLG Sustainable Warmth Grants (5,109) 

ITCF Pre Development Funding (1,000) 

Use of Reserves (2,151) 

Total Income (205,569) 

Net Budget Requirement 0 

 
5.1.2 The table above details the overall revenue budget at a group level, which includes 

the Merseytravel budgets.  The budget for Merseytravel service, which has been 
considered at the Transport Committee on 13 January 2022, includes the Mersey 
Tunnels and a share of corporate support services is £117.719m; £95.827m for 
general transport services and Rolling Stock and £21.892m for Tunnels operations 
grant.  As a separate statutory body funded by the Combined Authority, it is 
recommended that grants totalling £117.719m are paid to Merseytravel.  A 
breakdown of the Merseytravel budget is included at Appendix Two. 

 
5. 2 External Grant Funded Revenue Programme 2022/23 
 
5.2.1 In addition to the main revenue budget, Combined Authority is supporting an 

extensive programme of investment across the City Region through its various 
external grants, which includes the Strategic Investment Fund.  As detailed above at 
table 3, the value of these projected payments for 2022/23 is £40.36m. 

 
5.2.2 This investment brings together funding from a number of sources to allow a more 

strategic and coherent approach to investment in economic growth.  While the 

Page 26



majority of funding is earmarked for capital schemes, a proportion is available to 
fund revenue priorities. 

 
5.2.3 The Combined Authority is proposing a significant investment in capacity to 

maximise the benefit of existing funding streams and to ensure that the City Region 
is well-placed to benefit from future funding opportunities.  This investment includes 
resources for the management of the current investment portfolio but also includes 
a provision for the development of a pipeline of schemes in anticipation of future 
funding opportunities. 

 
5.2.4 Revenue funding is used to support delivery of specific projects and facilitate 

development of schemes bringing them to a shovel ready state.  Schemes are 
delivered internally and through external delivery partners.  The table below 
provides a breakdown of the schemes currently being delivered.  

 
Table 4 External Grant Funded Revenue Schemes  

 

 Projected 
Spend to 

31/03/2022 
£’000 

Projected 
Spend 

2022/23 
£’000 

Future 
Years 
Spend 
£’000 

Total 
Scheme 

Cost 
£’000 

Agent Academy 393 84 108 585 

Civic Data Trust 707 2,683 1,889 5,279 

Future Innovation Fund 264 207 0 471 

Createch Scale Up 2,612 849 0 3,461 

Pre Development Fund 3,706 2,434 0 6,140 

Growing Businesses 183 1,390 0 1,573 

Inward Investment Scheme 492 616 0 1,108 

Music Fund 1,122 793 0 1,915 

Peepl Network Peloton 87 10 0 97 

Port City Liverpool 250 326 100 676 

Shakespeare Playhouse 209 295 0 504 

Finance Hub 120 120 360 600 

Kindred 186 125 250 561 

Ways to Work 7,501 9,685 0 17,186 

Positive Inclusion Programme 1,030 1,124 0 2,152 

ERDF Business Support 997 995 0 1,992 

New Markets 2 745 766 0 1,511 

Place Marketing 280 230 0 510 

SUD 3,696 4,980 0 8,676 

High Growth 0 2,113 0 2,113 

Community Renewal Fund 1,690 987 0 2,677 

Careers and Enterprise 463 156 0 619 

Skills and Apprenticeship Brokers 1,886 2,074 0 3,900 

Households into Work 698 702 0 1,400 

International Festival of Business 
2020 

2,882 118 0 3,000 

Transport Pre Development 0 1,000 0 1,000 

North West Energy Hub 833 833 0 1,666 

Sustainable Warmth 0 4,276 0 4,276 

Community Renewal 0 28 0 28 

Page 27



Race Equality 567 365 0 937 

Total Projected Expenditure 33,599 40,364 2,707 76,670 

 
5.3 TRANSPORT  
 
5.3.1 The Combined Authority is the transport authority for the Liverpool City Region.  Its 

transport responsibilities are discharged by Merseytravel and by Halton Council 
within the boundaries of Halton. 

 
5.3.2 Transport responsibilities are funded through the Transport Levy.  The Transport 

Levy has reduced significantly in recent years and this has benefited those local 
authorities that fund the levy through Council Tax. 

 
5.3.3 A flat cash Levy was approved for 2021/22 however higher inflation and 

demographic pressures mean that this position is not sustainable going forward and 
therefore a 2% increase to the Levy, from £97.4m to £99.35m is proposed.  Should 
this proposal be agreed, the distribution of the Levy will be as detailed in the table 
below. 

 

Table 5 Transport Levy by Authority 
  

 Transport Levy 
2021/22 
£’000 

Transport Levy 
2022/23 
£’000 

Knowsley 
Liverpool 
Sefton 
St Helens 
Wirral 
 
Total 

10,279 
33,924 
18,828 
12,302 
22,071 

 
97,404 

10,563 
34,669 
19,111 
12,545 
22,464 

 
99,352 

 
 Note: Halton Council equivalent transport differential levy is £3.24m for 2022/23 
 
5.3.4 The Transport Levy is utilised to support the operational transport related activities 

of the Combined Authority and to support the delivery of key transport priorities 
within the Corporate Plan including: 

 
i. the delivery of a London style transport plan that integrates the walking, 

cycling, buss, train and ferry network; 
ii  progress the programme for bus reform publishing a Bus Services 

Improvement Plan and identifying the preferred option for bus;  
iii. developing a local transport plan that sets out how transport planning will 

deliver the vision for the City Region and address long term strategic 
challenges; 

 iv. delivering a Merseyrail for All programme, with the completion of a minimum 
of one new station development; 

 v. an upgrade to the smart ticketing system implementing a transition to a tap in 
tap out, contactless system with a daily cap; 

 vi. investigating options to transition towards further devolution of transport 
infrastructure, working with DfT, Merseyrail and Network Rail, including 

Page 28



commissioning a full review of options for the future operation of the network 
post 2028; and 

 vii. deliver an ambitious programme of investment in transport infrastructure 
through the City Region Sustainable Transport Settlement.  

 
5.3.5 As the transport delivery arm of the Combined Authority, grants will be paid by the 

Combined Authority to Merseytravel to support the delivery of these priorities, which 
are detailed in section 6. 

 
5.3.6 In addition to the mandatory English National Concessionary Scheme, Merseytravel 

also operates a discretionary concessions scheme which allows all Merseyside 
local authority residents to access concessionary travel, both on bus and on rail 
from the age of 60.  Historically no charge has been levied for providing concession 
passes however with effect from 2022/23 it is proposed that an administration fee 
will be applied.  Merseytravel will be responsible for working through the 
mechanisms of this and ensuring that this is done in an equitable manner that 
protects financially vulnerable users in receipt of Universal Credit.  It is therefore 
proposed that responsibility for developing and implementing the proposed charging 
mechanism is delegated to Merseytravel Board. 

 
5.3.7 Increases in contract costs are likely to be a significant risk to transport budget in 

2022/23 and potentially beyond.  The Combined Authority will require these to be 
managed within the resources available for transport in 2022/23.  Managing cost 
pressures within budgets will require service modernisation and streamlining of 
back office processes across the transport division in 2022/23 and beyond. 

 
5.3.8 Arrangements for Halton will continue to recognise the historical differences in 

transport funding and delivery, with Halton subject to a differential transport levy of 
£3.24m which will be paid back to Halton for transport delivery within its boundaries 
on behalf of the Combined Authority. 

 
5.4 TUNNEL TOLLS 
 
5.4.1 Setting the tunnels tolls is a key requirement of the Combined Authority’s budget.  

The Transport Committee considered a detailed report on the schedule of tolls at its 
meeting of the 13th January 2022 and which proposed an increase on all tolls of 20p 
is applied.  Proposed tolls are detailed in the schedule below. 

 
Table 6 Agreed Tunnel Tolls 20223/22 
 

Vehicle 
Class 

Authorised 
Toll 22/23 
(November 
RPI) 

2022/23 
Cash Toll  

2022/23 Fast 
Tag Toll – 

LCR 
Resident* 

2022/23 Fast 
Tag Toll – 
Non LCR 
Resident 

1 £2.30 £2.00 £1.20 £2.00 

2 £4.50 £4.00 £2.80 £2.80 

3 £6.80 £6.00 £4.20 £4.20 

4 £9.10 £8.00 £5.60 £5.60 

*Liverpool City Region (LCR) resident defined as living within the electoral boundaries of Halton, 

Knowsley, Liverpool, St Helens, Sefton and Wirral 

 

Page 29



5.4.2 As part of the ongoing tunnels tolls review and tolls setting process, a number of 
discounts were during 2021/22. These were: 

 

 All emergency service liveried vehicles to be allowed free travel through the 
Mersey Tunnels; 

 Travel through the Mersey Tunnels between 10pm on 24th December and 
6.00am on 26th December each year be allowed free in recognition that 
public transport services are not available during these times. 

 A reduced Fast Tag charge for Fast Tag account holders who are resident 
within the Liverpool City Region. This discount will be available for class 1 
vehicles and applicable to just private Fast Tag accounts, not business 
account Tag holders. 

 The existing Tunnels disabled concessionary travel scheme. 

 That taxi and private hire vehicles that are class 2 vehicles are discounted to 
class 1 rates. 

 As well as the above, officers will make operational decisions on occasions 
for the safe and efficient operation of the Mersey Tunnels and collection of 
tolls. 

 
5.4.3. It is proposed that these discounts/ concessions remain in place for 2022/23. 
 
5.4.4 A proposal was also approved to explore opportunities for further tolls discounts, as 

a trial, with the aim of encouraging cross river public transport use with final 
approval of any discounts delegated to the Executive Director Place in conjunction 
with both the Combined Authority Treasurer and Monitoring Officer. 

 
5.5 ADULT EDUCATION 
 
5.5.1 The expenditure and associated grant in respect of Adult Education is contained 

within the Investment and Delivery Directorate line of the budget tables above.  As 
the service is funded in its entirety through the grant, the net impact on the net 
spend is nil.  As funding in respect of Adult Education Budget (AEB) is received in 
relation to academic years, the funding for the financial year comprises funding in 
respect of the remainder of the third years devolved funding and the start of the 
fourth year which commences August 2022.  Contracts are in place with providers 
until July 2022 with funding allocation for the period from August 2022 yet to be 
confirmed.  This will be subject to a separate report to the Combined Authority in 
due course. 

 
5.5.2 The annual funding allocation for AEB is announced in January for the academic 

year commencing August 2022 and therefore at the time of writing this report the 
actual settlement is unknown.  The Combined Authority’s share of the national pot 
remains fixed at 3.99% and therefore for the purpose of setting a budget, the 
2021/22 allocation is being used for planning purposes.  Any variations will increase 
or decrease the amount available for dispersal and will not impact on the Combined 
Authority’s overall financial position.  

 
5.5.3 Of this allocation, 2% of the grant value will be top sliced to cover management and 

administration costs with the remainder available for delivery.  In line with previous 
years, around £2.5m will be retained as a contingency to respond to in year 
demands, the remainder will be disbursed as grant funded allocations and 
contracted services on an approximate 2:1 ratio. 

Page 30



 
5.5.4 The priority areas for AEB in 2022/23 will be: 
 

 On boarding new contract for service providers as a result of re-procurement  

 Continuing to grant fund Colleges and Local Authorities to underpin the AEB offer 
to local residents 

 maintaining the allocation given to Adult and Community Learning; 

 funding the required statutory entitlements for learning including the digital 
entitlement; 

 supporting the local flexibilities introduced as a result of devolution including the 
extension of the low wage pilot; 

 continuing to explore new and innovative ways of delivering learning;  

 continue to fully fund all Level 2 to support residents seeking to retrain, and; 

 to consider the impact on devolved AEB of the Skills and Post 16 Education Bill 
as it proceeds through Parliament. 

 
5.5.5 During 2021/22, the Combined Authority had delegated to it the National Skills Fund 

Level 3 Adult Offer in response to the Government’s ‘Plan for Jobs’, to be 
contracted alongside the existing devolved AEB.  This fully funds a first level 3 
qualification for adults aged 24plus from a national list.  Delivery went live on 1 April 
2021 for the initial period to 31 July 2021.   

 
5.5.6 The Level 3 offer is being extended in April 2022 to allow more adults to access the 

funding, and it has been confirmed that this will continue to be delegated to the 
Combined Authority for the next academic year 2022/23, the allocation is expected 
to be announced alongside mainstream AEB in January 2022.  

 
 
6. CAPITAL PROGRAMME 
 

6.1 The Combined Authority has an ambitious plan of capital investment aimed at 
supporting the key priorities outlined in the Corporate Plan to achieve the vision of a 
fairer, cleaner city region where no one is left behind. 

 
6.2 The table below details the proposed capital programme and funding for 2022/23, 

incorporating all the transport schemes that will be delivered by Merseytravel on 
behalf of the Combined Authority.  A detailed breakdown of the capital programme 
is included at Appendix Three. 

  

Page 31



Table 7 Proposed Group Capital Programme 2022/23 
 

 Capital 
Programme 

£’000 

Strategic Investment Fund – externally delivered 22,512 

Strategic Investment Fund – external loans 30,000 

Strategic Investment Fund – internally delivered 4,753 

Housing - Brownfield Fund 8,000 

Housing - Sustainable Warmth 24,229 

Transport – internally delivered 140,439 

Transport – externally delivered 11,498 

Total Capital Expenditure 241,431 

Funded by:  

Government Grant (143,449) 

Borrowing (87,631) 

Revenue Contribution to Capital Outlay (7,451) 

Application of Reserves (2,900) 

Total Funding (241,431) 

Net Capital Requirement 0 

 
6.4 The internally delivered transport schemes are those that will be delivered by 

Merseytravel on behalf of the Combined Authority.  As Merseytravel receives most 
of its capital funding through the Combined Authority, either through grant, revenues 
generated from tunnel tolls or its borrowing powers, it is proposed that a capital 
grant of £140.04m is paid to Merseytravel to provide funding toward the 
programme.  The balance of funding for the Merseytravel programme of £0.4m will 
be funded through Merseytravel’s own reserves. 

 
6.5 The most significant of the internally delivered capital schemes in 2022/23 will be 

the completion of the procurement and the subsequent operation and 
implementation of the new fleet of Rolling Stock.  Changes to the original operating 
model for the new fleet will require changes to be made to the original business 
case in 2022/23 and there is a financial risk associated with this.  Whilst transitional 
funding arrangements will apply until the new fleet becomes operational, managing 
the financial risk associated with changes to the operating model remains a priority 
to ensure that the rail funding model remains sustainable within the context of the 
Authority’ s overall financial strategy. 

 
6.6 The Combined Authority has been successful in securing an indicative allocation of 

£710m from the City Region Sustainable Transport Settlement (CRSTS).  Whilst the 
indicative five-year allocation has been awarded to the Combined Authority from 
2022/23, confirmation of funding and schemes is contingent on successful 
submission of business cases through to the DfT.  The deadline for submission is 
the end of January 2022 and therefore the timescales are not coterminous with 
budget setting.  Consequently, a revised capital programme incorporating new 
schemes to be funded through CRSTS in 2022/23 will be laid before the Combined 
Authority for consideration and approval later in the year when there is more 
certainty around schemes and funding. 

 
6.7 The Treasury Management Strategy appended to this report at Appendix Four 

reflects this overall borrowing requirement. 

Page 32



 
 
7.0 FINANCIAL RISKS AND RESERVES 
 
7.1 The table below details the reserves position for Combined Authority taking account 

of the projected use of reserves in 2021/22 and 2022/23 to support both revenue 
and capital activity. 

 
Table 8 Projected Reserves Position 

 

 Balance as at 
1 April 2022 

£’000 

Utilisation in 
Year 
£’000 

Balance at 31 
March 2023 

£’000 

Capital Receipts 
General Fund Balances 
Infrastructure Reserve 
Tunnels Reserve 
Rail Reserve 
Chrysalis Reserve 
Merseytravel Reserves 
Other Reserves 

9,434 
4,020 

56,042 
5,411 

36,924 
34,972 
51,821 
14,273 

0 
0 

(2,500) 
0 

(2,151) 
0 

(400) 
0 

9,434 
4,020 

53,542 
5,411 

34,773 
34,972 
51,421 
14,273 

Total 212,897 (5,051) 207,846 

 
7.2 Whilst the quantum of reserves remains healthy, a number of the reserves 

(including the Tunnels, Chrysalis and Rails reserves) are earmarked for specific 
purposes and therefore cannot be used to support general Combined Authority 
activity.  

 
7.3 In accordance with the Authority’s financial strategy of achieving an ongoing 

financially sustainable position, the revenue and capital budgets have been set on 
the basis of reserves only being applied where there is a clear link through to 
supporting expenditure for which specific funds have been set aside.  Practically, 
this has meant that application of reserves has been limited to supporting the 
Rolling Stock’s revenue costs and a contribution towards small scale capital 
investment in asset maintenance/ health and safety works. 

 
7.4 Whilst public transport does not face the extreme challenges it did at the time of 

2021/22 budget setting, a number of risks remain, most notably around patronage 
and cost pressures.  The uncertainty around the recovery in income, allied to 
inflationary pressures means that there is a risk that if the assumptions used for 
setting key transport budgets are not achieved, there could be unmet financial 
pressures.  Specific reserves have been set aside on the Merseytravel balance 
sheet for this purpose which could be applied to mitigate any financial pressures in 
the short term while the organisation introduces longer term efficiency measures to 
balance its budget over the next five years. 

 
7.5. Of all the transport operations, the most significant and immediate risk is in the 

introduction of the new fleet of rolling stock.  The delivery of the Rolling Stock 
project has been negatively impacted by Covid 19 both in terms of delivery costs 
and ongoing revenue levels.  The original business case for new trains was 
predicated on increased patronage and thus income and reduction to the operating 
cost base.  The impact of Covid is such that there is significant uncertainty around 

Page 33



the achievability of these assumptions and therefore there is an increased risk of 
cost escalation above those currently factored into the Authority’s medium term 
financial plan. 

 
7.6 The Combined Authority has set an ambitious programme of capital delivery for 

2022/23 which is predicated on an ability to deliver across most of the year without 
the Covid restrictions that impacted on delivery over the last couple of years.  A 
number of the grants received by the Authority to support capital delivery are time 
limited and therefore there is a risk that any significant restrictions or impediments 
to delivery in 2022/23 arising as a result of Covid 19 or other economic factors could 
lead to the risk of grant clawback.  The Authority will seek to mitigate this by taking 
a whole programme approach to its capital activity and using the flexibilities 
available to over programme and utilise funding across the programme to ensure 
resource maximisation. 

 
7.7 Whilst the Authority has set a balanced budget for 2022/23 with limited recourse to 

reserves, as demonstrated in the table below, the position over the medium term 
remains challenging with a projected underlying deficit of £14.5m by 2025/26. 

 
Table 9 Combined Authority Group Medium Term Financial Projections 
 

 2022/23 
£’000 

2023/24 
£’000 

2024/25 
£’000 

2025/26 
£’000 

2026/27 
£’000 

Gross Expenditure 205,569 212,333 213,616 212,596 217,873 

Gross Income  (205,569) (203,409) (203,409) (203,409) (203,409) 

Net Budget Requirement 0 8,924 10,207 9,187 14,464 

 
7.8 To achieve the Authority’s central financial objective of financial sustainability over 

the medium term, there is clearly a need for some budget realignment.  Without 
further increases to resources, it is likely that service provision will become 
unsustainable and there will be a need to review service levels and policy decisions 
to ensure that services remain affordable.  Consequently, there will be a process 
initiated once the 2022/23 budget has been set to identify options for balancing the 
budgets from 2023/24 onwards.  To achieve the level of savings required to balance 
the budget there will need to be a strong focus on both transformation and invest to 
save.  Whilst reserves exist within the group that can be used to support invest to 
save initiatives, application will need to be judicious and supported by a robust 
business case to ensure application achieves the stated purpose. 

 
 
8. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 
 
8.1 Human Resources 
  

None as a direct result of this report. 
 
8.2 Physical Assets  

 
This report will provide resources to Merseytravel to undertake its asset 
management function in respect of the Mersey Tunnels and other Combined 
Authority assets. 
 

Page 34



 
8.3 Information Technology  

 
None as a direct result of this report. 
 

 
9. RISKS AND MITIGATION 
 
 Both risks and mitigations are contained within the body of the report. 
 
 
10. EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY IMPLICATIONS 
 
 Members are reminded that under Public Sector Equality Duty, the Combined 

Authority has a duty to eliminate discrimination, advance equality of opportunity and 
foster good relations between people who share a protected characteristic and 
those who do not. Whilst the level of detail contained within this budget does not 
lend itself to a full appraisal of the operational implications with respect to equality 
and diversity, it is possible that there could be resultant implications for people who 
share a protected characteristic, for example older disabled people.  

 
Full equality impact assessments will be undertaken as part of the transformation 
and savings programme and any negative implications for any of the protected 
characteristics will be mitigated, where possible, subject to available resources. 

 
 

11. COMMUNICATION ISSUES 
 

None as a direct result of this report. 
 
 
12. CONCLUSION 
 
12.1 The Liverpool City Region Mayoral Combined Authority is recommending a series 

of measures within its overall budget for 2022/23.  These measures each recognise 
the need to deliver the functions of the Mayoral Combined Authority while seeking 
to protect households in the City Region from additional financial burdens wherever 
possible. 

 
 

JOHN FOGARTY 
Executive Director Corporate Services  

 
Contact Officers: - 
Sarah Johnston, Assistant Director of Finance (0151 330 1015) 
Ben O’Brien, Head of Communications, Engagement and Marketing (07966 674 053) 
 
 
Appendices 
Appendix One Detailed Directorate Revenue Budget 2022/23 
Appendix Two Merseytravel Budget 2022/23 
Appendix Three Detailed Capital Programme 2022/23 

Page 35



Appendix Four LCRCA Treasury Management Strategy 2022/23 
Appendix Five LCRCA Capital Strategy 
 

Page 36



Appendix One

Place Directorate

Budget 21/22
Proposed 

Budget 22/23
Variance

Asset Management
Total Employees 6,888,648 7,403,500 514,852
Total Premises 5,085,353 5,024,353 (61,000)
Total Transport 228,655 128,655 (100,000)
Total Supplies & Services 306,116 186,264 (119,852)
Total Income (2,464,773) (2,306,773) 158,000
Total Asset Management 10,044,000 10,436,000 392,000

Budget 21/22
Proposed 

Budget 22/23
Variance

Bus Services
Total Employees 2,643,830 2,809,513 165,683
Total Premises 119,505 119,505 0
Total Transport 96,930 81,930 (15,000)
Total Supplies & Services 3,745,100 3,432,417 (312,683)
Total Third Party Payments 21,371,423 21,371,423 0
Total Income (9,305,787) (9,448,787) (143,000)
Total Bus Services 18,671,000 18,366,000 (305,000)

Budget 21/22
Proposed 

Budget 22/23
Variance

Concessionary Travel
Total Third Party Payments 58,196,717 57,196,717 (1,000,000)
Total Income (9,815,717) (9,815,717) 0
Total Concessionary Travel 48,381,000 47,381,000 (1,000,000)

Budget 21/22
Proposed 

Budget 22/23
Variance

Customer Delivery
Total Employees 4,095,542 4,520,530 424,988
Total Premises 1,908,712 1,774,712 (134,000)
Total Transport 5,639 5,639 0
Total Supplies & Services 565,671 552,671 (13,000)
Total Income (2,432,551) (2,528,551) (96,000)
Total Customer Delivery 4,143,012 4,325,000 181,988

LCRCA REVENUE BUDGETS 2022/23 BY SERVICE AREA
Directorate Costs

Page 37



Budget 21/22
Proposed 

Budget 22/23
Variance

Mersey Ferries Group
Total Employees 1,973,866 2,107,892 134,026
Total Premises 1,148,952 1,148,952 0
Total Transport 10,161 10,161 0
Total Vessels 696,751 696,751 0
Total Supplies & Services 283,477 259,451 (24,026)
Total Income (2,059,208) (3,361,208) (1,302,000)
Total Mersey Ferries Group 2,054,000 862,000 (1,192,000)

Budget 21/22
Proposed 

Budget 22/23
Variance

Policy and LTP Development
Total Employees 499,496 442,496 (57,000)
Total Transport 1,900 1,900 0
Total Supplies & Services 6,000 4,000 (2,000)
Total Income (121,396) (36,396) 85,000
Total Policy and LTP Development 386,000 412,000 26,000

Budget 21/22
Proposed 

Budget 22/23
Variance

Rail Services
Total Employees 881,193 916,505 35,312
Total Premises 262,357 254,045 (8,312)
Total Transport 8,240 2,240 (6,000)
Total Supplies & Services 836,030 815,030 (21,000)
Total Third Party Payments 106,700,110 110,998,110 4,298,000
Total Income (101,400,931) (105,782,931) (4,382,000)
Total Rail Services 7,287,000 7,203,000 (84,000)

Budget 21/22
Proposed 

Budget 22/23
Variance

Mersey Tunnels - Direct Costs
Total Employees 4,819,703 5,120,717 301,014
Total Premises 2,192,075 2,192,075 0
Total Transport 129,692 129,692 0
Total Supplies & Services 1,192,280 961,266 (231,014)
Total Third Party Payments 8,251 8,251 0
Total Other Costs 7,480,000 7,480,000 0
Total Mersey Tunnels - Direct Costs 15,822,000 15,892,000 70,000

Page 38



Budget 21/22
Proposed 

Budget 22/23
Variance

Rolling Stock
Total Employees 590,147 617,033 26,886
Total Transport 35,444 15,446 (19,998)
Total Supplies & Services 1,162,136 1,914,597 752,461
Total Other Costs 2,422,108 5,203,374 2,781,266
Total Income (2,987,835) (3,417,450) (429,615)
Total Rolling Stock 1,222,000 4,333,000 3,111,000

Budget 21/22
Proposed 

Budget 22/23
Variance

Tidal
Total Employees 661,000 709,545 48,545
Total Premises 1,000 1,000 0
Total Transport 4,000 4,000 0
Total Supplies & Services 1,480,927 783,455 (697,472)
Total Tidal 2,146,927 1,498,000 (648,927)

Budget 21/22
Proposed 

Budget 22/23
Variance

Place Directorate
Total Employees 62,000 216,000 154,000
Total Supplies & Services 0 15,000 15,000
Total Place Directorate 62,000 231,000 169,000

Corporate Delivery Directorate

Budget 21/22
Proposed 

Budget 22/23
Variance

Communications, Engagement & Marketing
Total Employees 1,038,771 1,117,395 78,624
Total Transport 850 850 0
Total Supplies & Services 745,399 704,615 (40,784)
Total Income (169,860) (169,860) 0
Total Comms, Engagement & Marketing 1,615,160 1,653,000 37,840

Page 39



Budget 21/22
Proposed 

Budget 22/23
Variance

Developing Our Organisation
Total Employees 145,236 223,000 77,764
Total Supplies & Services 469,000 469,000 0
Total Other Costs 75,098 0 (75,098)
Total Income (401,087) 0 401,087
Total Developing Our Organisation 288,247 692,000 403,753

Budget 21/22
Proposed 

Budget 22/23
Variance

Mayors Office
Total Employees 348,690 403,750 55,060
Total Transport 12,500 12,500 0
Total Supplies & Services 13,750 13,750 0
Total Mayors Office 374,940 430,000 55,060

Budget 21/22
Proposed 

Budget 22/23
Variance

Chief Execs Office
Total Employees 255,752 241,099 (14,653)
Total Transport 1,000 1,000 0
Total Supplies & Services 18,450 18,450 0
Total Income (33,549) (33,549) 0
Total Chief Execs Office 241,653 227,000 (14,653)

Budget 21/22
Proposed 

Budget 22/23
Variance

IT
Total Employees 2,334,226 2,515,610 181,384
Total Transport 6,650 6,650 0
Total Supplies & Services 2,987,518 2,732,142 (255,376)
Total Income (594,394) (138,402) 455,992
Total IT 4,734,000 5,116,000 382,000

Budget 21/22
Proposed 

Budget 22/23
Variance

People Development
Total Employees 1,617,515 1,767,652 150,137
Total Transport 4,548 4,548 0
Total Supplies & Services 52,000 52,000 0
Total Support Services Recharges 401,087 0
Total Income (334,150) (200) 333,950
Total People Development 1,741,000 1,824,000 484,087

Page 40



Budget 21/22
Proposed 

Budget 22/23
Variance

Corporate Delivery Directorate
Total Employees 151,316 157,800 6,484
Total Supplies & Services 2,200 2,200 0
Total Corporate Delivery Directorate 153,516 160,000 6,484

Corporate Services Directorate

Budget 21/22
Proposed 

Budget 22/23
Variance

Finance
Total Employees 1,536,562 1,702,968 166,406
Total Transport 500 500 0
Total Supplies & Services 121,857 41,532 (80,325)
Total Income 0 (20,000) (20,000)
Total Finance 1,658,919 1,725,000 66,081

Budget 21/22
Proposed 

Budget 22/23
Variance

Internal Audit
Total Employees 551,359 597,002 45,643
Total Premises 46,814 46,814 0
Total Transport 52,389 52,389 0
Total Supplies & Services 127,795 105,795 (22,000)
Total Internal Audit 778,357 802,000 23,643

Budget 21/22
Proposed 

Budget 22/23
Variance

Legal, Procurement & Democratic Services
Total Employees 1,422,225 1,780,400 358,175
Total Transport 2,500 2,500 0
Total Supplies & Services 298,100 208,100 (90,000)
Total Income (25,000) (25,000) 0
Total Legal, Procurement & Democratic Services 1,697,825 1,966,000 268,175

Page 41



Budget 21/22
Proposed 

Budget 22/23
Variance

Programme Management Office
Total Employees 753,474 858,305 104,831
Total Transport 250 250 0
Total Supplies & Services 6,445 6,445 0
Total Programme Management Office 760,169 865,000 104,831

Budget 21/22
Proposed 

Budget 22/23
Variance

CA Corporate Services
Total Employees 309,200 179,000 (130,200)
Total Transport 7,000 0 (7,000)
Total Supplies & Services 489,000 374,000 (115,000)
Total CA Corporate Services 805,200 553,000 (252,200)

Policy, Strategy & Government Relations Directorate

Budget 21/22
Proposed 

Budget 22/23
Variance

Policy Co-ordination
Total Employees 2,214,184 2,355,529 141,345
Total Premises 5,210 5,210 0
Total Transport 7,140 7,140 0
Total Supplies & Services 1,780,576 1,977,403 196,827
Total Income (942,282) (942,282) 0
Total Policy Co-ordination 3,064,828 3,403,000 338,172

Budget 21/22
Proposed 

Budget 22/23
Variance

Evidence, Research & Intelligence
Total Employees 1,131,030 1,304,722 173,692
Total Transport 1,500 1,500 0
Total Supplies & Services 1,065,699 901,757 (163,942)
Total Third Party Payments 332,800 332,800 0
Total Income (303,779) (303,779) 0
Total Evidence, Research & Intelligence 2,227,250 2,237,000 9,750

Page 42



Budget 21/22
Proposed 

Budget 22/23
Variance

Government Relations
Total Employees 215,492 245,000 29,508
Total Transport 12,000 12,000 0
Total Supplies & Services 175,000 153,000 (22,000)
Total Government Relations 402,492 410,000 7,508

Investment & Delivery Directorate

Budget 21/22
Proposed 

Budget 22/23
Variance

Mayoral Programme Delivery
Total Employees 951,652 1,059,337 107,685
Total Transport 1,000 1,000 0
Total Supplies & Services 54,663 4,663 (50,000)
Total Mayoral Programme Delivery 1,007,315 1,065,000 57,685

Budget 21/22
Proposed 

Budget 22/23
Variance

Programme Delivery - Digital Programme
Total Supplies & Services 592,000 286,000 (306,000)
Total Programme Delivery - Digital Programme 592,000 286,000 (306,000)

Budget 21/22
Proposed 

Budget 22/23
Variance

Strategic Commissioning & Delivery
Total Employees 679,102 685,046 5,944
Total Transport 650 650 0
Total Supplies & Services 107,500 8,304 (99,196)
Total Other Payments 0 8,127,000 8,127,000
Total Strategic Commissioning & Delivery 787,252 8,821,000 8,033,748

Budget 21/22
Proposed 

Budget 22/23
Variance

Commercial Development & Investment
Total Employees 819,681 616,838 (202,843)
Total Transport 7,000 7,000 0
Total Supplies & Services 613,650 842,162 228,512
Total Income (83,331) (83,331) 0
Total Commercial Development & Investment 1,357,000 1,466,000 25,669Page 43



Budget 21/22
Proposed 

Budget 22/23
Variance

Homelessness
Total Employees 2,494,007 2,589,355 95,348
Total Premises 4,950 4,950 0
Total Transport 27,855 27,855 0
Total Supplies & Services 736,285 624,431 (111,854)
Total Income (3,125,591) (3,125,591) 0
Total Homelessness 137,506 121,000 (16,506)

Budget 21/22
Proposed 

Budget 22/23
Variance

Adult Education Budget
Total Employees 661,288 699,231 37,943
Total Transport 800 2,000 1,200
Total Supplies & Services 49,425,251 48,151,600 (1,273,651)
Total Income (50,087,339) (48,852,831) 1,234,508
Total Adult Education Budget 0 0 0

Page 44



Appendix Two

Budget 21/22
Proposed 

Budget 22/23
Variance

Asset Management
Total Employees 6,888,648 7,403,500 514,852
Total Premises 5,085,353 5,024,353 (61,000)
Total Transport 228,655 128,655 (100,000)
Total Supplies & Services 306,116 186,264 (119,852)
Total Income (2,464,773) (2,306,773) 158,000
Total Asset Management 10,044,000 10,436,000 392,000

Budget 21/22
Proposed 

Budget 22/23
Variance

Bus Services
Total Employees 2,643,830 2,809,513 165,683
Total Premises 119,505 119,505 0
Total Transport 96,930 81,930 (15,000)
Total Supplies & Services 3,745,100 3,432,417 (312,683)
Total Third Party Payments 21,371,423 21,371,423 0
Total Income (9,305,787) (9,448,787) (143,000)
Total Bus Services 18,671,000 18,366,000 (305,000)

Budget 21/22
Proposed 

Budget 22/23
Variance

Concessionary Travel
Total Third Party Payments 58,196,717 57,196,717 (1,000,000)
Total Income (9,815,717) (9,815,717) 0
Total Concessionary Travel 48,381,000 47,381,000 (1,000,000)

MERSEYTRAVEL REVENUE BUDGETS 2022/23 BY SERVICE AREA

Page 45



Budget 21/22
Proposed 

Budget 22/23
Variance

Customer Delivery
Total Employees 4,095,542 4,520,530 424,988
Total Premises 1,908,712 1,774,712 (134,000)
Total Transport 5,639 5,639 0
Total Supplies & Services 565,671 552,671 (13,000)
Total Income (2,432,551) (2,528,551) (96,000)
Total Customer Delivery 4,143,012 4,325,000 181,988

Budget 21/22
Proposed 

Budget 22/23
Variance

Mersey Ferries Group
Total Employees 1,973,866 2,107,892 134,026
Total Premises 1,148,952 1,148,952 0
Total Transport 10,161 10,161 0
Total Vessels 696,751 696,751 0
Total Supplies & Services 283,477 259,451 (24,026)
Total Income (2,059,208) (3,361,208) (1,302,000)
Total Mersey Ferries Group 2,054,000 862,000 (1,192,000)

Budget 21/22
Proposed 

Budget 22/23
Variance

Policy and LTP Development
Total Employees 499,496 442,496 (57,000)
Total Transport 1,900 1,900 0
Total Supplies & Services 6,000 4,000 (2,000)
Total Income (121,396) (36,396) 85,000
Total Policy and LTP Development 386,000 412,000 26,000

Page 46



Budget 21/22
Proposed 

Budget 22/23
Variance

Rail Services
Total Employees 881,193 916,505 35,312
Total Premises 262,357 254,045 (8,312)
Total Transport 8,240 2,240 (6,000)
Total Supplies & Services 836,030 815,030 (21,000)
Total Third Party Payments 106,700,110 110,998,110 4,298,000
Total Income (101,400,931) (105,782,931) (4,382,000)
Total Rail Services 7,287,000 7,203,000 (84,000)

Budget 21/22
Proposed 

Budget 22/23
Variance

Mersey Tunnels - Direct Costs
Total Employees 4,819,703 5,120,717 301,014
Total Premises 2,192,075 2,192,075 0
Total Transport 129,692 129,692 0
Total Supplies & Services 1,192,280 961,266 (231,014)
Total Third Party Payments 8,251 8,251 0
Total Other Costs 7,480,000 7,480,000 0
Total Mersey Tunnels Direct Costs 15,822,000 15,892,000 70,000

Budget 21/22
Proposed 

Budget 22/23
Variance

Rolling Stock
Total Employees 590,147 617,033 26,886
Total Transport 35,444 15,446 (19,998)
Total Supplies & Services 1,162,136 1,914,597 752,461
Total Other Costs 2,422,108 5,203,374 2,781,266
Total Income (2,987,835) (3,417,450) (429,615)
Total Rolling Stock 1,222,000 4,333,000 3,111,000

Page 47



Budget 21/22
Proposed 

Budget 22/23
Variance

Corporate Costs
Total Employees 550,000 509,000 (41,000)
Total Supplies & Services 460,000 160,000 (300,000)
Total Other Costs 10,000 10,000 0
Total Income (319,000) (319,000) 0
Total Corporate Costs 701,000 360,000 (341,000)

Page 48



APPENDIX THREE

£'000

Gainshare Capital
Agent Academy 30                 
Covid Recovery Fund - FIF Tranche 3 216               
Eureka 254               
Festival Gardens 10,592         
Inward Investment Fund 160               
Kindred 962               
Liverpool Film Fund 1,000            
MTC Project in a Box SIF2039 3,507            
Shakespeare Playhouse 791               
Project Trinity 5,000            
LCRCA Project : Backhaul Network 4,753            
Gainshare Capital Total 27,265         

Brownfield Remediation Fund
Unallocated Brownfield Remediation Fund 8,000            
Brownfield Remediation Fund Total 8,000           

Transforming Cities Fund
Merseytravel/CA Delivered Projects:
Birkenhead Central Gateway 7,793            
Headbolt Lane Gateway 35,085         
Headbolt Lane Gateway (awaiting approval) 13,890         
St Helens Southern Gateway (Lea Green) 7,358            
Access For All 2,935            
Public Transport Connectivity 142               
Partner Delivered Projects:
St Helens Southern Gateway (Lea Green) 3,032            
Public Transport Connectivity 8,324            
Transforming Cities Fund Total 78,559         

Other Funding
SIF External Loans 30,000         
Sustainable Warmth 24,229         
Other Funding Total 54,229         

Merseytravel Capital Programme
Rail Schemes 5,396            
Rolling Stock 57,631         
Tunnels 7,451            
IT 400               
Other Transport Capital Expenditure 2,500            
Merseytravel Capital Programme Total 73,378         

TOTAL LCRCA CAPITAL PROGRAMME 2022/23 241,431       

LCRCA CAPITAL PROGRAMME 2022/23

Page 49



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX FOUR 
 
COMBINED AUTHORITY TREASURY MANAGEMENT STRATEGY STATEMENT, 
MINIMUM REVENUE PROVISION POLICY STATEMENT AND ANNUAL 
INVESTMENT STRATEGY 2022/23 
 
 

INTRODUCTION 
 
CIPFA published the revised Treasury Management and Prudential Code on 
20th December 2021 and has stated that formal adoption is not required until 
the 2023/24 financial year.  The Combined Authority has to have regard to 
these codes of practice when it prepares the Treasury Management Strategy 
Statement and the Annual Investment Strategy and also related reports during 
the financial year which are taken to the Combined Authority for approval. 
 
Members of the Combined Authority will be updated on how any changes to 
the code will impact on our current approach and any changes required will be 
formally adopted within the 2023/24 Treasury Management Strategy 
Statement. 

 
1. BACKGROUND  
 
1.1 The Combined Authority is required to operate a balanced budget which 

broadly means that expenditure incurred during the year will be met through 
cash raised during the year.  Part of the treasury management operation is to 
ensure that cash flow is adequately planned, with cash available when it is 
needed. Surplus monies are invested in counterparties or instruments 
commensurate with the Authority‟s low risk appetite, providing adequate 
liquidity initially before considering investment return.  

 
1.2 The second main function of the Combined Authority‟s treasury management 

activities is the funding of its capital plans.  The capital plans provide a guide 
to the borrowing need of the Combined Authority, essentially the longer term 
cash flow planning to ensure that the Combined Authority can meet its capital 
spend obligations.  The management of longer term cash may involve 
arranging long or short term loans or using longer term cash flow surpluses.  
On occasions, when it is prudent and economic, any debt previously drawn 
may be restructured to meet cost or risk objectives. 

 
1.3 The contribution the treasury management function makes to the Combined 

Authority is critical as the balance of debt and investment operations ensure 
liquidity or the ability to meet spending commitments as they fall due; either on 
day to day revenue or for larger capital projects. The treasury operations will 
see a balance of the interest cost of debt and the investment income arising 
from cash deposits affecting the available budget. Since cash balances 
generally result from reserves and balances, it is paramount to ensure 
adequate security of the sums invested as a loss of principal will in effect 
result in a loss to General Fund Balance. 

 

Page 51



1.4 Whilst any commercial initiatives or loans to third parties will impact on the 
treasury function, these activities are generally classed as non-treasury 
activity, arising usually from capital expenditure, and are separate from the 
day to day treasury management activities. 

 
CIPFA defines treasury management as: 

 
 “The management of the Combined Authority’s borrowing, investments and 

cash flows, its banking, money market and capital market transactions; the 
effective control of the risks associated with those activities; and the pursuit of 
optimum performance consistent with those risks.” 

 
  
 

Reporting Requirements 
 
1.5 The CIPFA Prudential and Treasury Management Codes (revised 2017) detail 

the reporting requirements for the Combined Authority. From a treasury 
perspective, the Combined Authority is required to receive and approve as a 
minimum, three main reports each year, which incorporate a variety of 
policies, estimates and actuals. These can be summarised as: 

 

 An annual treasury management strategy and prudential and treasury 
indicators -  the capital plans, (including prudential indicators); 
- a minimum revenue provision (MRP) policy, (how residual capital 

expenditure is charged to revenue over time) 
- the treasury management strategy, (how the investments and 

borrowings are to be organised), including treasury indicators; and 
- an investment strategy, (the parameters on how investments are to be 

managed).  

 A mid-year treasury management report providing an update on progress 
of the capital position and amending treasury and prudential indicators if 
required; and 

 An outturn treasury report detailing the outturn position and comparing 
performance against estimates included within the strategy. 

 
1.6 In addition to the treasury reporting requirements, the CIPFA 2017 Prudential 

and Treasury Management Codes require all Authorities to prepare a capital 
strategy report which will cover the following: 

 
 a high level, long term overview of how capital expenditure, capital financing and 

treasury management activity contribute to the provision of services; 

 an overview of how the associated risk is managed; and 

 the implications for future financial sustainability. 

The aim of the capital strategy is to ensure that all Members of the Combined 
Authority fully understand the overall long term policy objectives and resulting 
capital strategy requirements, governance procedures and risk appetite. 

 
1.7 The capital strategy is reported separately from the Treasury Management 

Statement, with non-treasury investments being reported through the former. 

Page 52



The rationale for the separate reporting is to ensure there is a separation of 
the core treasury function with the focus on security, liquidity and yield 
principles and the non-treasury investments which are driven by expenditure 
on an investment with the intended purpose of generating a return. The capital 
strategy will show: 

 
 The corporate governance arrangements in place for non-treasury investments; 

 Any service objectives relating to these type of activities; 

 The expected income, costs and resulting contributions; 

 The debt related to the activity and the associated interest costs; 

 The pay back period (MRP Policy); 

 For non-loan type investments, the cost against the current market value; and 

 The risks associated with each activity. 

 

Treasury Management Strategy for 2022/23 
 
1.8 The Treasury Management Strategy for 2022/23 covers two main areas: 
  

 Capital issues 

- the capital expenditure plans and the associated prudential indicators; 

- the minimum revenue provision (MRP) policy. 

 

 Treasury management issues 

- the current treasury position; 

- treasury indicators which limit the treasury risk and activities of the 

Combined Authority; 

- prospects for interest rates; 

- the borrowing strategy; 

- policy on borrowing in advance of need; 

- debt rescheduling; 

- the investment strategy; 

- creditworthiness policy; and 

- the policy on use of external service providers. 

 
These elements cover the requirements of the Local Government Act 2003, 
the CIPFA Prudential Code, DLUHC MRP Guidance, the CIPFA Treasury 
Management Code and DLUHC Investment Guidance. 

 
1.9 The Combined Authority uses Link Group, Treasury solutions as its external 

treasury management advisors.  The Combined Authority recognises that 
responsibility for treasury management decisions remains with the 
organisation and seeks to ensure that undue reliance is not placed upon 
external service providers. All decisions will be undertaken with regards to all 
available information, including, but not solely, our treasury advisors. The 
Combined Authority recognises that there is value in employing external 
providers of treasury management services in order to acquire access to 
specialist skills and resources. The Combined Authority will ensure that the 

Page 53



terms of their appointment and the methods by which their value will be 
assessed are properly agreed, documented and subjected to regular review. 

 
 
2. THE CAPITAL PRUDENTIAL INDICATORS 2022/23-2024/25 
 
2.1 Capital Expenditure  
 
2.1.1 The Combined Authority‟s capital expenditure plans are a key driver of its 

treasury management activity and the output of these plans are reflected in 
the Prudential Indicators. The prudential indicators are designed to assist 
members‟ overview and confirm capital expenditure plans.  

 
The table below summarises the Combined Authority‟s capital expenditure 
plans for the current financial year and the three subsequent years, together 
with the proposed sources of financing.   

 

 
 
 

(1) A breakdown of the Merseytravel and Combined Authority capital spend is shown in the main body of 

the budget report 

 
2.1.2 To the extent that the overall quantum of the programme detailed above 

increases and cannot be funded through other grants or reserves, this would 
result in an increase to the overall requirement to borrow.  

 
2.1.3 In line with the Combined Authority‟s SIF strategy, funding can be provided to 

sponsors in a variety of formats: be that grant, loan or equity. To date, the 
Combined Authority has approved 4 separate repayable instruments on a 
mixture of commercial and sub commercial rates. Each project has been 
subject to a detailed viability assessment and modelling.  Current proposals 
for non financial investments are such that for the period through to 2023, all 
activity will be funded by the Combined Authority‟s devolution funding and 
borrowing.  There is therefore a risk that the Combined Authority will not 
recover the full value of its investment which would reduce the value of 
recyclable funds available for reinvestment. In accordance with accounting 
standards these loans will be subject to an expected credit loss assessment, 
and to the extent that there is an impairment, this will be reported and 
accounted for accordingly. 

2021/22 

Estimated 

Outturn

2022/23 

Estimate

2023/24 

Estimate

2024/25 

Estimate

£m £m £m £m

Combined Authority Group capital spend 239.39 211.43 30.50 7.50

Commercial activities/ non-financial investments 0.00 30.00 15.00 15.00

Total Capital Spend 239.39 241.43 45.50 22.50

Funded by:

Capital Grants -144.72 -143.45 -23.00 0.00

Other Contributions -7.48 -10.35 -7.50 -7.50

Borrowing -87.19 -87.63 -15.00 -15.00

Page 54



 
 
2.2 The Combined Authority’s Borrowing Need (Capital Financing 

Requirement) 
 
2.2.1 The first prudential indicator is the Authority‟s Capital Financing Requirement 

(CFR). The CFR represents the historic outstanding capital expenditure that 
has not yet been paid for either through revenue or capital resources and 
therefore a measure of the Authority‟s indebtedness and underlying need to 
borrow.  

 
2.2.2 To the extent that the Combined Authority undertakes capital expenditure for 

which there are immediately available capital or revenue resources, this will 
increase the CFR. The CFR does not, however, increase indefinitely as the 
MRP is a statutory annual charge which broadly reduces indebtedness in line 
with each assets life.  

 
2.2.3 The Combined Authority is asked to approve the CFR projections below. 
 

 
 
 
2.3 Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) Policy Statement 
 
2.3.1 The Combined Authority is required to make provision for the repayment of an 

element of the accumulated capital spend each year through a charge to 
revenue (the Minimum Revenue Provision – MRP) however should the 
Combined Authority wish it is also allowed to undertaken additional voluntary 
payments if required (Voluntary Revenue Provision – VRP). 

 
2.3.2 The Department of Levelling Up, Housing and Communities (DLUHC) 

regulations have been issued which require the full Combined Authority to 
approve an MRP statement in advance of the year. Under the guidance a 
number of options are available however the Combined Authority does have 
some discretion over the approach taken however the overriding requirement 
is that any approach must be prudent. 

 
2.3.3 The regulations allow for an Authority to review and revise its MRP statement 

at any stage, providing that the overriding requirement that the resulting 
approach is prudent. Based on the regulations, the Combined Authority 

2021/22 

Estimated 

Outturn

2022/23 

Estimate

2023/24 

Estimate

2024/25 

Estimate

£m £m £m £m

Opening CFR 453.93 538.84 624.15 628.68

CFR Services 87.19 57.63 0.00 0.00

CFR Commercial Activity 0.00 30.00 15.00 15.00

Less: MRP -2.28 -2.34 -10.46 -10.64

Net Movement in CFR 84.90 85.29 4.54 4.36

Closing CFR 538.84 624.15 628.68 633.04

Page 55



revised the MRP Policy in 2021/22.  No changes are proposed to the 
approach approved in 2021/22, therefore the Combined Authority is 
recommended to approve the following MRP statement for application in 
2022/23:- 
 

 For historic capital expenditure (i.e. that incurred before 2008), MRP is 
calculated on the Asset Life Method (Option 3).  MRP will be based on the 
estimated life of the assets, in accordance with the regulations. It is proposed 
to apply a period of 50 years as the period which is proxy for the underlying 
asset‟s life. It is felt appropriate to use the maximum life period as 
consequence of the fact that 55% of the Authority‟s asset base (excluding 
assets under construction) are infrastructure assets with a maximum asset life 
of 72 years and 20% of the asset base relates to lease and free hold property 
which has a maximum asset life of 52 years.  
 

 For new (unsupported borrowing, the Authority intends to take a more 

nuanced, principle based approach to the calculation of MRP.  The approach 

to the calculation will be guided by whether the borrowing relation is related to 

the creation or enhancement of an asset or whether the borrowing is to 

support the provision of a loan or other form of investment within another 

organisation. 

 
Where the borrowing underpins the acquisition and enhancement of assets 
funded through borrowing is that an Asset Life Method is used to calculate 
MRP (Option 3 under the MHCLG guidance). Under the guidance there are 
two approaches that can be applied for calculating MRP under the Asset Life 
Method: Equal Instalments or the Annuity Method. The Authority will make the 
decision as to the specific approach to be adopted on a case by case basis 
determining what is most appropriate and prudent based on the underlying 
asset. 
 
For capital expenditure that is classified as such under Regulation 25(1) of 
the Local Government Act 2003, the rebuttable presumption will be that a 
revenue provision will be made and that MRP will be calculated in accordance 
with Option 3 (Asset Life Method) applying the maximum life value detailed in 
the statutory guidance. 
 
This presumption will be challenged on a case by case basis and to the 
extent that the Authority is seeking to make a loan to a third party, the 
approach to making a prudent provision will be made giving due consideration 
to a variety of factors including the following: 
 

 Whether the loan is being made on commercial or sub commercial rates; 

 The duration of the loan; 

 The financial standing of the borrower; 

 The degree of perceived risk to the underlying capital sums invested; 

 The strength or existence of covenants that underpin any loans; and 

 The structure of the loan and subsequent repayments. 

 Where loans are made to support policy objectives or there is a degree of risk 
that the capital will not be repaid either in full or in part, then a revenue 
provision will be made using Option 3 as detailed above. 

 

Page 56



Where loans are made where there is a higher degree of confidence in 
repayment and the regular repayment over the life of the agreement, then 
the Authority will seek to set aside capital receipts arising from the 
repayment of the loan to reduce the CFR as opposed to making an annual 
provision for MRP.  
 
Where loans are made where there is a high degree of confidence in 
repayment but where repayment is irregular or is on expiration of the loan, 
then the Authority will make a revenue provision in accordance with Option 
3 using an asset life as determined through this method. To the extent that 
the loan is repaid over a shorter timescale, capital receipts from repayment 
would be used to write down any remaining CFR liability relating to the 
loan. 

 
2.4 Borrowing  
 
2.4.1 The capital expenditure plans set out in Section 2.1 provide details of the 

service activity of the Combined Authority.  The treasury management 
function ensures that the Combined Authority‟s cash is organised in 
accordance with professional codes, so that sufficient cash is available to 
meet the service activity and its capital strategy. This will involve organising 
cash flows and appropriate borrowing facilities as necessary. The table below 
details the projected overall treasury management portfolio as at 31 March 
2022. 

 

 
 

 
2.4.2 The table below provides an analysis of the Combined Authority‟s outstanding 

debt as at 31 March 2022. 
 

Outstanding Debt as at 31 March 2022 
Principal 

Average 
Rate 

£m % 

TREASURY PORTFOLIO

actual actual current current Estimate Estimate

31.3.21 31.3.21 31.12.21 31.12.21 31.03.22 31.03.22

£000 %  £000 %  £000 %  

Treasury Investments

Banks 188,215 56% 137,018 43% 79,859 39%

Local Authorities 115,033 35% 25,000 8% 25,000 12%

Certificates of Deposit 30,005 9% 160,044 50% 100,031 49%

Total treasury investments 333,253 100% 322,062 100% 204,890 100%

Treasury External Borrowing

PWLB 148,480 44% 144,264 43% 140,033 43%

European Investment Bank 180,656 53% 177,541 53% 174,426 54%

Transferred Debt 11,442 3% 10,297 3% 9,153 3%

Total External Borrowing 340,578 100% 332,102 100% 323,612 100%

Net Treasury Investments / (Borrowing) (7,325) (10,040) (118,722)

Page 57



Public Works Loan Board (PWLB) EIP Loans 42.515 6.15 

PWLB Annuity Loans 44.207 8.26 

PWLB Maturity Loans 53.311 4.49 

European Investment Bank 174.426 1.52 

Transferred Debt 9.153 5.26 

Total 323.612  

 

 

2.4.3 The Combined Authority‟s projections for borrowing are summarised overleaf 
showing actual external debt against the underlying capital borrowing need 
(the CFR) highlighting any under or over borrowing. 

 

  
 
2.4.4 Within the range of prudential indicators there are a number of key indicators 

to ensure that the Combined Authority operates its activities within well 
defined limits. One of these is that the Combined Authority needs to ensure 
that its gross debt does not, except in the short term, exceed the total of the 
CFR in the preceding year plus the estimates of any additional CFR for 
2022/23 and the following two financial years. This allows some flexibility for 
limited early borrowing for future years but ensures that borrowing is not 
undertaken for revenue or speculative purposes. 

 
2.4.5 The Director of Corporate Services reports that the Combined Authority 

complied with this prudential indicator in the current year and does not 
envisage difficulties for the future. This view takes into account current 
commitments, existing plans and the proposals contained within the budget 
report. 

 
 Treasury Indicators: Limits to Borrowing Activity 
 
2.4.6 The Operational Boundary is the limit beyond which external debt is not 

normally expected to exceed. Ordinarily this would be a figure commensurate 
with the CFR however this may be lower or higher depending on the 
Combined Authority‟s levels of actual debt and its ability to fund under 
borrowing by other cash resources. The table below summarises estimated 

2021/22 

Estimate

2022/23 

Estimate

2023/24 

Estimate 

2024/25 

Estimate 

£m £m £m £m

External and Transferred 

Debt 1 April
340.58 323.61 307.82 292.40 

Forecast Change in Debt -16.97 -15.79 -15.42 -17.05 

Gross Debt 31 March 323.61 307.82 292.40 289.29 

Capital Financing 

Requirement
538.84 624.18 628.72 633.08 

(Under)/ Over Borrowing (215.23) (316.36) (336.32) (343.79)

External Debt

Page 58



operational boundary for the current and subsequent three years.  
 

 
 
 
2.4.7 The Authorised Limit for external debt represents the legal limit beyond which 

external debt is prohibited. The limit for this key prudential indicator is set by 
the Combined Authority and therefore any changes to this limit must be 
agreed by the Combined Authority also. The Authorised Limit reflects the level 
of external debt which, whilst not desirable or sustainable over the longer 
term, could be afforded in the short term.  

 
1.  This is the statutory limit determined under section 3 (1) of the Local 

Government Act 2003.  The Government retains an option to control either the 

total of all Authorities plans, or those of a specific Authority, although this power 

has not yet been exercised. 

2. The Combined Authority is asked to approve the following authorised limit below: 

 

 
 
 Prospects for Interest Rates 
 
2.4.8 The Combined Authority has appointed Link Asset Services as its treasury 

advisors and part of their service is to assist the Combined Authority to 
formulate a view on interest rates. The table below provides an overview of 
Link Group‟s view of interest rates. Link provided the following forecasts on 
20th December 2021.  These are forecasts for certainty rates, gilt yields plus 
80 bps. 

 

2021/22 

Forecast

2022/23 

Estimate

2023/24 

Estimate

2024/25 

Estimate

£m £m £m £m

Debt 474.27 499.26 512.85 511.31

Other Long Term Liabilities 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

Commercial Activities 0.00 30.00 15.00 15.00

Total 474.27 529.26 527.85 526.31

2021/22 

Forecast

2022/23 

Estimate

2023/24 

Estimate

2024/25 

Estimate

£m £m £m £m

Debt 538.84 594.15 613.68 618.04

Other Long Term Liabilities 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

Commercial Activities 0.00 30.00 15.00 15.00

Total 538.84 624.15 628.68 633.04

Page 59



 

 
 

 
2.4.9 Over the last two years, the coronavirus outbreak has done huge economic 

damage to the UK and to economies around the world. After the Bank of 
England took emergency action in March 2020 to cut Bank Rate to 0.10%, it 
left Bank Rate unchanged at its subsequent meetings until raising it to 0.25% 
at its meeting on 16th December 2021. 

 

 
2.4.10 As shown in the forecast table above, the forecast for Bank Rate now 

includes four increases over the three-year forecast period to March 2025, 
ending at 1.25%.  

 
However, there are still a number of significant risks to these forecasts e.g. 
Economies may take a prolonged period to recover from the recession if 
mutations to the coronavirus cause further restriction periods. Labour and 
supply shortages prove more enduring and disruptive, depressing economic 
activity.  

 
2.4.11 Economic and interest rate forecasting remains difficult with so many 

influences weighing on UK gilt yields and PWLB rates.  As the interest 
forecast table for PWLB certainty rates above shows, there is forecast to be a 
steady, but slow, rise in both Bank Rate and gilt yields during the forecast 
period to March 2025, though there will doubtless be a lot of unpredictable 
volatility during this forecast period. Amendments to these forecasts will 
depend on how economic data and developments in financial markets 
transpire. Geopolitical developments, sovereign debt crisis, emerging market 
developments and sharp changes in investor sentiment, will also have a major 
impact.   

 
2.4.12 Based on the above, the impact on investment and borrowing rates is likely to 

be as follows: 
 

 Investment returns are expected to improve in 2022/23. However, while 

markets are pricing in a series of Bank Rate hikes, actual economic 

circumstances may see the Monetary Policy Committee fall short of 

these elevated expectations.  

Page 60



 As a result of the COVID crisis and the quantitative easing operations 

of the Bank of England, borrowing interest rates fell to historically very 

low rates , and still remain at historically low levels. The policy of 

avoiding new borrowing by running down spare cash balances has 

served local authorities well over the last few years.   

 The Combined Authority will not be able to avoid borrowing to finance 

new capital expenditure (rolling stock fleet), there will be a cost of 

carry, to any new long term borrowing that causes an increase in cash 

balances as this position will most likely incur a revenue cost. 

 
Borrowing Strategy 
 
2.4.13 The Combined Authority currently has an under borrowed position, which 

means that the CFR, the underlying need to borrow, has not been fully funded 
by loan debt as cash supporting the Combined Authority‟s balances and 
reserves have been used as a temporary measure. Given the quantum of the 
capital programme in relation to rolling stock, there is likely to be an absolute 
need to borrow additional funds at some point. Moreover the longer term 
forecast for interest rates is to increase and therefore consideration must be 
given to weighting the short term advantage of internal borrowing against 
potential long term costs. This is if the opportunity is missed for taking loans at 
longer term rates where the rates are expected to be higher in future years. 

 
2.4.14 Whilst investment returns remain subdued and a relative dearth of high quality 

counterparties remains an issue, the strategy of utilising cash balances is 
considered prudent. Against this background, the Director of Corporate 
Services will monitor interest rates in financial markets and adopt a pragmatic 
approach to changing circumstances and satisfying the need to borrow, 
seeking to identify the options that are available and provide value for money 
for the Combined Authority.  

 
 If it was felt that there was a significant risk of a sharp FALL in borrowing 

rates, (e.g. due to a markers increase of risks around relapse into recession 

or risks of deflation), the borrowing will be postponed. 

 If it was felt that there was a significant risk of a much sharper RISE in 

borrowing rates than that currently forecast, perhaps arising from an 

acceleration on the rate of increase in central rates in the USA and UK, an 

increase in world economic activity, or a sudden increase in inflation risks, 

then the portfolio position will be re-appraised.  Most likely, fixed rate funding 

will be drawn whilst interest rates are lower than they are projected to be in 

the next few years. 

Any decisions will be reported to the appropriate decision making body at the 
next available opportunity. 

 
 Policy on borrowing in advance of need 
 
2.4.15 The Combined Authority will not borrow more than or in advance of need 

purely to profit from the investment of the extra sums borrowed. Any decision 

Page 61



to borrow in advance will be forward approved within the Capital Financing 
Requirement estimates, and will be considered carefully to ensure value for 
money can be demonstrated and security of funds evidenced. Risks 
associated with borrowing in advance of need will be subject to prior appraisal 
and subsequent reporting through the mid-year or annual reporting 
mechanism. 

 
 Debt Rescheduling 
 
2.4.16 The Combined Authority will monitor opportunities to generate savings 

through debt rescheduling activity, however any savings that could be 
generated would need to be considered in light of the current treasury position 
and the size of any potential premiums payable on early redemption of debt. 
Reasons for debt rescheduling will include: 

 
 The generation of cash savings or discounted cash flow savings; 

 Helping fulfil the treasury strategy; or 

 Enhancing the balance of the portfolio (maturity profile or balance of volatility). 

 
 Consideration will also be given to identify if there are residual potential for 

making short term savings by running down investment balances to repay 
debt prematurely as short term rates on investments are likely to be lower 
than rates paid on current debt. 

 
 Rescheduling of current borrowing in our debt portfolio is unlikely to occur.  If 

rescheduling was done, it will be reported to the Combined Authority, at the 
earliest meeting following its action. 

 
2.5 New financial institutions as a source of borrowing and types of 

borrowing 
 
2.5.1 The main source of borrowing for the Combined Authority is PWLB which 

currently has its Certainty Rates set at guilts + 80 basis points. However, 
consideration will also be given to sourcing funding at cheaper rates from the 
following: 

 
 Local authorities (primarily shorter dated maturities) 

 Financial institutions (primarily insurance companies and pension funds but 

also some banks) 

2.6 Approved Sources of Long and Short term Borrowing 
 
2.6.1 Whilst in practice the Combined Authority will tend to draw its substantive 

borrowing requirement through the PWLB, it also has access to a number of 
other sources of fixed and variable funding as detailed below. 

 
On Balance Sheet Fixed Variable 

PWLB   

Municipal bond agency    

Local authorities   

Banks   

Page 62



Pension funds   

Insurance companies   

 

Market (long-term)   

Market (temporary)   

Market (LOBOs)   

Stock issues   

 

Local temporary   

              Local Bonds   

Local authority bills                                                                      

Overdraft   

Negotiable Bonds   

 

Internal (capital receipts & revenue balances)   

              Commercial Paper                                                             

              Medium Term Notes                                                          

Finance leases   

 
 
2.7 Annual Investment Strategy 
 
2.7.1 In conducting its investment activity, the Combined Authority will have regard 

to the DLUHC‟s Guidance on Local Government Investments and the 2017 
revised CIPFA Treasury Management in Public Services Code of Practice and 
Cross Sectoral Guidance Notes (the CIPFA TM Code). The Combined 
Authority‟s overriding investment priorities are the security of capital and 
liquidity of investments. 

 
2.7.2 Whilst DLUHC and CIFPA have extended the meaning of investments to 

include both financial and non-financial investments, the Annual Investment 
Strategy as detailed below deals solely with the financial (treasury) 
investments. Non-financial investments, essentially the purchase of income 
yielding assets, are covered within the Capital Strategy. 

 
2.7.3 The Combined Authority will seek to obtain the optimum return on its 

investments commensurate with the desired level of security and liquidity. 
Risk appetite is low with investment decisions giving priority to security of 
investments. The Combined Authority does not borrow purely to invest or on-
lend to make a return. 

 
2.7.4 The Combined Authority has a clearly stipulated minimum acceptable level of 

credit quality of Counterparties which feeds into its Counterparty lending list. 
The creditworthiness methodology used to create the Combined Authority‟s 
list takes account of the ratings provided by FITCH and/ or Moodys, two of the 
three main ratings agencies. All investments made during 2022/23 will be 
made in accordance with the Annual Investment Strategy detailed in  Annex 
Two. 

 
Appendices:- 
Annex One – Outlook for Interest Rates 

Page 63



Annex Two – Annual Investment Strategy 2022/23 
Annex Three – Treasury Management Limits and Prudential Indicators  
Annex Four – Treasury Management Scheme of Delegation 
Annex Five – The Treasury Management Role of the Section 151/ 73 Officer 

Page 64



ANNEX ONE 
 

OUTLOOK FOR INTEREST RATES 
 
 

 
 
The rates shown above take account of the 20 basis point certainty rate reduction 
  

Link Group Interest Rate View  20.12.21

Dec-21 Mar-22 Jun-22 Sep-22 Dec-22 Mar-23 Jun-23 Sep-23 Dec-23 Mar-24 Jun-24 Sep-24 Dec-24 Mar-25

BANK RATE 0.25 0.25 0.50 0.50 0.50 0.75 0.75 0.75 0.75 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.25

  3 month ave earnings 0.20 0.30 0.50 0.50 0.60 0.70 0.80 0.90 0.90 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00

  6 month ave earnings 0.40 0.50 0.60 0.60 0.70 0.80 0.90 1.00 1.00 1.10 1.10 1.10 1.10 1.10

12 month ave earnings 0.70 0.70 0.70 0.70 0.80 0.90 1.00 1.10 1.10 1.20 1.20 1.20 1.20 1.20

5 yr   PWLB 1.40 1.50 1.50 1.60 1.60 1.70 1.80 1.80 1.80 1.90 1.90 1.90 2.00 2.00

10 yr PWLB 1.60 1.70 1.80 1.80 1.90 1.90 2.00 2.00 2.00 2.10 2.10 2.10 2.20 2.30

25 yr PWLB 1.80 1.90 2.00 2.10 2.10 2.20 2.20 2.20 2.30 2.30 2.40 2.40 2.50 2.50

50 yr PWLB 1.50 1.70 1.80 1.90 1.90 2.00 2.00 2.00 2.10 2.10 2.20 2.20 2.30 2.30

Bank Rate

Link 0.25 0.25 0.50 0.50 0.50 0.75 0.75 0.75 0.75 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.25

Capital Economics 0.25 0.25 0.50 0.75 0.75 0.75 0.75 1.00 1.00 - - - - -

5yr PWLB Rate

Link 1.40 1.50 1.50 1.60 1.60 1.70 1.80 1.80 1.80 1.90 1.90 1.90 2.00 2.00

Capital Economics 1.40 1.40 1.50 1.50 1.60 1.70 1.70 1.80 1.90 - - - - -

10yr PWLB Rate

Link 1.60 1.70 1.80 1.80 1.90 1.90 2.00 2.00 2.00 2.10 2.10 2.10 2.20 2.30

Capital Economics 1.60 1.60 1.70 1.70 1.80 1.80 1.90 2.00 2.00 - - - - -

25yr PWLB Rate

Link 1.80 1.90 2.00 2.10 2.10 2.20 2.20 2.20 2.30 2.30 2.40 2.40 2.50 2.50

Capital Economics 1.80 1.80 1.90 1.90 2.00 2.10 2.10 2.20 2.30 - - - - -

50yr PWLB Rate

Link 1.50 1.70 1.80 1.90 1.90 2.00 2.00 2.00 2.10 2.10 2.20 2.20 2.30 2.30

Capital Economics 1.40 1.50 1.60 1.70 1.80 1.90 2.00 2.20 2.30 - - - - -

Page 65



 

ANNEX TWO 
 

ANNUAL INVESTMENT STRATEGY 2022/23 
 

The purpose of this Strategy is to outline, for approval by the Combined 
Authority: 
 

 The Combined Authority‟s overriding investment objectives; 

 The investments the Combined Authority will use for the prudent 

management of surplus funds during the financial year 2022/23 and the 

management of risk 

 The procedures for determining the use of each asset class; 

 The maximum periods for which funds may be prudently committed in 

each class; 

 The upper limits to be invested in each class; 

 The extent to which prior professional advice needs to be sought from 

the Combined Authority‟s Treasury Advisors prior to use; and 

 The minimum amount to be held in short term investments. 

Investment Objectives 
 

The Combined Authority‟s investment decisions are governed by the need to 
ensure that all decisions are prudent and ensure the security of capital and 
liquidity of investments are paramount. 

 
The Combined Authority will seek to ensure an optimum return on the 
investment of all surplus funds commensurate with the required levels of 
liquidity and security, having properly assessed the inherent risk associated 
with different investment options. 
 
The Combined Authority will not engage in treasury borrowing activity solely 
for the purpose of investment or on-lending to make a return. 
 
Investment policy – management of risk 
 
The Department of Levelling Up, Housing and Communities (DLUHC – this 
was formerly the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government 
(MHCLG) and CIPFA have extended the meaning of „investments‟ to include 
both financial and non-financial investments.  This report, Annex Two deals 
solely with treasury (financial) investments, as managed by the treasury 
management team.  Non-financial investments, essentially the purchase of 
income yielding assets, are covered in the Capital Strategy, Appendix Two. 
 
The Combined Authority‟s investment policy has regard to the following: 
 

 DLUHC‟s Guidance on Local Government Investments (“the Guidance”) 

 CIPFA Treasury Management in Public Services Code of Practice and Cross 
Sectoral Guidance Notes 2017 (“the Code”)  

Page 66



 CIPFA Treasury Management Guidance Notes 2018  

 
The Combined Authority‟s investment priorities will be security first, portfolio 
liquidity second and then yield, (return).  The Combined Authority will aim to 
achieve the optimum return (yield) on its investments commensurate with proper 
levels of security and liquidity and with the Combined Authority‟s risk appetite. In 
the current economic climate, it is considered appropriate to keep investments 
short term to cover cash flow needs. However, where appropriate (from an 
internal as well as external perspective), the Combined Authority will also consider 
the value available in periods up to 12 months with high credit rated financial 
institutions. 

 

The above guidance from the DLUHC and CIPFA places a high priority on the 
management of risk. This authority has adopted a prudent approach to managing 
risk and defines its risk appetite by the following means: - 
 

1. Credit Criteria 

A minimum acceptable credit criteria is applied in order to generate a list of 

highly creditworthy counterparties.  This enables diversification and thus 

avoidance of concentration of risk.  The key ratings used to monitor 

counterparties are the short term and long term ratings. 

 

2. Other information 

Ratings will not be the sole determinant of the quality of an institution, it is 

important to continually assess and monitor the financial sector on both a 

micro and macro basis and in relation to the economic and political 

environments in which institutions operate.  The assessment will also take 

account of information that reflects the opinion of the markets.  To achieve 

this consideration the Combined Authority will engage with its advisors to 

maintain a monitor on market pricing such as „credit default swaps‟ and 

overlay that information on top of the ratings. 

 

3. Other information sources 

The Combined Authority will pay consideration to other information sources 

such as the financial press, share price and other such information pertaining 

to the financial sector in order to establish the most robust scrutiny process 

on the suitability of potential investment counterparties. 

 

4. Types of investment instruments 

The Combined Authority has defined the list of types of investment 

instruments that the treasury management team are authorised to use.  There 

are two lists in Annex 2.1 under the categories of „specified‟ and „non-

specified‟ investments. 

- Specified investments are those with a high level of credit quality 

and subject to a maturity limit of one year or have less than a year left 

to run to maturity if originally they were classified as being non-

specified investments solely due to the maturity period exceeding one 

year. 

Page 67



- Non-specified investments are those with less high credit quality, 

may be for periods in excess of one year and/or are more complex 

instruments which require greater consideration by members and 

officers before being authorised for use. 

 

The table attached as Annex 2.1 provides further guidance on Specified and 

Non Specified Investments. 

 
5. Non-specified and loan investments limits.  The Combined Authority has 

determined that it will set a limit to the maximum exposure of the total 

treasury management investment portfolio to non-specified treasury 

management investments of 40%.  

 

6. Lending limits, amounts and maturity, for each counterparty will be set 

through applying the matrix table in Annex 2.2. 

 

7. Transaction limits are set for each type of investment in Annex 2.2. 

 

8. Sovereign ratings  investments will only be placed with counterparties 

from countries with a specified minimum sovereign rating. 

 

9. The Combined Authority will set a limit for the amount of investments which 

are invested for longer than 365 days. 

 

10. External Consultants The Combined Authority has engaged external  

consultants to provide expert advice on how to optimise an appropriate 

balance of security, liquidity and yield, given the risk appetite of the 

authority in the context of the expected level of cash balances and need for 

liquidity throughout the year. 

 

11. All investments will be denominated in sterling. 

 

12. As a result of the change in accounting standards for 2022/23 under IFRS 9 

, the Combined Authority will consider the implications of investment 

instruments which could result in an adverse movement in the value of the 

amount invested and resultant charges at the end of the year to the General 

Fund. In November 2018, the MHCLG (now DLUHC), concluded a 

consultation for a temporary override to allow English authorities time to 

adjust their portfolio of all pooled investments by announcing a statutory 

override to delay implementation of IFRS 9 for five years ending 31st March 

2023. 

The Combined Authority will pursue value for money in treasury management 
and will monitor the yield from investment income against appropriate 
benchmarks for investment performance.  Regular monitoring of investment 
performance will be carried out during the year. 
 
Changes in the risk management policy from last year 
 

Page 68



The above criteria are unchanged from last year. 
 

Creditworthiness Policy and Liquidity 
 

 The Combined Authority relies on credit ratings published by FITCH or 
Moody‟s two independent rating agencies to establish the credit quality of 
Counterparties. Credit ratings are reviewed on an ongoing basis to ensure 
that prompt action can be taken to remove institutions whose ratings fall 
below the minimum threshold applied by the Combined Authority. The 
proposed Counterparty criteria is appended to this report at Annex 2.2. 

 
 Within the framework detailed in Annex 2, it is proposed that at any one time 

up to 20% of investments will be retained in liquid instant access/ call 
accounts to ensure that there is adequate liquidity maintained to deal with 
unforeseen eventualities. 

 
Investment Strategy  
 
In-house funds.  Investments will be made with reference to the core balance 
and cash flow requirements and the outlook for short-term interest rates (i.e. 
rates for investments up to 12 months).  Greater returns are usually 
obtainable by investing for longer periods. While most cash balances are 
required in order to manage the ups and downs of cash flow where cash 
sums can be identified that could be invested for longer periods, the value to 
be obtained from longer term investments will be carefully assessed.  

 If it is thought that Bank Rate is likely to rise significantly within the time 
horizon being considered, then consideration will be given to keeping most 
investments as being short term or variable.  

 Conversely, if it is thought that Bank Rate is likely to fall within that time 
period, consideration will be given to locking in higher rates currently 
obtainable, for longer periods. 

Currently the Combined Authority does not engage any external Fund 
Managers to invest monies on its behalf, however this position will be 
periodically reviewed to establish whether this option provides any 
opportunities for diversification. Any such consideration will be made in 
conjunction with the Combined Authority‟s treasury advisors and subject 
approval by the Director of Corporate Services. 
 
Investment returns expectations 
 
The current forecast shown in paragraph 2.4.8 of the report, includes a 
forecast for a second increase in Bank Rate in June 2022, though it could 
come in February. 
 
The suggested budgeted investment earnings rates for returns on 
investments placed for periods up to about three months during each financial 
year, (based on the next increase in Bank Rate in quarter 1 of 2022/23), are 
as follows:  

Page 69



 

 
For its cash flow generated balances, the Combined Authority will seek to 
utilise its business reserve instant access and notice accounts and short-
dated deposits, in order to benefit from the compounding of interest.   
 
 
 

 
 
Policy on the use of External Service Providers 
 
The Combined Authority uses Link Group Treasury Services as its external 
treasury management advisors. Whilst the responsibility for treasury 
management decisions remains with the Combined Authority, the value in 
employing an external treasury provider is recognised as means by which it 
can acquire access to specialist skills and resources. Notwithstanding this the 
Combined Authority will ensure that there is no undue reliance on an external 
service provider. 
 
Reporting Arrangements 
 
The Combined Authority will receive reports on Treasury Management activity 
as a minimum at three points during the year: a forward looking strategy will 
be submitted for approval, a mid- year Strategy review and a year- end report 
which will consider outturn performance in light of the strategy set at the start 
of the year. 
 
  

Average earnings in each year Now Previously 

2022/23 0.50% 0.50% 

2023/24 0.75% 0.75% 

2024/25 1.00% 1.00% 

2025/26 1.25% 1.25% 

Long term later years 2.00% 2.00% 

 

Page 70



ANNEX 2.1 
 
SPECIFIED AND NON SPECIFIED INVESTMENTS 
 
Table 1 Specified Investments 
 

Investments Minimum Credit 
Rating 

Use 

Term deposits  UK banks and 
building societies 

See Annex 2.2 In house 

Term deposits – UK Government 
or Local Authorities 

High security although 
few local authorities 
are credit rated 

In house 

Call Account Facilities See Annex 2.2 In house 

Notice Account Facilities See Annex 2.2 In house 

Term Deposits – non UK banks 
and building societies 

See Annex 2.2 In house 

Debt Management Agency 
Deposit Facility 

UK Government 
backed 

In house 

Certificates of Deposit See Annex 2.2 In house 

Treasury Bills UK Government 
backed 

In house 

Money Market Funds AAA In house 

 
All Specified Investments must be sterling denominated and have maturities of up to 
1 year. 
  

Page 71



Table 2 Non Specified Investments 
 

Investments Minimum Credit 
Rating 

Use Maximum 
Duration 

Term deposits - UK banks and 
building societies (exceeding 365 
days) 

See Annex 2.2 In house 2 years 

Term deposits – UK Government 
or Local Authorities (exceeding 
365 days) 

High security 
although few 
local authorities 
are credit rated 

In house 2 years 

Term Deposits – non UK banks 
and building societies (exceeding 
365 days) 

See Annex 2.2 In house 2 years 

Certificates of Deposits  See Annex 2.2 In house – after 
consultation 
with Treasury 
Advisors 

2 years 

Callable Deposits See Annex 2.2 In house – after 
consultation 
with Treasury 
Advisors 

2 years 

Structured Deposits See Annex 2.2 In house – after 
consultation 
with Treasury 
Advisors 

2 years 

Forward Deposits See Annex 2.2 In house – after 
consultation 
with Treasury 
Advisors 

2 years in 
total 

 
  

Page 72



 
ANNEX 2.2 
 
COUNTERPARTY CRITERIA 
 
Counterparty 
Category 

Credit Rating 
Maximum Investment 
(£m) 

Maximum 
Duration 

 
Long 
Term 

Short Term Sovereign     

Treasury Bills * AA Rated 
£10m per investment 
(£80m in total) 

2 years 

Local Authorities, 
other Public Sector 
Bodies incl DMO * 

AA Rated 
£10m per LA, £50m per LA 
within the LCRCA (£150m 
total) 

2 years 

Part Nationalised 
Banks * 

See Below ** £70m 2 years 

Money Market Funds AAA Rated 
£10m per fund (£40m in 
total) 

On call 

Combined Authority 
Main Banker 

A 
F1/P1 and 
above 

AA- and 
above 

Up to a maximum of 
£200m 

On call 

Authorised 
institutions under the 
Banking Act 1987 
which hold suitable 
credit ratings 

A+ and 
above 

F1/P1 and 
above 

AA- and 
above 

£20m per investment 
(£80m total per institution 
or up to £100m for CA 
Main Banker) 

2 years 

A 
F1/P1 and 
above 

AA- and 
above 

£10m per investment 
(£40m total per institution) 

12 months 

Building Societies 

A and 
above 

F1/P1 and 
above 

AA- and 
above 

£10m per investment 
(£40m total per institution) 

12 months 

A- and 
above 

F1/P1 and 
above 

AA- and 
above 

£5m per investment (£20m 
in total) 

12 months 

 
*Government backed 
 
** Although the individual rating for the part nationalised banks fall below the criteria 
outlined above, due to the fact that they are part nationalised, as such these 
institutions take on the credit rating of the UK Government itself (UK Sovereign 
Rating AA-) as deposits are essentially being made with the UK Government itself. 
  

Page 73



ANNEX THREE 
 
THE CAPITAL PRUDENTIAL AND TREASURY INDICATORS 2022/23 – 2024/25 
 

 
 
  

Indicator Description

21/22 Outturn 

Estimate

22/23 Forward 

Estimate 

23/24 Forward 

Estimate 

24/25 Forward 

Estimate

Capital Spend (£m)

Proposed capital spend to 

which the Authority plans to 

commit 239.39 241.43 45.50 22.50

In year Requirement

Additional borrowing 

requirement for capital 

expenditure 87.19 87.63 15.00 15.00

Capital Financing 

Requirement (£m)

This is the aggregation of 

historic and cumulative 

capital expenditure which has 

yet to be paid for through 

either capital or revenue 

resources 538.84 624.15 628.68 633.04

Ratio Financing 

Cost to Income 

Stream

Identified the impact and 

trend of revenue costs of 

capital financing decisions on 

the revenue budget 10.87% 11.30% 19.94% 20.03%

Net Borrowing 

Requirement (£m)

Represents the net 

investments or borrowing 

requirement based on the 

debt and investments held 223.61 207.87 192.57 177.26

Authorised Limit for 

Borrowing (£m)

Represents the absolute limit 

of borrowing that could be 

raised and afforded in the 

short term however this is 

likely to be unsustainable in 

the long term 538.84 624.15 628.68 633.04

Operational Limit for 

Borrowing (£m)

Represents the level beyond 

which debt is not normally 

expected to exceed 474.27 529.26 527.85 526.31

Upper Limit for 

Fixed Interest Rate 

Exposure 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00%

Upper Limit for 

Variable Interest 

Rate Exposure 30.00% 30.00% 30.00% 30.00%

Gross Debt and the 

CFR (£m)

This indicator can highlight 

where an authority may be 

borrowing in advance of 

need 215.23 316.27 336.12 355.78

These limits seek to ensure 

that the Authority does not 

expose itself to an 

inappropriate level of interest 

rate risk

Page 74



ANNEX FOUR 
 
TREASURY MANAGEMENT SCHEME OF DELEGATION 
 
 

The Combined Authority 

 

 Approves the annual Treasury Management Strategy Statement; 

 Receives a mid year report and an outturn report on Treasury Management 

activity; 

 
The Director of Corporate Services 
 

 Draft and submit to the Combined Authority the Treasury Management 

Strategy Statement prior to the start of the financial year; 

 Implement and monitor these documents, 

 Draft and submit mid year and outturn reports to the Combined Authority for 

approval; 

 Maintain suitable Treasury Management Practices (TMP‟s) setting out the 

manner in which the Authority will seek to achieve its objectives. The TMP‟s 

will prescribe how the treasury activities will be managed and controlled; 

 Be responsible for the execution and administration of treasury management 

decisions; and 

 Act in accordance with the Council‟s Policy Statement and Treasury 

Management Practices, and also in accordance with CIPFA‟s Standard of 

Professional Practice on Treasury Management 

 
 
 
  

Page 75



ANNEX FIVE 
 
THE TREASURY MANAGEMENT ROLE OF THE SECTION 151/ 73 OFFICER 
 

The S151/73 (responsible) officer  

 recommending clauses, treasury management policy/practices for approval, 
reviewing the same regularly, and monitoring compliance; 

 submitting regular treasury management policy reports; 

 submitting budgets and budget variations; 

 receiving and reviewing management information reports; 

 reviewing the performance of the treasury management function; 

 ensuring the adequacy of treasury management resources and skills, and the 
effective division of responsibilities within the treasury management function; 

 ensuring the adequacy of internal audit, and liaising with external audit; 

 recommending the appointment of external service providers;  

 preparation of a capital strategy to include capital expenditure, capital 
financing, non-financial investments and treasury management, with a long 
term timeframe;  

 ensuring that the capital strategy is prudent, sustainable, affordable and 
prudent in the long term and provides value for money; 

 ensuring that due diligence has been carried out on all treasury and non-
financial investments and is in accordance with the risk appetite of the 
authority; 

 ensure that the authority has appropriate legal powers to undertake 
expenditure on non-financial assets and their financing; 

 ensuring the proportionality of all investments so that the authority does not 
undertake a level of investing which exposes the authority to an excessive 
level of risk compared to its financial resources; 

 ensuring that an adequate governance process is in place for the approval, 
monitoring and ongoing risk management of all non-financial investments and 
long term liabilities; 

 provision to members of a schedule of all non-treasury investments including 
material investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures, loans and financial 
guarantees;  

 ensuring that members are adequately informed and understand the risk 
exposures taken on by an authority; 

 ensuring that the authority has adequate expertise, either in house or 
externally provided, to carry out the above; 

 creation of Treasury Management Practices which specifically deal with how 
non-treasury investments will be carried out and managed, to include the 

 following: - 

o Risk management, including investment and risk management criteria for any 
material non-treasury investment portfolios; 

Page 76



o Performance measurement and management, including methodology and 

criteria for assessing the performance and success of non-treasury 

investments  

o Decision making, governance and organisation, including a statement of the 

governance requirements for decision making in relation to non-treasury 

investments; and arrangements to ensure that appropriate professional due 

diligence is carried out to support decision making. 

o Reporting and management information including where and how often 

monitoring reports are taken 

o Training and qualifications, including how the relevant knowledge and skills in 

relation to non-treasury investments will be arranged. 

 

Page 77



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX FIVE 
 

CAPITAL STRATEGY 2022/23 

1.0 Purpose 

1.0.1 The Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) requires 
all organisations operating under the Prudential Code for Capital Finance (the 
Prudential Code) to produce a capital strategy to demonstrate that capital 
expenditure and investment decisions are taken in line with organisational 
objectives, are affordable, take proper account of stewardship, sustainability, 
value for money and prudence. As an organisation that operates under the 
aegis of the Prudential Code, the Liverpool City Region Combined Authority 
(the Authority) is required to produce a capital strategy. 

1.0.2 The capital strategy provides a high level overview of how capital expenditure, 
capital financing and treasury management activity contribute to the 
achievement of the Authority’s priorities and service provision. It also provides 
an overview of how the associated risks are managed and the implications for 
future financial stability. The document provides an overview of the 
governance processes for approving and monitoring capital activity. 

1.1 Scope 

1.1.1 This capital strategy covers all capital expenditure and capital investment 
decisions for not only the Authority but also those entered into under group 
arrangements. As such this capital strategy applies to Merseytravel and its 
subsidiary companies. 

1.1.2 For expenditure to qualify as capital expenditure and therefore be under the 
scope of this document it must be: 

 Expenditure that is incurred on the acquisition or creation of a new asset or 
expenditure that enhances the life or value of an existing asset in accordance with 
relevant account standards; 

 Expenditure that meets one of the definitions specified in regulation made under the 
2003 Local Government Act; or 

 Expenditure for which a direction has been made by the Secretary of State that 
allows the expenditure to be treated as capital. 

1.2 Liverpool City Region Context 

1.2.1 The Combined Authority approved a corporate plan for the period 2021-2024 
on 23 July 2021. The plan sets out the purpose of the Combined Authority 
and vision for the City region.  This builds on previous consultation and 
engagement as part of both the Local Industrial Strategy and Economic 
Recovery plan and aligns it with the Metro Mayor’s manifesto.  The plan links 
the vision for the city region with five priority areas: 

 A fairer city region; 

Page 79



 A stronger city region; 

 A cleaner city region; 

 A connected city region; and 

 A vibrant city region. 

1.2.2 Key priorities are underpinned by a vision statement and a series of key 
deliverables central to the achievement of the overarching priorities. To help 
the Combined Authority deliver it is vital that there is a clear and coherent 
framework through which to make capital investment. At the CA level strategic 
investments will be driven by the Single Investment Strategy and associated 
assurance framework and the Key Route Network asset management plans. 
At the Merseytravel level, key strategies including the Tunnels, Bus 
Infrastructure, Ferries and Long Term Rail Strategies will help inform and 
shape capital requirements. 

1.3 Capital Expenditure 

1.3.1 Whilst at the Authority level, most investment interventions are focussed on 
supporting its growth strategy and devolution aims, below this level, 
Merseytravel which is the strategic transport advisory body and delivery arm, 
is responsible for the operation and maintenance of its and the Authority’s 
major transport assets. Whilst Merseytravel has recourse to some of its own 
resources to support investment, this ability is limited and most requests for 
funding are channelled up through the Authority. 

1.3.2 The size of the capital programme is influenced by the availability of funding 
sources and capital financing costs, including the availability of revenue 
resources to support the full implications of capital expenditure; both 
borrowing costs and running costs after any grant funding is applied. 

1.4 Funding Streams  

1.4.1 The Authority’s capital investment decisions can be funded from a number of 
sources, the key components of which are detailed below; 

 Government grants – this is the single largest source of capital funding received by 
the Authority. The key government grants received directly by the Authority include 
Transforming Cities Funding, transport funding from the Department for Transport 
and the Gain Share/ Investment Fund monies received in support of the Authority’s 
devolution agreement.  More recently the Combined Authority has been successful in 
securing monies as part of the City Region Sustainable Transport settlement.  The 
Authority has agreed with government to have a single pot approach to capital and 
the funds that form part of the Single Pot are governed by the Authority’s Single 
Investment framework. In addition, the Authority acts as the Accountable Body for the 
Local Growth Funds for which local agreement has been reached with the Growth 
Platform whereby these funds form part of the Single Investment Fund. Merseytravel 
is not a significant grant recipient in its own right and therefore grants to Merseytravel 
will flow via the CA, either as a result of work commissioned by the CA or as a result 
of a bid made by Merseytravel against the SIF. 

 Prudential borrowing – under the Prudential Code the Authority is permitted to 
determine its own borrowing requirement (which includes the need for borrowing that 

Page 80



may exist within Merseytravel), provided the borrowing proposed is affordable, 
prudent and cost effective. Whilst the Authority is governed by the Prudential 
Framework, in common with all other Mayoral Combined Authorities, the Authority 
has agreed a debt cap with HM Treasury which limits the absolute level of borrowing 
that can be incurred. Where this type of funding is applied there are revenue 
implications in the form of financing cost. 

 Reserves – both the Combined Authority and Merseytravel have recourse to specific 
reserves to support capital investment. Whilst the Authority has significant reserves 
that are earmarked for inclusion within the SIF, the current level of resources is not 
forecast to increase, rather they are on a downward trajectory as there has been a 
significant reliance on reserves to support the Merseytravel capital programme over 
the last couple of years and therefore these should be applied judiciously. 

 Revenue funding – the Authority is permitted to utilise revenue resources to fund 
capital schemes however given the limited availability of revenue funding more 
generally for the Authority it is not a significant source of capital funding and would 
normally be used to support specific smaller scale initiatives. The only area in which 
a significant and sustained use is made of revenue to support capital investment is in 
respect of the Mersey Tunnels whereby use of tolls is directed by statute. 

 Capital receipts – the Authority and Merseytravel are able to generate capital 
receipts through the sale of surplus assets, such as land and buildings. The use of 
such receipts is governed by statute and therefore must be used for capital 
investment, unless capitalisation directives are permitted. Both organisations hold 
limited levels of capital receipts and by virtue of the fact that both organisations hold 
significant infrastructure asset bases, their capacity to generate new receipts is 
constrained. To this end the first call on any capital receipts to support capital 
investment are for invest to save initiatives. 

1.5 Governance Arrangements 

1.5.1 The Strategic Investment Fund (SIF) manages the public funding that the 
Combined Authority receives following the devolution agreement agreed with 
government in 2015 and the Growth Deal Funds for which agreement has 
been reached with the Liverpool City Region Growth Platform for the Authority 
to manage these funds. 

1.5.2 The Combined Authority’s Strategic Investment Fund Strategy defines and 
outlines the Authority’s investment strategy for the SIF, including its principles 
and priorities, approval process and fund-recycling model. 

1.5.3 The core objective of the Investment Strategy is to ensure that investment 
made by the Combined Authority is most effectively targeted at interventions 
and opportunities that help deliver its strategic aims and help drive inclusive 
growth, social value, tackle market failure, maximise value for money and 
make a financial return into the SIF.  

1.5.4 The Investment Strategy clearly details the principles against which the SIF 
will operate and the economic sectors in which the region has a competitive 
advantage and which will drive future regional success. 

1.5.5 Overlaying the Investment Strategy is the SIF Assurance Framework, which 
has been designed to meet the requirements of the Single Pot Assurance 

Page 81



Guidance published by DLUHC and managed by HM Government’s Cities & 
Local Growth Unit. This document covers; 

 the context, scope and purpose of the assurance framework; 

 the governance structures of the Combined Authority, investment approach and 
transparency mechanisms that will apply to decision making; 

 the decision making procedures for funding; and 

 the approach to monitoring and evaluation. 

1.5.6 The process for making investment decisions through the SIF is as follows: 

 All projects are developed in conjunction with the Investment Team to ensure they 
have a mesh with the Authority’s Investment Strategy; 

 Projects are subject to development of business case in accordance with HM 
Treasury Green Book principles; 

 An internal panel of senior officers considers projects at outline stage. This group has 
a right of veto and may use this to refuse a project should they believe it would 
breach SIF governance and/ or run counter to good economic development policy; 

 Detail diligence will be undertaken on all projects and an external appraisal report will 
be completed; 

 The Investment Panel will conduct interim and final reviews of projects and provide 
advice  and commentary on the merits of a project to the Combined Authority and if 
necessary make recommendations for modifications; 

 Based on the recommendations of the Investment Panel, projects will be submitted to 
the Combined Authority for approval. 

1.5.7 Monitoring of delivery and outcomes is managed by the Corporate 
Programme Management Office who reports performance through to the 
Programme Delivery Board, which is comprised of senior officers within the 
Combined Authority and the Growth Platform. Dedicated finance resource 
exists to monitor SIF programme on an ongoing basis and feeds into the 
reporting rhythm. 

1.5.8 Monthly capital monitoring of spend is undertaken and reported through to 
Merseytravel and the CA respectively.  

1.5.9 Whilst all significant and major capital expenditure plans for the Authority are 
channelled through the SIF, Merseytravel separately has a requirement to 
invest in and maintain its asset base and the Mersey Tunnels, which it 
manages and operates on behalf of the Combined Authority. Maintenance 
programmes and investment requirements for Merseytravel assets are 
determined in parallel with the service and revenue budget planning process 
within the framework of the Medium Term Financial Plan. 

1.6 Long Term Capital Plans 

1.6.1 The table below shows the capital plans for both the Combined Authority and 
Merseytravel for the period through to 2024/25. 

Combined Authority Investment Plans 

Page 82



 

1.6.2 The table above reflects the Combined Authority’s investment decisions that 
have been ratified to December 2021 however there are a number of 
schemes within the pipeline at various stages of development. As these 
pipeline projects progress through to approval and funding agreement, the 
programme will be updated.  

 

The Combined Authority has been awarded monies as part of the City Region 
Sustainable Transport settlement, when this funding profile and potential 
schemes are confirmed, the capital programme plans will be updated 
accordingly. 

1.6.3 The main schemes are detailed in the Combined Authority and Merseytravel 
budget reports. 

1.7 Investments 

1.7.1 The Authority may undertake two distinct types of investment; treasury 
management investments and service/ commercial investments. 

1.7.2 Treasury management investment activity arises as a consequence of 
managing the organisation’s cashflows. For these investments, security and 
liquidity of investments are the primary considerations when making such 
decisions, ahead of any consideration of investment yield generated. Treasury 
management investments are governed by the Authority’s Treasury 
Management Policy and its Annual Investment Strategy. The Authority’s 
counterparty criteria provides a framework against which treasury investments 
are made. The approach is informed by the creditworthiness work undertaken 
by the Authority’s treasury advisors, Link Asset Services. 

1.7.3 Service or commercial investments by contrast are those investments made 
by an organisation outside of the day to day treasury management activity 
which could be either made in support of service provision, for example 
economic regeneration or commercial whereby the investments have been 
undertaken purely for the purpose of generating financial returns. 

2021/22 

Estimated 

Outturn

2022/23 

Estimate

2023/24 

Estimate

2024/25 

Estimate

£m £m £m £m

Combined Authority Group capital spend 239.39 211.43 30.50 7.50

Commercial activities/ non-financial investments 0.00 30.00 15.00 15.00

Total Capital Spend 239.39 241.43 45.50 22.50

Funded by:

Capital Grants -144.72 -143.45 -23.00 0.00

Other Contributions -7.48 -10.35 -7.50 -7.50

Borrowing -87.19 -87.63 -15.00 -15.00

Page 83



1.7.4 There is a regulatory and statutory recognition that organisations may make 
investments for policy reasons outside their treasury management activity. To 
ensure that all investment decisions are made in a structured an informed 
manner with due consideration to both the risks and rewards stemming from 
that decision, the CIPFA Treasury Management Code covers both types of 
investment. 

1.7.5 The Authority’s non-treasury investments are primarily aimed at supporting 
the organisation’s service objectives and the achievement of its devolution 
aims and such investments will naturally flow out of the SIF generated 
schemes. As stated above, the core objective of the Investment Strategy is to 
ensure that investment made by the Combined Authority is most effectively 
targeted at interventions and opportunities that help deliver its strategic aims 
and help drive inclusive growth, social value, tackle market failure, maximise 
value for money and make a financial return into the SIF.  

1.7.6 Whilst investments through the SIF will aim to ensure that there is a positive 
reflow, the key driver in these investments is not to generate a financial return 
to support the ongoing revenue budget for the Combined Authority but to 
ensure the continued viability of the investment fund. As the SIF is funded 
primarily through grant, it is pertinent to seek to maximise the benefits arising 
from investments flowing back to the Combined Authority thus allowing the 
fund to be more sustainable over the longer term. 

1.7.7 The Authority’s non-treasury investments will vary in shape, size and structure 
and will be tailored for each individual deal. In accordance with the 
governance framework outlined above, a significant level of work will be 
undertaken by the Investment Team to develop and shape deals and 
undertake necessary due diligence which will inform the commercial 
negotiation and inform the final deal. 

1.7.8 As all non-treasury investments will flow through the SIF process, the review, 
and scrutiny and ultimately approval process will be in accordance with the 
SIF Investment Strategy and SIF Assurance Framework. The governance 
arrangements around interventions funded through the SIF are detailed 
above. 

1.8 Treasury Management 

 Governance 

1.8.1 The Combined Authority has adopted the CIPFA Treasury Management in 
Public Sector Code of Practice and formally adopted a treasury management 
policy statement as part of its annual Treasury Management Strategy 
Statement, which was approved by the Combined Authority. 

1.8.2 Under the Local Government Act 2003 local authorities are permitted to 
determine their own programmes for capital investment and associated 
borrowing requirements, provided they have regard to CIPFA’s Prudential 
Code for Capital Financing in Local Authorities.  

Page 84



1.8.3 The objectives of the Prudential Code are to ensure that there is a clear 
framework for ensuring capital plans are affordable, prudent and sustainable 
and that treasury management decisions are taken in accordance with good 
professional practice. In support of the decision making process the 
Prudential Code sets out a number of prudential indicators that should support 
local decision making with regards to the Authority’s capital expenditure plans 
and it is the duty of the Director of Corporate Services (the Section 73 Officer) 
to ensure that this information is made available to support decision making 
by the Combined Authority. Key issues that should be considered are: 

 Strategic context; 

 Corporate priorities 

 Capital investment ambition 

 Available resources 

 Affordability; 

 Capacity to deliver; 

 Risk appetite 

 Risk management 

 And determining an appropriate split between non-financial and treasury 
management investments, in the context of ensuring the long-term financial 
sustainability of the authority. 

1.8.4 The requirements of the Local Government Act 2003 and the Prudential Code 
apply equally to the Combined Authority however; there is an additional 
requirement for Mayoral Combined Authorities to agree overall debt caps with 
HM Treasury. As such there is an additional dynamic for the Authority in 
considering prudence as any increases in the absolute need to borrow above 
the agreed cap, even if still affordable within the confines of the Prudential 
Code would, require approval of HM Treasury. 

1.8.5 The Combined Authority retains overall responsibility for review and approval 
of the annual Treasury Management Strategy, the midyear report and the 
outturn report. Day to day management of the Treasury Management function 
is delegated to the Director of Corporate Services. Details of the scheme of 
delegation are contained within the Authority’s Treasury Management 
Practices. 

 Affordability 

1.8.6 Fundamental to any assessment of the affordability of the Combined 
Authority’s capital plans is the extent to which the revenue costs associated 
with servicing new and existing debt can be sustained within the available 
budget. A significant proportion of the Authority’s capital plans relate to 
strategic investments through the Strategic Investment Fund which is 
essentially funded by grant. Whilst the Authority’s Investment Strategy does 
not preclude borrowing in support of this activity, this has not been factored 
into medium term plans and as such the requirement to borrow, within the 
debt cap agreed with HM Treasury focuses on the servicing of historic 
transport debt and other strategic investments in support of transport arising 
from its role as the Strategic Transport Authority. 

Page 85



 Prudence  

1.8.7 The Authority is required to make reasonable estimates of total capital 
expenditure that it plans to incur for the next and at least the following two 
years. The Prudential Code requires the Authority to ensure that all capital 
expenditure, investment and borrowing decisions are prudent and affordable 
and take account of the resources available to fund such schemes or the 
implications of borrowing to fund them. The aim is to ensure that requirement 
to repay borrowing is factored into the overall consideration of the 
organisation’s fiscal sustainability. 

1.8.8 In respect of the Authority’s external debt, there are two key indicators, which 
the Authority is required to complete for the forthcoming and two successive 
years; the Authorised Limit and Operational Boundary. The Authorised Limit 
represents the absolute maximum the Authority could borrow and therefore 
should not be varied during the year whereas the Operational Boundary 
should encompass all anticipated borrowing and in year use and should 
incorporate sufficient headroom for the Authority to satisfy in year 
requirements.  

1.8.9 The Authority’s Authorised Limit and Operational Boundary are detailed 
below. 

 

1.8.10 The Authority’s Treasury Management Strategy Statement, which is also 
forms part of the overall budget report, details the Authority’s borrowing and 
financing plans for its capital programme over the period through to 2024/25, 
its borrowing limits and debt repayment strategy. To avoid duplication of 
content the reader is referred to Appendix 1 for more detail. 

 Value for Money 

1.8.11 As detailed above a significant proportion of the Authority’s capital programme 
relates to the delivery of the strategic investment priorities detailed in the 
Authority’s Investment Strategy. All such capital expenditure is incurred on the 
back of a rigorous application, assessment and evaluation process as detailed 
in the Single Investment Framework. Funding provided through the SIF is 
essentially gap funding aimed at supporting strategic interventions. As the 
assessment and evaluation of all schemes through the SIF follow the 
principles of the HM Treasury Green Book, value for money is integral to the 
decision making process. 

1.9 Skills and Knowledge 

2022/23 2023/24 2024/25

£’m £’m £’m

Authorised Limit 624.15 628.68 633.04

Operational Boundary 529.26 527.85 526.31

Page 86



1.9.1 The Director of Corporate Services (Section 73 Officer) who is a Qualified 
Accountant has overall responsibility for the Authority’s Treasury Management 
activity and overall capital programme. The capital programme and treasury 
management strategy are managed by Qualified Accountants with specific 
day to day delegations to individual members within the Finance Team with 
extensive experience within these designated areas. Emphasis is placed on 
continuing professional development and staff are encouraged to attend 
events which help maintain current knowledge and understanding of sectoral 
developments. 

1.9.2 Commercial investment decisions are led by the Authority’s Investment Team. 
This is a multi-disciplinary team with significant experience in financial 
services and the structuring of corporate finance. This team also has access 
to a range of specialist advisory support from a specifically procured 
framework contract to access specialist advice as necessary. The team will 
work closely with the Finance and Legal teams to ensure that specific 
regulatory or legislative requirements are understood and adhere to prior to 
deals being closed. 

1.9.3 The Combined Authority has access to a range of advisors to assist in the 
operation of its treasury and investment activity. The Authority uses Link 
Asset Services as its external treasury management advisors.  The Authority 
recognises that responsibility for treasury management decisions remain with 
the organisation and seeks to ensure that undue reliance is not placed upon 
external service providers.  Notwithstanding this, the Authority recognises that 
there is value in employing external providers of treasury management 
services in order to acquire access to specialist skills and resources. The 
Investment Team has access to a range of specialist advisors through its 
framework, including Legal, Financial, sectoral specific advisors and 
economic appraisers who will be utilised as necessary for the purpose of 
supporting investment opportunities brought forward. 

 
 

 

 

Page 87



This page is intentionally left blank



LIVERPOOL CITY REGION COMBINED AUTHORITY 
 
 
To:  The Chair and Members of the LCR Overview and 

Scrutiny Committee 
 
Meeting:     20 January 2022 
 
Authority/Authorities Affected:  All 
 
EXEMPT/CONFIDENTIAL ITEM: No 
 
KEY DECISION   No 
 
 

REPORT OF THE EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR OF CORPORATE SERVICES 
 

CORPORATE PLAN 2021-24 
BIANNUAL / Q2 PERFORMANCE REPORT 2021-22 

 
 
1. PURPOSE OF REPORT 
 
1.1 The purpose of this report is to present an overview of performance for the 

Liverpool City Region Combined Authority Corporate Plan 2021-24 as at the end of  
Quarter 2 (July to September) 2021. This is part of the bi-annual cycle of strategic 
performance reporting.. 
 

1.2 The Quarterly Performance Monitoring Report includes the following elements: 
 

a) performance summary against the Corporate Plan Priorities upto the end of 
Quarter 2 2021/22 (30 September); and 

b) performance data for the Corporate Performance Measures to the end of 
Quarter 2 2021/22; 
 

 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
2.1 It is recommended that the Overview and Scrutiny Committee: 
 

a) note the contents of this report and 
b) make any requests for further information as required. 

 
 
3. BACKGROUND 
 
3.1 As members will be aware, the Combined Authority Corporate Plan for 2021-24 was 

agreed in July 2021 and set-out the strategic ambitions of the Combined Authority 
for this three-year period under 6 strategic headings – 5 focused Priorities and a 
Developing our Organisation supporting programme.  

 

Page 89

Agenda Item 5



3.2 Following its publication, the Corporate Performance and PMO Team developed 
and facilitated a process of engagement to identify and agree specific actions and 
commitments that each department in the Combined Authority was to deliver in 
support of delivering the Corporate Plan commitments. 

 
3.3 The Combined Authority Performance Management Framework is illustrated in 

Figure 1 and outlines the levels of management and responsibility with the 
Combined Authority from the Corporate Plan, to individual officer roles and 
repsonsibilities.  

 
Figure 1: The Performance Management Framework 2020/21 

 

 
 
3.4 Developing this performance report requires updates from Officers across the 

organisation on the delivery of actions that contribute to the Corporate Plan. The 
Corporate Performance and PMO Team use this information to engage with relevant 
teams, officers and Directors to assure the information provided is RAG rated, correct 
and appropriate. 

 
3.5 These updates and RAG ratings (which currently number over 500) are summarised to 

inform and overall , RAG rating for each Activity and Priority outlined in the Corporate 
Plan using the following key: 

 

RAG 
Rating 

Description 

Red Highly Problematic – Delivery at significant risk 

Amber Problematic – Delivery at risk but not significant 

Green 
Well Managed – No risk to delivery OR nearing 
completion/ delivery 

Blue Delivered/Completed  

Purple Abandoned or not being progressed 

 
3.6 Separately, output numerical data is measured using a similar RAG system but 

more focused on establishing the achievement of defined targets. As this can be 

Page 90



more focused around quantitative measurement the following RAG is used for 
Corporate Plan Outputs: 

 
RAG Assessment for Corporate Plan Output measures: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3.5 An overview of current performance of the delivery of the Corporate Plan Priorities is set 

out in  table 1 below alongside detail of the evidence utilised in establishing these overall 
ratings.  The overall RAG rating is established from the contributing actions and Activities 
performance data where either over 50% or the midpoint between the extremes is 
applied. This then undergoes a quantitative and quality check to include consideration of 
context and any broader influencing factors. 

 
 
4. PERFORMANCE AGAINST 2021/22 PRIORITY ACTIVITY AND MEASURES  

 
4.1 Full details of the data and information that contributes to the overall progress ratings of 

the Priorities can be found in the Appendix attached to this report but table 1 provides an 
overall summary 

 
Table 1 – Current Q2 Performance of Corporate Plan 2021-24 Priorites 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
                                     
                                           

                                          

Page 91



4.2 This summary progress against each Priority is presented below with further detail 
on the performance of the Activities contributing to their delivery. As we progress 
through the reporting process over the three years of the 2021-24 Corporate Plan, a 
trajectory and direction of travel will begin to be established and used to better 
observe and demonstrate performance progress. 

 
 
4.3 Below shows how the overall Priority performance ratings have been contructed 

from the performance of their contributing Activities with futher detail on each 
Activity being available in the appendix. 

 
 

P          - F I    GREEN 

 

Summ    P     ss Up     
 
LCRJobs.co.uk launched in September 2021. Skills and 
apprenticeship hub have engaged with 3810 learners, 908 
employers and 6932 vacancies posted on the 'Be More' 
portal. All AEB contracts have been issued and were in 
place for Academic Year 2021/22. Further engagement is 
required with LA’s regarding the evidence base for the 
Employment and skills projects pipeline. A 'Firestarters' 
event in was held in September 2021 regarding mental 
health activity with £480k secured to support voluntary 
and community sector to build capacity. 202 individuals 
being supported through Housing First. Business Case for 
Race Equality Hub approved, and funding secured. 
Overview of progress on equality strategy has been 
presented to O&S and will be presented to CA in January 
for formal review and request for approval. 
Overall progress is positive as is seen in the Activities being 
in mostly Green and some Amber. The majority of output 
data is progressing well or in-line with expectations and 
while Homelessness is not hitting targets, mitigating 
actions are in place to secure £4.5m additional funding to 
invest in 60-70 properties. Race Equality Programme is due 
to benefit from increased funding and agreed actions to 
improve output into 2022. A number of Activities should 
start to benefit from planning and strategic agreements 
developed in the first half of 2021-22. 

 
 
  

Page 92



 
 

P        2 - STRONGER GREEN 

 

Summ    P     ss Up     
 
Very good overall position against Activities and delivery of 
supporting actions. COVID recovery fund has progressed 
supporting people, businesses and visitor economy. Social 
Value Baseline will be available in Spring 2022. Community 
Bank priorities will be determined by Plan for Prosperity 
which is due for completion in the New Year. 2024 Outputs 
data in early stages but with figures already being 
established, presented and reviewed to ensure CA 
influence is properly reflected. 
Projects in excess of £75m from the COVID Recovery Fund 
have passed External Panel either as part of full application 
or pre-dev funding. Disbursement in excess of £150m this 
year end is forecast. The development of the Plan for 
Prosperity will drive the Community Wealth Building work. 
Event delivery plan for the Good Business Festival has been 
developed with the physical event on target to be 
delivered in March 2022. Work on LCR innovation logic 
model and metrics completed for the Innovation Project 
Pipeline with the asset and pipeline projects mapping 
exercise complete. AMION Consulting appointed to 
support development of Freeport business case. 

 
 

P        3 - CLEANER AMBER 

 
 

Summ    P     ss Up     
 
As with other Priorities, the start of the year focused on 
establishing strategic direction and agreement aligned with 
some resourcing challenges has meant most Activities 
resulting in Amber ratings.  
Climate evidence has been gathered internally for the Net 
Zero Carbon Plan and a draft 'Pathways to Net Zero' 
document has been developed which will provide a strong 
direction for this Priority overall. First 200 homes assessed 
for eligibility and measures under the Housing Retrofit 
programme and delivery starts in October 2021. The OBC 
for 53 and 86 under the Green Bus Routes project is in 
progress. Expression of Interest for the Hydrogen Bus 
project submitted to Government and the preferred 
vehicle manufacturer selected. The Development Business 

Page 93



Case for Phase 4 Consenting with funding of £30-70m for 
Mersey Tidal Project is in preparation but is subject to 
funding from CSR and awaiting national government’s 
policy position on tidal and potential funding options. 
Output data is not available for some measures currently 
as progress is expected later in the 2021-24 CA Plan 
delivery schedule. 

 
 

P        4 - CONNECTED GREEN 

 

Summ    P     ss Up     
 
High level design for the full-fibre network was completed 
in August and first build is underway. The scope of the new 
statutory LTP was shared with the LCRCA Transport 
Committee in July 2021 with the scope for a public facing 
'London Style Transport Plan' in development. The draft 
LTP4 'vision' document submitted to the Transport 
Committee in November 2021 ahead of wider engagement 
and consultation. All LA tickets transferred to SMART prior 
to new academic year. Bus Service Improvement Plan been 
developed and the CA approved BSIP in September 2021. 
Delivery of BSIP will replace Bus Alliance Business and 
Investment Plan 2022/23. Long Term Rail Strategy to be 
reviewed in 2022. Meetings held with DfT regarding 
devolution of transport infrastructure and revised 
Memorandum of Understanding has been submitted for 
approval. Scope is underway to complete asset 
management schedule for all Rail Assets. New Rolling Stock 
trains running in mixed traffic to allow testing. 2 units 
received; further 5 expected by end of 2021. Transforming 
Cities Fund is progressing well. Levelling Up Fund bid and 
City Region Sustainable Transport Settlements submitted 
and decisions are awaited. Bid for Active Travel Capital 
2021/22 has been submitted. Delivery of Active Travel 
Fund Tranche 2 cycle routes delayed due to stretched LA 
resources. Work progressing on Seacombe Pontoon. 
Procurement process for replacement of 2 Ferries has 
recommenced at Best and Final Offer with the closing date 
of 15 November 2021. A refreshed 10-year Tunnels 
Strategy programme has been established. Operational 
delivery performing well and output data in positive 
positions considering first half-year of the Corporate Plan. 

 

Page 94



 

P        5 - VIBRANT AMBER 

 
 

Summ    P     ss Up     
 
Full project list for the Brownfield Land Fund went to the 
CA Board in November 2021 to allocate the remaining 
£36m funds. Initial consultations completed and the call for 
private sector Brownfield Land Housing projects resulted in 
37 bids totalling over £75m. Town Funds awarded to St 
Helens and Birkenhead with business plans in progress by 
LA Boards. All action plans for Mayoral Towns Fund in 
delivery. The  LCRCA formal response to IPPR North-led LCR 
Town Centre Commission Report has been published and 
the action plan against the 23 recommendations and 3 
pilot project key recommendations are in train. Beatles 
Story’s phased return after COVID close down has been 
completed. Mersey Ferries activities programme is being 
developed. Discussions are ongoing with Eureka and work 
continues with Wirral MBC regarding Woodside. A 
simplified Cultural Compact Plan is being designed which 
will be ready at the end of the year. Non-statutory 
engagement on the Spatial Development Strategy is on 
target. Land Commission has been established and a 
reporting mechanism operational. 
All data sets showing steady progress toward their 2024 
targets. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Page 95



 
 

Developing our Organisation GREEN 

 

Summ    P     ss Up     
 
Positive overall programme with majority of activity on 
track. LJMU appointed to lead Leadership Development 
Programme which will launch in the New Year. Digital 
transformation scope and specification completed. 
Implementation of New Ways of Working continues with 
some delays to procure required equipment and 
technology impacting on programme. Development of 
equalities strategy in progress and new people strategy to 
be launched in the New Year. 

 

 
 
 
5. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 
 
5.1 Financial 
  Whilst there may be Financial issues as a result of the delivery of the Corporate 

Plan and its Priorities, there are no direct Financial implications as a consequence 
of the delivery of this performance report. 

 
5.2 Human Resources 
  Whilst there may be HR issues as a result of the delivery of the Corporate Plan and 

its Priorities, there are no direct HR implications as a consequence of the delivery of 
this performance report. However, depending on the feedback received, there may 
be HR issues that may need to be resolved to improve performance. 

 
5.3 Physical Assets 

Whilst there may be Physical Asset issues as a result of the delivery of the 
Corporate Plan and its Priorities, there are no direct Physical Asset implications as 
a consequence of the delivery of this performance report. 

 
5.4 Information Technology 

Whilst there may be IT issues as a result of the delivery of the Corporate Plan and 
its Priorities, there are no direct IT implications as a consequence of the delivery of 
this performance report. A new IT system being investigated to assist in the 
data/information collection and reporting but this will not be introduced for a number 
of quarter as the investigation process has only just begun. 
 

 
 
 

Page 96



6. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
6.1 There are no direct Legal implications as a consequence of the delivery of this 

performance report. 
 
 
7. RISKS AND MITIGATION 
 
7.1 While the report identifies a number of emerging risks to individual service 

performance, these are being managed within the 2021/22 current budget, service 
planning process and risk management process. 

 
7.2 There were no identified emerging risks that would require changes to overall 

budgets for 2021/22 or needed further consideration. Any risk related issues would 
be taken through the correct reporting and monitoring processes. 

 
 
8. EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY IMPLICATIONS 
 
8.1 There are no adverse implications arising directly from this report.  Any decisions 

and policies adopted or changed in the discharge of these priorities or activities will 
each be subject to an Equality Impact Assessment (EIA). 

 
 
9. PRIVACY IMPLICATIONS 

 

9.1 There are no adverse privacy implications arising directly from this report.  Any 
decisions and policies adopted or changed in the discharge of these priorities or 
activities which could result in a high risk to individuals will each be subject to a 
Data Protection Impact Assessment (DPIA) 

 
 
10. COMMUNICATION ISSUES 
 
10.1 Communications and Stakeholder issues will be considered as part of the delivery 

of each of the Corporate Priorities. 
 
 
11. CONCLUSION 
 
11.1 This report summarises performance in Quarter 2 of 2021/22 against the Corporate 

Plan Priorities and Output Measure supporting the application of effective evidence-
based management of resources and increased focus on the delivery of corporate 
priorities. 

 
11.2 Overall, progress is well on track or has already been completed during the year. 
 
11.3 Where there have been areas of underperformance against key strategic activities, 

actions have been put in place to address this and are summarised in the appendix. 
 
 
 

Page 97



JOHN FOGARTY 
Executive Director for Corporate Services 

 
 

Contact Officer(s): 
Dan McCafferty, Head of Programme Management and Corporate Performance, 
dan.mccafferty@liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk 
Stephen Littler, Corporate Performance Manager, 
Stephen.littler@liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk 
Jason Roberts, Implementation Officer 
Jason.roberts@liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk 
 
 
Appendices: 
Appendix One – LCRCA Plan 2021-24: Quarter 2 2021-22: CA Plan Performance  
 
Background Documents:  
LCR Combined Authority Meeting – 23 July 2021 - Liverpool City Region Combined 
Authority Corporate Plan 2021-2024 
Agenda for Liverpool City Region Combined Authority on Friday, 23rd July 2021, 1.00 pm 
| Liverpool City Region Combined Authority (merseytravel.gov.uk) 
 
 

Page 98

mailto:dan.mccafferty@liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk
mailto:Stephen.littler@liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk
mailto:Jason.roberts@liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk
https://moderngov.merseytravel.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=364&MId=7013
https://moderngov.merseytravel.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=364&MId=7013


LCRCA Plan 2021-24

1st Bi-Annual 2021-22
CA Plan Performance Report

Overview and Scrutiny Committee
January 2022

P
age 99



Liverpool City 

Region 

Combined 

Authority

Corporate Plan 

2021-2024

Developing our Organisation - also known as 'DoO’ - is an ambitious programme to transform Liverpool 

City Region Combined Authority. The aim is to create a modern and agile workplace which is not only a 

great place to work but makes sure we are set up to deliver on our vision and Corporate Plan 

priorities. We're working on projects which will develop our people, improve our processes and 

policies, and of course, engage and involve our staff.

P
age 100



Priority 1: A Fairer City Region

Over the 3 years 2021-24, this 

Priority is represented by 4 

Objectives, 13 Activities and 13 

Outputs that will be reported 

on bi-annually

G
re

e
n

9 A
m

b
e
r

4

R
e
d

0

B
lu

e

0 P
u
rp

le

0

N
u
ll 

0 G
re

e
n

47 A
m

b
e
r

20

R
e
d

6

B
lu

e

3 P
u
rp

le

4

N
u
ll 

0

Milestones

80

Total

Activities

13

Total

58.8%25.0%

7.5%

3.8%
5.0%

0.0%

69.2%

30.8%

0.0%

0.0%

0.0%

0.0%

P
age 101



Activity Updates

CA Plan Activity RAG Comments

A Young Person’s Guarantee G
LCRJobs.co.uk launched in September 2021 and all delivery plans for 2021/22 Academic Year agreed. However, further work is needed to engage 

BAME young people

Skills and apprenticeship hub G
£2m training fund divided into 18 lots which are out to tender. To the end of September, 3810 learners engaged, 908 employers engaged, and 

6932 vacancies posted on the 'Be More' portal 

Adult Education Budget G
All contracts have been issued and in place for Academic Year 2021/22. Reviews to framework and procurement to be carried out in December 

and April 

Households into work A
Employment advocates are working toward the goal of helping people into employment. Work on CRM progressing and funding for HiW was 

included in CA's CSR. 

Employment and skills projects 

pipeline
A

The pipeline evidence and priorities are currently under review. Further engagement is required with the LAs regarding the evidence base. 

Significant delay on the Community Renewal Fund award due to Government decisions.

Homelessness framework G

Commenced meetings with LAs and our Lived Experience Group. LA meetings to be completed in November and feedback will be included in the 

mapping exercise. The mapping exercise will review the activities already in place to respond to prevent and relieve homelessness in order 

for the framework to prioritise or target interventions to best effect.

City region approach to mental 

health
G

Mental health activity has focused on supporting a series of events to raise the profile and awareness including a 'Firestarters' event in 

September, with a further roundtable planned for November. £480k been secured to support voluntary and community sector to build capacity.

P
age 102



Activity Updates

CA Plan Activity RAG Comments

A food poverty reduction 

strategy
G

Slight delay on CA Declaration of Intent on food poverty reduction due to capacity issues.

Housing First G

216 individuals being supported but some service users are not yet in a position to progress tenancy request. A total of 21 

people were housed across October and November, a significant increase compared with previous months. Property supply continues to be 

a challenge, but this is being mitigated by exploring investment into a funding programme to buy an additional 60-70 properties across LCR in 

partnership with a social investment company (Resonance). This would use additional funding from the Rough Sleeping Accommodation 

Programme if our bid is successful. Local evaluation report on target for production in February 2022.

Funding opportunities for 

VCFSEs
A

Under way but discussions yet to be concluded

Digital inclusion A

CA approved In September 2021 £480k in CVS activity this year including an element into Digital Inclusion. VS6 developing delivery plan prior to CA 

approval. Research elements have been subsumed into pipeline work

A Race Equality programme G

Business case for Race Equality Hub approved in Q2 and phase one funding secured, development work will now take place to codesign services 

and establish the hub as an independent entity. Nia Black Business Hub Pilot is due to complete the action research and submit a final report in 

November 2021, this work will inform the actions we need to take to support Black, Asian and Minority Ethnic business across the region. A focus 

on internal work to support with diversifying the CA workforce has been ongoing , review of recruitment practices, improved outreach and 

engagement and positive cation work is underway. 

A new Equality Scheme G

Outline vision and objectives for schemes are currently in development, external consultation has taken place to identify priorities which will inform 

draft strategy. Training has been completed on equalities impact assessments and work is currently underway to embed this activity within the 

Combined Authority. Overview of progress on equality strategy has been presented to O&S and a report will be presented to the Combined 

Authority in January to consider the LCR CAs equality objectives.

P
age 103



2021-22 Quarter 2 Outputs Summary – Priority 1

Red Green Green Amber Green Green

107 Housed at 

the end of 

September 21

90%
No data available for this 

quarter
16 111 31

Green Green Green Green Green Green

45 (as of July 2021) 83 (as of July 2021) 56 (as of July 2021) 141

(Jul - Sept) 133 

employers have 

been engaged

(Jul - Sept) 846 

individuals 

have been 

trained

NB: Stated outputs are to be achieved by the end of the 2021-24 CA Plan

Green

Academic Year 2021/22 commenced on 1 

August 2021.  All contracts & delivery 

plans in place offering provision across 

the 15 Sector Subject Areas.  Grant 

funding agreements in place with 13 

Colleges and Local Authorities.  19 

Contract for Services in place with a range 

of procured providers for the final year of 

the current 3 year commissioning cycle.  

An additional 2 funding agreements in 

place with Colleges on the borders of LCR 

to meet learner demand

P
age 104



Priority 2: A Stronger City Region

Over the 3 years 2021-24, this 

Priority is represented by 4 

Objectives, 11 Activities and 11 

Outputs that will be reported on bi-

annually

G
re

e
n

9 A
m

b
e
r

2

R
e
d

0

B
lu

e

0 P
u
rp

le

0

N
u
ll 

0 G
re

e
n

49 A
m

b
e
r

21

R
e
d

0

B
lu

e

4 P
u
rp

le

2

N
u
ll 

0

Milestones

76

Total

Activities

11

Total

64.5%

27.6%

0.0%

5.3%
2.6%

0.0%

81.8%

18.2%

0.0%0.0%0.0%0.0%

P
age 105



Activity Updates

CA Plan Activity RAG Comments

£150m COVID Recovery Fund G

Projects in excess of £75m have passed External Panel either as part of full application or pre-dev funding with disbursement in excess of £150m 

this year end forecast. Project prioritisation substantially progressed in the people focussed recovery, business ecosystem and visitor economy 

sector. Place/Economic Infrastructure and green recovery are subject to further development.

Community Wealth Building G The development of the Plan for Prosperity will lead to Community Wealth Building work.

Fair Employment Charter A Applications for first aspiring employers and first accredited employers are being considered

Social Value Framework G
Social Value Baseline available by Spring 2022 with draft framework completed in September 2021. This has been tested and consultation is 

complete. Framework to be rolled out internally in early 2022. Methodology being developed for annual CA Social Impact Review.

Good Business Festival G
Event delivery plan developed with majority of content firmed up and aligned to festival objectives, including a series of Borough events in the run 

up to the main event in March. Delivery partner has developed a revised event plan. Physical event on target to be delivered in March 2022. 

260k sqft of commercial space G
Developments for funding and identification/source of funding ongoing but not all pipeline projects are capable of being approved by March 2022. 

Currently approved projects will be completed by March. All suitable I2F2 projects have been funded. 

P
age 106



Activity Updates

CA Plan Activity RAG Comments

New business ecosystem G
Stakeholder consultation complete. COVID and Brexit resilience programmes on track and now closed. Final round of Innovation Fund to be 

launched Jan-March 2022. Workshops held with key partners on co-development of business ecosystem. Strong pipeline continues. 

Pipeline of innovation projects G

Work on LCR innovation logic model and metrics completed. Innovation asset and pipeline projects mapping exercise complete. LCR Ventures 

approved by CA in July 2021 with projects commenced in October 2021. Master list of both £1.2B live and £2.8B (including Mersey Tidal) pipeline 

projects compiled and made available to stakeholders. 

Existing business support 

ecosystem
A

Evidence base almost complete and we are sharing with LA partners, including with growth directors on 7 December.

LCR Freeport Business Case G

AMION Consulting appointed to support development of Freeport Business Case. Meetings held and governance arrangements approved by 

MHCLG resulting in release of £300k initial revenue funding. Draft OBC signed off by CA in September 2021 in line with Government deadline. 

Deadline for FBC not yet released by Government. Freeport Management Board Chair appointed. First Board meeting taking place in October 2021.

Inward investment offer G
Programme of engagement activity in place. Mayoral delegation to Ireland postponed till Spring 2022. Proposal for Strategic Partnership with 

Hamburg agreed following liaison with British German Association with meeting scheduled for the end of October 2021.

P
age 107



2021-22 Quarter 2 Outputs Summary – Priority 2
NB: Stated outputs are to be achieved by the end of the 2021-24 CA Plan

Green Green No Data Green No Data No Data

393 business supported via 

Gather. 33 - BDO Resilience 

Funding. 35 - Future 

Innovation – 53 - Kindred

Pre-dev funding 118k 

Hemisphere. 45k sq ft Duke & 

Parr Scheme approved. 13k sq 

ft GFA signed for LSTM Project

101k sq ft Glass Futures 

project anticipated to be 

finalised October 21

15,040 sq ft Halsnead Phase 1 

and 140,000 sq ft Littlewoods 

Temporary Studios

Formal governance agreed but 

data not yet available

Work ongoing

Green No Data Green Green No Data

Overall allocation of £1m 

approved by HMG.                                                                                                             

First tranche of £300k for 2021/22 

received.

Measure to be reviewed 177 leads generated 177 leads generated by Q2. This is 

just under the half way target for 

achievement in 2022. 

Indirect measure and no data available but 

following projects assisting -

Freeport - Inward Investment Fund - CA 

Economic Infrastructure and Innovation 

Projects  - Hemisphere - LCR Health Ventures 

– UDF Data Centre – Digital Network -

Vynova

P
age 108



Priority 3: A Cleaner City Region

Over the 3 years 2021-24, this Priority 

is represented by 4 Objectives, 13 

Activities and 7 Outputs that will be 

reported on bi-annually

G
re

e
n

3 A
m

b
e
r

10

R
e
d

0

B
lu

e

0 P
u
rp

le

0

N
u
ll 

0 G
re

e
n

26 A
m

b
e
r

57

R
e
d

3

B
lu

e

8 P
u
rp

le

0

N
u
ll 

0

Milestones

94

Total

Activities

13

Total

27.7%

60.6%

3.2%

8.5%

0.0%
0.0%

23.1%

76.9%

0.0%

0.0%

0.0%

0.0%

P
age 109



Activity Updates

CA Plan Activity RAG Comments

Net-zero Carbon Plan 

(inc Air Quality Plan)
G

Climate evidence has been gathered internally and a draft 'Pathways to Net Zero' document has been developed that is scheduled to be considered at the 

January 2022 CA meeting. External engagement activity was delivered during the Summer with a launch of the document for early December 2021.

Housing retrofit 

programme
G

Dynamic Purchasing System (DPS) established and held first successful competition to deliver LAD2 retrofit activities in 5 LA areas (Sefton is delivering 

directly and other 5 LAs through the CA’s DPS). First 200 homes assessed for eligibility and measures. Delivery started in October 2021 and so far 59 homes have 

had completed retrofit. Housing Retrofit Programme Board established with monthly meetings. LAD3 and HUG1 bid submitted by August 2021 deadline for all 6 

LAs and announcement on 8th Dec that will be successful for an additional £28.5m SHDF bid submitted in October 2021 on behalf of 9 registered providers 

for the retrofit of an additional 1,200 homes.

Public Buildings 

Decarbonisation 

Pipeline

A

Awaiting Climate Action Plan for priorities and development of pipeline projects. Working with partners to understand pipeline and identify gaps. CA estate 

being reviewed to establish baselines and to establish scope of improvements.

Heat networks A
Activity slightly delayed and will be reviewed following publication of the Government's Heat Strategy. Case studies collated for COP26 information and 

methodology for pipeline of projects agreed with NW Energy Hub. A list of potential projects being developed.

Green Bus Routes A

The project has been reprogrammed and agreed at operational board and the project team are working towards the new programme. The initial Phase 1 

approval paper is due to go to Combined Authority in January and work should commence Q4 2021/22.  The brief to appoint a consultant to support the 86/53 

Green Bus Route is due to go out before Christmas 

Hydrogen Bus Project A

The first 20 buses in the HyBus project are advancing well with final lease discussions between LCR and the operators in the process of concluding with the 

contract award to ADL is likely in December. Progress on the refuelling facility has been slightly slower with a desire for a future pathway to clean green 

hydrogen that is fit for not only the first 20 buses, but also the additional potential 20+ buses that could follow. Operators are leading on the refuelling 

procurement but have been delayed due to resource issues. An EOI has been submitted to Government under the ZEBRA (zero emission bus regional areas) 

funding scheme for the additional 20+ buses and this has moved to the business case stage. We potentially have a strong bid under consideration and expect a 

decision in Spring 2022.

P
age 110



Activity Updates

CA Plan Activity RAG Comments

Mersey Tidal Project 

Business Case
A

The Development Business Case for Phase 4 Consenting with funding of £30-70m has been drafted but no direct funding was secured in 2021 CSR. We have 

responded to national government consultation on Tidal Range policy which proposes Tidal range as part of an urgent need, in relation to low carbon 

electricity. Environmental Survey Advisor appointed and initial wintering bird surveys commenced. The schedule of activity for 2022 is under review and the 

Plan for a FBC in 2024/25 relies on timely commencement of Phase 4, which is now at risk.

Municipal energy 

company
A

The consideration of an Municipal Energy Company that would offer green electricity is currently on hold until we better understand the risk and benefit of 

creating an entity in the Retail electricity market. The current volatility in energy market prices has seen multiple Companies fail and led to their Customers 

being transferred to Other utilities, and in the recent case of Bulb, the Government have stepped in. 

Green infrastructure 

projects
A

There is ongoing monitoring of CEF projects to identify and measure impact. Initial discussions have been held with LA Environment Officers and further work 

is required to focus on infrastructure. Evidence base is being developed.

Electric vehicle 

charging points
A

Overseen by Virtual Energy Group and part of Net Zero Pathways document development. Further work required to inform EV charging point activities.

Local vehicle 

scrappage scheme
A

Activity delayed due to resourcing challenges and the delayed publication of the Government's Net Zero Plan.

Production / storage / 

utilisation of 

hydrogen

A

Initial activity within wider pathways modelling. Working with Hynet and further activity to be incorporated within next phase of Net Zero planning

Green jobs G
Refreshed LCR Skills for Growth Action Plan commissioned. Initial draft being reviewed. Desktop review being undertaken by Virtual Energy Group. Working 

with Skills teams to understand evidence base priorities. Priorities will follow from Climate Action Plan.

P
age 111



2021-22 Quarter 2 Outputs Summary – Priority 3

Amber Green Green

133 boilers installed
No data for this 

quarter

None operating but 

procurement process 

completed

No data for this quarter
No data for this 

quarter

No data for this 

quarter

Promoted Future Homes 

Standard through private sector 

call for housing projects under 

Brownfield Land call in July 2021.

NB: Stated outputs are to be achieved by the end of the 2021-24 CA Plan

P
age 112



Priority 4: A Connected City Region

Over the 3 years 2021-24, this Priority is 

represented by 3 Objectives, 13 Activities 

and 6 Outputs that will be reported on bi-

annually

G
re

e
n

7 A
m

b
e
r

6

R
e
d

0

B
lu

e

0 P
u
rp

le

0

N
u
ll 

0 G
re

e
n

58 A
m

b
e
r

40

R
e
d

8

B
lu

e

10 P
u
rp

le

1

N
u
ll 

0

Milestones

117

Total

Activities

13

Total
49.6%

34.2%

6.8%

8.5%

0.9%
0.0%

53.8%

46.2%

0.0%

0.0%

0.0%

0.0%

P
age 113



Activity Updates

CA Plan Activity RAG Comments

212km full-fibre network 

and City Region Digital 

Strategy
G

Streetworks are now underway in all six boroughs.   10kms of civils have been completed, and 32km of non-invasive PIA installations (Physical 

Infrastructure Access, i.e. deploying fibre cable through existing Openreach ducts), which is ahead of plan.  Delivery team are working hard on liaison 

with LA Streetworks officers to manage plans & permitting applications.  Employment & skills opportunities being progressed.

London Style Transport 

Plan
A

This will be a short, public facing summary of existing transport policy and delivery priorities.  The structure for the document has been developed and is 

being populated across the Policy, Strategy and Government Relations, the Mayor’s Office and the Communications teams.   The publication of the 

document is intended to coincide with consideration of bus reform options by the Combined Authority, that is expected to be in March 2022.

Smart Ticketing System inc 

Digitalising concessionary 

travel

G

All LA tickets transferred to SMART prior to new academic year. Video and FAQ produced. Works to upgrade portal progressing and Mobile Ticketing App 

being scoped with meeting held with suppliers to commence development. Tap and Go solution initial scoping discussions underway. Governance review 

of SMART Ticketing programme complete and proposals with transport operators for approval.

Bus Service Improvement 

Plan
G

BSIP completed, approved and submitted to DfT within specified deadline. It has been agreed that delivery of BSIP will replace Bus Alliance Business and 

Investment Plan 2022/23. There is a lack of capital funding available but more will be known early 2022.

Merseyrail for All 

programme
G

The LCR Long Term Rail Strategy is to be reviewed in 2022. A process has been developed to assess the future viability of new stations in the LCR using a 

Station Assessment tool,  with procurement process to start in Q3 2022. Work is underway to consider the best approach to  develop TramTrain concept. 

All required business cases are to be developed and completed.

Local Transport Plan G

Transport Committee has endorsed a draft 2040 vision document for the next statutory Local Transport Plan.  This will be subject to public consultation 

in the New Year of 2022.  Economic scenarios were commissioned over Q2, and will inform transport scenarios to seek to understand the impact of 

growth and change across the city region in transport terms.  This will inform a preferred strategy that is scheduled to be developed, presented to 

Transport Committee and opened to further public consultation in summer 2022.

Tunnels strategy G
A refreshed 10 year programme has been established. Video tolling project progressing well and it is anticipated to go live in November 2021 and 

automatic vehicle classification system will follow. Redevelopment of plazas will take place over the coming years.

P
age 114



Activity Updates

CA Plan Activity RAG Comments

Devolution of transport 

Infrastructure
A

Meetings continue to be held with the Department for Transport to agree a revised Memorandum of Uunderstanding. The MoU includes governance 

principles and embedding of LCR in the creation of Great British Railways (GBR).  This Strategic OBC and OBC for transfer of rail infrastructure part of 

discussions including funding provision. Publication of Integrated Rail Plan has delayed progress. Scope is underway to complete an asset management 

schedule for all Rail Assets.

Rolling Stock programme A

Transition arrangements are established but a decision on the on-board staffing arrangements is required and negotiations between Merseyrail and the 

Trade Union have recommenced. Testing and commissioning is almost complete and trains are running in mixed traffic to achieve necessary mileage 

accumulation before Acceptance. 5 units now Accepted with further 2 expected by end of 2021. Contractors have mobilised on the Train Lengthening 

project. . The Connectivity project is expected to complete before entry into service on each route despite challenges. Train Lengthening works will 

commence on site imminently. Power Supply Upgrade project expected to be substantially complete by the end of 2021. Contractors have mobilised at 

Birkenhead North to build the train wash plant. 

£172.5m Transforming 

Cities Fund
A

Planning permission secured for Headbolt Lane, delivery due to start in Jan-22. Battery train trial (IPEMU) complete and Runcorn Station Quarter TCF 

funding disbursed. Delivery of some projects will extend beyond funding deadline into City Region Sustainable Transport Settlements programme. 

Government aware of position via CRSTS submission.

£350m capital transport 

pipeline
G

Successful Levelling Up Fund bid (£40m) and City Region Sustainable Transport Settlements (£710m). Preparation of programme wide business case 

underway for January 14th submission. Highways Maintenance and Key Route network Programme being progressed for March CA.

Cycling and Walking 

Infrastructure
A

Following the submission of a bid for £12.3m capital for 2022/23 to DfT in August 2021 the LCRCA are still waiting for approval which we are informed will 

be before the end of the calendar year. Significant investment highlighted as a 4 year programme for active travel in the LCR was also submitted as part of 

the City Region Sustainable Transport Settlements.

Projects supported by Pipeline 1 development funding are now progressing e.g. a LCR Wayfinding Strategy, a Cycle Storage strategy. Active Travel Fund 

Tranche 1 & 2 schemes continue to be delivered by the constituent local authorities. The capacity for the KRN and Active Travel Team need strengthening.

Mersey Ferry Strategy A

Work is progressing on Seacombe Pontoon and link span bridges, with a delay to programme. Prolonged procurement of technical and maintenance 

support may impact upon operation of vessels. Major intervention in respect of Mersey Ferries vessels are being explored. Work continues with Wirral 

colleagues regarding development of Woodside. Work is well underway to support Eureka Mersey! in their new attraction at Seacombe.

P
age 115



2021-22 Quarter 2 Outputs Summary – Priority 4
NB: Stated outputs are to be achieved by the end of the 2021-24 CA Plan

Green Amber Amber Green Green Green

4km of civils build completed

14km of PIA (physical 

infrastructure access) 

completed

44 of the new fleet 

having been completed.  

Of the remaining 9, 7 

are to be converted to 

become the IPEMUs 

(battery powered)

Liverpool St James – GREEN

Headbolt Lane - AMBER

20 projects awarded 

development funding

•Headbolt Lane Rail Station 

•IPEMU 

• Battery train trials 

• Hydrogen Buses  

• LCR Walking Cycling 

network – Phase 2 

• LCR Smart Ticketing

City Region Sustainable 

Transport Settlement 

(CRSTS) bid presented to 

DfT on 20th September 

P
age 116



Priority 5: A Vibrant City Region

Over the 3 years 2021-24, this Priority is 

represented by 3 Objectives, 9 Activities

and 5 Outputs that will be reported on 

bi-annually

G
re

e
n

4 A
m

b
e
r

5

R
e
d

0

B
lu

e

0 P
u
rp

le

0

N
u
ll 

0 G
re

e
n

29 A
m

b
e
r

16

R
e
d

1

B
lu

e

2 P
u
rp

le

0

N
u
ll 

0

Milestones

48

Total

Activities

9

Total

60.4%

33.3%

2.1%

4.2%

0.0%
0.0%

44.4%

55.6%

0.0%

0.0%

0.0%

0.0%

P
age 117



Activity Updates

CA Plan Activity RAG Comments

Brownfield Land Fund A

Full project list to be approved by CA at November 2021 meeting to allocate the remaining £36m funds. Initial consultations completed. Call for 

private sector Brownfield Land Housing projects resulted in 37 bids totalling over £75m. Shortlist approved by Internal Panel. We had an original 

spend profile of £23m for this financial year based on £17m spend on festival gardens, but we were unable to use Brownfield Land Fund because it 

would be double counting given Homes England are also investing and counting the housing outputs. We are discussing a revised profile for this 

financial year, likely to be £124m. Continuing to work with Homes England on potential projects for the Land and Infrastructure Fund.

Town Centre Place-Making A
Town Funds awarded to St Helens and Birkenhead. Business plans in progress by LA Boards. All action plans for Mayoral Towns Fund in delivery with 

some COVID related delays so extended to March 2022. Spend on track. Southport Events Centre and Bootle Area Action Plan on track.

Town Centres Commission pilot 

projects
A

Published CA formal response to IPPR North-led LCR Town Centre Commission Report. The action plan against 23 recommendations and 3 pilot 

project key recommendations are in train. Monitoring framework being developed.

Visitor attractions in our 

ownership
G

Beatles Story phased return completed and attraction operating with only minor restrictions in place. Mersey Ferries programme postponed until 

2022. We continue to work in partnership with Wirral Council colleagues towards a wider Woodside regeneration scheme which includes the Ferry 

terminal and services.

Cultural Compact Plan A
A simplified Compact is being designed which will be ready at the end of the year. Delays with delivery of LCR Music Industry Development Pilot due 

to LCC legal/agreement processes. International Student Welcome project underway.

P
age 118



Activity Updates

CA Plan Activity
RA

G
Comments

Visitor Economy Recovery 

Strategy KMc
G

Beatles Story returned to full capacity in July 2021 . Mersey Ferries events programme being developed. Discussions ongoing with Eureka regarding 

promotion. Work continues with Wirral Colleagues regarding development of Woodside Terminal. Destination Marketing business case approved at 

CA. Marketing activities commenced

Spatial Development Strategy 

KMc
A

Non-statutory engagement on target. Submission of SDS will be Summer 2023

LCR brand strategy KMc G

MM met Irish Ambassador Consul General in July 2021. Follow up meeting with officers took place in September. Mission to Ireland will now 

scheduled to take place March 2022. Planning underway with GMCA to agree programme. Detailed proposal for strategic relationship with 

Hamburg complete.

Public land assets and Land 

Commission
G

Land Commission established and reporting mechanism is through H&SPB. Initial evaluation of CLEs report completed.

P
age 119



2021-22 Quarter 2 Outputs Summary – Priority 5
NB: Stated outputs are to be achieved by the end of the 2021-24 CA Plan

Amber Amber Amber Amber

£9.2m spend in year 1 

(20/21)

No new schemes approved 

in this time but as above 

948 homes being enabled

CA-owned assets

Ferries 2021:

148,084 passengers

Beatles Story 2021:

46,410 visitors

Spend to date:

Mayoral Town Centres           

£1,258,561

Shakespeare Playhouse     

£6,710,655

Bootle AAP                                    

£5,065

Southport TCC                            

£6,510

Total: £7,980,791

Amber

• Generations for Change Young 

Creatives (AMBER)

• Partnership with Liverpool Echo 

(GREEN)

• International Student Welcome Pilot 

(AMBER)

• Talent Development (Music Industry 

focus) (AMBER)

• Engagement in careers IAG (Music 

industry focused) (AMBER)

• Music industry businesses support 

(AMBER)

• Commercial floorspace delivered for 

Music Industry (BLUE)

• Educational floorspace delivered for 

Music Industry (BLUE)

P
age 120



Over the 3 years 2021-24, this Project is 

represented by 8 Activities and

37 Actions/Milestones

Developing our Organisation (DoO) 

G
re

e
n

6 A
m

b
e
r

2

R
e
d

0

B
lu

e

0 P
u
rp

le

0

N
u
ll 

0 G
re

e
n

30 A
m

b
e
r

6

R
e
d

1

B
lu

e

- P
u
rp

le

-

N
u
ll 

0

Activities Actions/Milestones

37

Total

8

Total

81.1%

16.2%

2.7%0.0% 0.0%
0.0%

75.0%

25.0%

0.0%0.0%

0.0%

0.0%

P
age 121



Workstreams RAG Comments

1. Embed a whole systems 

approach
G

3 Actions Green. Scope to be developed in partnership with Local Authorities in the New Year. 

2. Enhance our approach to 

stakeholder engagement
G

4 Actions Green. Portfolio briefings established and approach to portfolio boards approved at September CA. New Customer Relationship 

Management system is in place with next stages of development to be reviewed. 

3. Develop and implement a 

new People Strategy
G

7 Actions – 6 Green / 1 Amber. Consultation completed to develop a new people strategy for the LCR CA which will be launched in the New 

Year to all employees. Health and Safety Policy approved.

4. Deliver a New Ways of 

Working programme
A

5 Actions – 2 Green / 2 Amber / 1 Red. New Ways of Working activity continues to progress with Hybrid Leadership workshops completed in 

September and October. Work progresses to secure space booking system and video conferencing equipment. Pilot for new office layout will 

be completed in January and employees will be invited to visit and use the space to gather feedback prior to further rollout. Continued social 

distancing may impact on the phased implementation of hybrid working arrangements in offices.

Developing our Organisation (DoO)

Activity Updates

P
age 122



Workstreams RAG Comments

5. Deliver a leadership 

development programme
G

5 Actions – 3 Green / 1 Amber. New Leadership Charter launched and Management Essentials training in development to equip senior managers 

and leaders with the required skills. Leadership programme launched in partnership with Liverpool John Moore's University, the programme will 

be delivered from January to June 2022. Team leader and aspiring leader development will commence in the New Year.

6. Approach to performance and 

programme delivery
G

3 Actions – 2 Green / 1 Amber. Programme Boards being piloted in Housing and Transport to be concluded early 2022. Associated reporting and 

governance arrangements to be considered in rollout plans. Project plan for procurement of IT based corporate performance management 

system drafted.

7. Implement an internal and 

external communications 

strategy

G

Communications strategy developed and agreed by Executive Leadership Team. Action plan in place to respond to employee survey results with 

further survey planned in February to review progress of actions.

8. Implement a refreshed IT 

strategy
G

10 Actions - all green. Undertaking full review of all IT applications, services and infrastructure alongside current and future organisational 

requirements.

Developing our Organisation (DoO)

Activity Updates

P
age 123



T
his page is intentionally left blank



LIVERPOOL CITY REGION COMBINED AUTHORITY 
 
 
To:      The Chair and Members of the LCR Overview and  
     Scrutiny Committee  
 
Meeting:     20 January 2022 
 
Authority/Authorities Affected:  All 
 
EXEMPT/CONFIDENTIAL ITEM: No 
 
 

REPORT OF THE CHIEF LEGAL AND MONITORING OFFICER  
 

APPOINTMENT OF SUBSTITUTE SCRUTINY MEMBER TO THE AUDIT AND 
GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE 2021/22 

 
 
1. PURPOSE OF REPORT 
 
1.1 To seek a nomination from the Committee for a Liberal Democrat Councillor to sit 

as a substitute Member on the Combined Authority’s Audit and Governance 
Committee for the remainder of 2021/22. This Committee, requires the appointment 
of two Labour Councillors, one Liberal Democrat Councillor and one Conservative 
Councillor and to appoint substitute members on the same basis.   

 
 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
2.1 It is recommended that the Liverpool City Region Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

appoints a Liberal Democrat Councillor to act as a substitute member on the Audit 
and Governance Committee for 2021/22.  
 

 
3. BACKGROUND 
 

Membership of the Audit and Governance Committee 
 
3.1 The Audit and Governance Committee is composed of 8 Members as follows: 
 

 6 elected Councillors which are drawn from both the Combined Authority and 
the Overview and Scrutiny Committee; and  
 

 2 Independent Members. 
 
3.2 The Combined Authority at its annual meeting agreed the allocation of seats to its 

various Committees. Of the six seats allocated to Members for the Audit and 
Governance Committee, two are allocated to Members of the Combined Authority.  
These appointments have been confirmed as Councillors Graham Morgan and Mike 
Wharton (substituted by Councillors Ian Maher and David Baines should that prove 
necessary).  The remaining four seats are allocated to Members of the Overview 

Page 125

Agenda Item 6



and Scrutiny Committee. Likewise any substitutes are similarly drawn from 
Overview and Scrutiny members.  In order to ensure political balance across the 
City Region there are two seats allocated for Labour Party members and one each 
for the Liberal Democrat and Conservative Party members. 

 
3.3 At the Meeting of the  Overview and Scrutiny Committee on 14 July 2021 the 

following Members were appointed to the  Audit and Governance Committee: 
 
Members 
 
Labour – Councillors Edna Finneran and James Hansen 
Liberal Democrat – Councillor Pat Moloney 
Conservative – Councillor David Burgess-Joyce 
 
Substitute Members 
 
Labour – Councillors Christine Howard and John Morgan 
Liberal Democrat – Councillor Michael Haw 
 Conservative – Councillor Sir Ron Watson CBE 

 
3.4 Notification was received on 11 November 2021 from St Helens Council that 

Councillor Michael Haw had resigned from the  Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
and nominated Councillor Geoff Pearl to fill the vacancy.  This appointment was 
ratified at the meeting of the  Combined Authority on 26 November 2021.  As a 
result of this change a replacement substitute Liberal Democrat Councillor needs to 
be appointed to the Membership of the  Audit and Governance Committee. 
 

 
4. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 
 
4.1 Financial 
 
  There are no financial issues arising from this report.  
 
4.2 Human Resources 
 
  There are no human resource issues arising from this report.  
 
4.3 Physical Assets 
 
 There are no physical asset issues arising as a consequence of this report.  
 
4.4 Information Technology 
 
 There are no Information Technology issues arising from this report.  
  

Page 126



5. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS  
 
5.1 The Audit and Governance Committee is a key component in the Combined 

Authority’s Corporate Governance arrangements.   The Committee membership 
has to be constituted in accordance with the governance arrangements set out in 
the Liverpool City Region Combined Authority Constitution and any other 
appropriate legislation.  This is to ensure that the Audit and Governance Committee 
can effectively carry out its purpose and functions as set out in its Terms of 
Reference. 

 
 
6.  RISKS AND MITIGATION 
 
6.1 There is a risk that should the appointments to the Audit and Governance 

Committee 2021/22 not be made this would be detrimental to the principle of good 
governance for the  Combined Authority.  

 
 
7.  EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY IMPLICATIONS 
 
7.1 There are no direct equality and diversity implications as a result of this report.  
 
 
8. PRIVACY IMPLICATIONS  
 
8.1 There are no specific privacy implications associated with is report.  
 
 
9.  COMMUNICATION ISSUES 
 
9.1 There are no direct communication issues arising from this report.  
 
 
10.  CONCLUSION 
 
10.1 It is anticipated that the proposed appointment will support the operation of the 

Audit and Governance Committee 2021/22. Once the substitute Member has been 
appointed, arrangements will be made for appropriate training, if required. 

 
 

JILL COULE  
Chief Legal and Monitoring Officer  

 
Contact Officer(s): 
Trudy Bedford, Democratic Services Manager (0151 330 1330) 
Lisa Backstrom, Senior Democratic Services Officer (0151 330 1079) 
 
Background Documents:  
None  
 
 

Page 127



This page is intentionally left blank



LIVERPOOL CITY REGION COMBINED AUTHORITY 
 
 
To:      The Chair and Members of the Overview and Scrutiny 
     Committee  
 
Meeting:     20 January 2021 
 
Authority/Authorities Affected:  ALL 
 
EXEMPT/CONFIDENTIAL ITEM: No 
 
 
REPORT OF THE EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR OF POLICY, STRATEGY & GOVERNMENT 

RELATIONS 
 
 

LIVERPOOL CITY REGION PATHWAY TO NET ZERO – OVERVIEW AND PROGRESS 
UPDATE 

 
 
1. PURPOSE OF REPORT 
 
1.1 This report provides an update on progress to address the Climate Emergency 

declared by the Combined Authority in 2019 and highlights key activities 
undertaken. The production of a net zero carbon pathway and action plan is one of 
the key objectives of the Corporate Plan (Priority 3: A Cleaner City Region). This 
reports sets out the progress on meeting this objective and proposed next steps.   

 
 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
2.1 It is recommended that the Overview and Scrutiny Committee: 
 

(a) Note the progress made to achieve the climate commitments of the Combined 
Authority, with particular reference to the Corporate Plan objective to create a 
net zero carbon pathway and action plan; 

(b) Recognise and support the need for collective action needed, referenced 
throughout the report on reducing net carbon emissions by all partners and 
communities across the Liverpool City Region, and; 

(c) Support the Combined Authority’s proposal to develop a Year 2-5 Climate Action 
Plan that recognises the contribution of all stakeholders. 

 
 
3. BACKGROUND 
 
3.1 Under the leadership of Metro Mayor Steve Rotheram, the Liverpool City Region 

became the first Combined Authority in the country to formally declare a climate 
emergency and set the ambitious target to achieve net zero carbon by 2040 or 
sooner – at least a decade ahead of national targets. Since 2005, carbon emissions 
have dropped by 40% but there is still a need for rapid collective action to achieve 
the net zero target. 

Page 129

Agenda Item 7



3.2 Liverpool City Region Combined Authority’s Corporate Plan 2021-2024 includes five 
themes that will structure work programmes and resource allocation over this 
period. The ‘Cleaner’ Priority theme focusses on objectives and actions to move 
towards becoming a net zero carbon city region. 

 

 
 
3.3 The first step in a phased approach to delivering net zero carbon ambitions was to 

produce a Year One Climate Action Plan 2021-2022, which was approved by the 
Combined Authority in March 20211. This document ensured that the opportunities 
for early action were not missed whilst laying the foundations for the longer term. 

 
3.4 To develop a pathway to achieve net zero carbon across the city region, a multi-

stranded public engagement was undertaken from June to September 2021. The 
engagement aimed to understand how people felt about the net zero carbon vision, 
what benefits they felt these changes may bring to their lives, and any concerns or 
worries they had. A separate youth survey was also conducted to focus on the 
views of young people who will be adults by the time that the net zero carbon goal is 
achieved.  

 
3.5 Full reports of the engagement insights are available and have also been shared 

with local authority colleagues to help inform their work. The engagement showed 
that whilst over 80% of respondents agreed that action needs to be taken on climate 
and carbon emissions, only half understood how they could take action to 
contribute. In addition, some people had concerns about what climate action would 
mean for their jobs, lifestyle and prosperity. The Pathway to Net Zero document has 
therefore been designed to engage all members of the community in the journey to 
net zero carbon, by encouraging a broad understanding of the collective action 
needed. 

 
3.6 The document has been greatly supported by the advice of the LCR Climate 

Partnership; a group including the academic community, environmental 
organisations, statutory bodies, third sector and faith community representatives as 
well as a number of young people representing the student community. Chaired by 
Gideon Ben-Tovim OBE (Chair of Nature Connected) with Deputy Chair Cllr. Gill 
Wood (deputy portfolio holder for Climate and Renewable Energy), this group have 
been instrumental to the Combined Authority’s approach to rapid climate action. 

 
4.0 ACTIVITY AND PROGRESS 
 
4.1 Since declaring a Climate Emergency in 2019, the Combined Authority and its 

partners have made great strides towards achieving the Liverpool City Region’s net 
zero carbon ambitions. Actions taken range from investing £500,000 through the 
Community Environment Fund in 2021, supporting 58 community organisations to 
deliver environmental projects, through to transformational clean energy 
infrastructure projects.  

                                            
1
 Liverpool City Region Year One Climate Action Plan 2021-2022 

Page 130

https://www.liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/YearOneClimate6_compressed.pdf


4.2 Investment of nearly £40m has been made to retrofit more than 3600 homes, 
starting with the most vulnerable households. The first tranche of home retrofit 
projects will be completed by March 2022.  

 
4.3 Decarbonising the transport network is essential to achieving net zero carbon. This 

includes a move to more active travel and use of public transport, rather than 
private cars. The delivery of a London-style transport system that is quick, cheap, 
reliable and convenient will be key. It is also vital to decarbonise transport fuel for all 
vehicles, including the new city region hydrogen buses and the new train fleet which 
can run on battery power to extend the rail system coverage. £750m of transport 
funding has recently been secured that will improve the green transport 
infrastructure including bus, rail and build on the Mayor’s plans for a 600km network 
of quality walking and cycling routes. 

 
4.4 Plans are progressing to harness opportunities to produce clean energy in the city 

region – the Mersey Tidal Power Project has the potential to generate enough 
power for up to 1 million homes and create thousands of local jobs. HyNet, one of 
ony two pilot schemes recently selected by the Government for further development 
will produce, store and distribute hydrogen as well as capturing and locking up 
carbon from local industries whilst they transition to new, renewable energy 
sources.  

 
4.5 To move toward net zero carbon at the speed required, all sectors of the community 

will need to work together. Since 2005, a 40% reduction in carbon emissions has 
been achieved in the Liverpool City Region, but there is much more to be done. The 
figure below (Figure 1) shows that a pathway following the last 20 years historical 
trend, will not be sufficient to meet the  goal. Modelling has shown that to keep  
global temperature increases under 1.5oCcarbon emissions  need to reduce more 
quickly in the early years of the plan, so that the City Region emits less carbon 
emissions in total. With the right level of investment and commitment, this target is 
possible, but it will take actions and commitment from all partners, stakeholders and 
individuals.  

 
Figure 1 Historic carbon emissions since 2005 and future carbon pathways 

Page 131



 
5.0 PATHWAY TO NET ZERO CARBON 
 
5.1 Partners across the City Region have already demonstrated what can be achieved 

with a clear vision and purpose, however the evidence shows clearly that to achieve 
the net zero carbon ambition, the pace of action will need to be accelerated. The 
Pathway to Net Zero document aims to set a clear direction of travel that will set a 
firm foundation for rapid, collective action.  

 
5.2 The Pathway to Net Zero draft document can be found in Appendix 1 of this report. 

The document sets out the scale of the challenge, whilst providing clear, coherent 
and attractive messages about the net zero carbon future. It highlights the 
Combined Authority understanding of the complexity of these issues and confidence 
in the ability of the Liverpool City Region to rise to this challenge. The document 
explains that, whilst not every step of the journey to net zero carbon is fully 
understood, the key actions that can be taken in the short term are clear. The need 
for collective responsibility by each individual, business and the public sector as well 
as local and national government is clear.  

 
5.3 The Pathway to Net Zero is to be proposed for approval by the Combined Authority 

on 21st January 2022. If approved, the next step in this process will be to start the 
process of articulating actions to be taken in the short term. Building on the success 
of the Year One Climate Action Plan, the Combined Authority wishes to encourage 
participation from all partners and stakeholders across the city region to co-create a 
comprehensive action plan for delivery in a five year timescale, against which 
progress can be measured. 

 
 
6. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 
 
6.1 Financial 
 
 The Pathway to Net Zero does not make any explicit funding requirements of the 

Combined Authority. However, the financial implications of targeted action and 
delivery will be considered as part of the action planning phase in 2022.  

 
6.2 Human Resources 
 
 There are no direct implications arising from this report. Resource needs will be 

reviewed in line with opportunities to deliver the net zero ambitions.  
 
6.3 Physical Assets 
 
 There are no direct implications arising from this report for physical assets 
 
6.4 Information Technology 
 
 There are no direct implications for IT arising from this report. 
  

Page 132



 
7. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
7.1 There are no specific legal implications arising from this report. It is noted that the 

UK Government commitment to achievement of net zero carbon by 2050 is a 
legally binding target and therefore failure to act in a timely manner to achieve this 
goal could have specific legal consequences.   

 
 
8.  RISKS AND MITIGATION 
 
8.1 The risks associated with implementing the recommendations of this report have 

been minimised by careful consideration and risk management from an early stage 
in the development of the proposals. The impact of residual risks such as changes 
of national policy are considered to be low at this time. Risks and opportunities will 
be kept under constant review and will be subject to regular appraisal.  

 
8.2 Not implementing the recommendations would result in a risk to delivery of climate 

action and ultimately, a risk to the achievement of the Combined Authority’s stated 
goal of achieving net zero carbon by 2040 or sooner.  

 
 
9.  EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY IMPLICATIONS 
 
9.1 The Pathway to Net Zero document has been developed specifically to seek to 

address inequality across the City Region. The imperative to address poverty, 
racial and gender inequality and climate justice are central to the achievement of 
action on climate and the environment. 

 
9.2 The document recognises that the people who will suffer from the climate 

emergency are those who have done the least to cause the problem; creating a 
fairer future for everyone is therefore a central theme within the plan. This builds 
on the approach and Equality Impact Assessment undertaken as part of the Year 
One Climate Action Plan. 

 
9.3 The Pathway to Net Zero has been informed by the views of local residents 

secured through external consultation. Specific targeted engagement activity has 
been undertaken to ensure the views are representative including those 
historically hard to reach.  

 
9.4 A new Equaliity Impact Assessment will be undertaken in full next year to inform 

the policy and actions within the next phase of climate action planning. 
 
9.5 The recommendations in this report will have a positive impact on progress to 

address the Climate Emergency with no negative impacts identified. The 
encouragement of rapid, collective action to address the climate emergency will 
protect populations and prosperity across the city region.  

 
 
10. PRIVACY IMPLICATIONS 

 

10.1 There are no privacy implications arising from this report. 

Page 133



 
 
11.  COMMUNICATION ISSUES 
 
11.1 Whilst there are no implications arising from this report, the Climate Partnership 

and the Combined Authority are determined to embrace a participative approach 
to climate action,  Such approach will encourage stakeholders, organisations and 
members of the public to take an active role in determining future direction and 
actions. The Climate Partnership and Climate Panel are stakeholder groups 
whose role is fundamental to this process. A highly participative engagement was 
undertaken prior to preparing the document and the findings of this engagement 
have been embedded in its creation. 

 
 
12.  CONCLUSION 
 
12.1 The draft Pathway to Net Zero report sets out a strong commitment and 

demonstration of intent on the climate agenda. The document provides a strategy 
basis for all actions on climate and environment related activity included in the 
2021-2024 Corporate Plan are has been designed to work within the same 
timeframe. If approved at the Combined Authority in January 2022, it will provide a 
firm foundation for a more detailed programme of action and intervention that will 
be developed over the coming months.  

 
 
 
 

CLLR. DAVID BAINES 
Portfolio Holder: Cimate and Renewable Energy 

 
 

KIRSTY MCLEAN 
Executive Director of Policy, Strategy and Gvernment Relations 

 
 
 
 

Contact Officer(s): 
Claire Blott, Head of Policy Coordination. Mobile: 07467 357 613 | Email: 
claire.blott@liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk 
 
Rachel Waggett, Principal Environment Officer. Mobile: 07917 270350 | Email: 
rachel.waggett@liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk 
 
Appendices: 
Appendix One – [draft] Pathway to Net Zero 
Appendix Two – Note on stakeholder engagement for Pathway to Net Zero 
 
Background Documents:  
 
None 

Page 134

mailto:claire.blott@liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk
mailto:rachel.waggett@liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk


 

LCR Overview and Scrutiny Committee 20.1.22 
Pathway to Net Zero Overview and Progress Update – Appendix 2. 

 

Appendix 2: Note on stakeholder engagement for Pathway to Net Zero 

 

Public Engagement Exercise 2021 

The Pathway to Net Zero document content was based on a comprehensive engagement exercise 

held in 2021. Members of the public were asked to provide their opinions on a series of visions for 

the future of the Liverpool City Region in the areas of Home life, Neighbourhoods, Work and Travel 

(journeys). The questions included: 

 How positive or negative they felt about the vision 

 How the vision could improve their life 

 Their concerns of barriers to making the changes 

 What would help them to overcome these concerns or barriers.  

People did not have to answer all sections and could choose which areas they wished to answer. 

Care was taken to try not to lead thoughts or answers and to communicate that all opinions were 

valid. Allowing for open responses and undertaking targeted workshops was insightful and 

interesting.  

In total there were 1217 responses across the four themes. 29% of responses were from young 

people.  

The feedback was very useful to understand the worries or concerns that people have, helping us to 

understand both where we need to focus in order to bring people with us on the journey to net zero, 

and where we may need to look into solutions to support those within the city region to reduce their 

carbon emissions. The feedback received directly informed the structure, messaging and content of 

the Pathway document. 

Climate Partnership 

Chaired by Gideon Ben-Tovim, chair of Nature Connected and with Vice Chair Cllr Gill Wood (Deputy 

Portfolio Lead for Climate and Renewable Energy, the Climate Partnership meets monthly. The group 

was involved in setting and reviewing the above consultation exercise and has been kept up to date 

with the evolution of the Pathway document throughout preparation.  

Membership of the Climate Partnership includes representatives from: 

Cadent Gas 

Cheshire & Merseyside Healthcare Partnership 

CPRE – The Countryside Charity 

Creative Youth Development Team 

Energy Projects Plus 

Environment Agency 

European Youth Parliament 

Extinction Rebellion 

Faith Leaders Group 

Faiths 4 Change 

Foundation for Citizenship  

Page 135



 

LCR Overview and Scrutiny Committee 20.1.22 
Pathway to Net Zero Overview and Progress Update – Appendix 2. 

Friends of the Earth  

GB Partnerships Group 

Halton BC 

Heseltine Institute, University of Liverpool 

Knowsley Council 

Liverpool City Council 

Liverpool John Moores University 

Mersey Forest 

Merseyside Environment Trust/2030 Hub 

Nature Connected 

One Knowsley 

Plus Dane 

Schools Parliament 

Scottish Power Energy Networks (SPEN) 

Sefton MBC 

St. Helens Council 

The Youth Base 

Unite/TUC 

United Utilities 

Wirral Council 

Youth Focus/POSH 

 

Fairness and Social Justice Advisory Board (FASJAB) 

The FASJAB Board received a presentation on the findings of the engagement exercise and initial 

thoughts on the structure of the document. Their comments and thoughts were fed into the 

development of the document, particularly with respect to the need for a just transition for every 

community in the Liverpool City Region.  

Local Authorities 

In addition to their involvement in the Climate Partnership, all six local authority partners have been 

involved in the development of the Pathway document, providing comment and insights on 

messages and content at different stages of development. Insights with regard to the priorities and 

broad action areas within the document have been provided at all stages and fed into the document 

development. 

Clean Growth Board  

Clean Growth Board received a presentation on the content, structure and messaging of the 

Pathway document at draft development stage. The document was well received and their 

comments were fully incorporated in the final version.  

 

 

Page 136



Liverpool City Region 
Pathway to Net Zero
Our ambition  
to reach net 
zero carbon

P
age 137



2 Liverpool City Region Pathway to 2040

Contents
Liverpool City Region Pathway to 2040 

Our pathway to a net zero carbon future

What is net zero?

Why do we need to do it?

What does achieving a net zero target 
mean for the city region?

How feasible is our goal?

Ensuring a fair future for everyone

Future plan overview

Why clean energy is vital

01

02

03

04

05

06

07

08

09

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

Home

Neighbourhoods

Journeys

Workplaces

What can be done now and in the future? 

References & further learning

Commitment pledge to net zero carbon 2040

P
age 138



3 Liverpool City Region Pathway to 2040

Foreword
The Liverpool City Region has always been an outlier – a place 
that is bold, decisive, and never afraid to challenge the status 
quo.  

It was these qualities that drove us to become the first region in 
the country to declare a climate emergency back in 2019 – a year 
in which the climate change debate was thrust into the public 
consciousness like never before.  

And it is these qualities that have been the driving force behind 
our ambitious plans to become net zero carbon at least a decade 
before the government’s national targets. 

That commitment was born out of a recognition that we have 
a moral duty to play our full part in the fight to save our planet 
– and that we must do everything possible to reduce our own 
carbon footprint.  

The race to net zero won’t be easy or simple. It is fraught 
with challenges and hurdles – but there are also unrivalled 
opportunities along the way. 

If trains, docks, and canals made us the gateway to the first 
industrial revolution – then our emerging strengths in wind, 
tidal and hydrogen can make us leaders in the green industrial 
revolution, creating tens of thousands of high-quality, high paying 
jobs for local people.  

Make no mistake, this is our moment. At COP26 in Glasgow last 
November we demonstrated to the world how we are leading 
the way through innovative and significant industrial projects 
including Mersey Tidal, Glass Futures and Hynet. 

Here in the Liverpool City Region, we have both the natural 
assets and the political determination to reach net zero by 
2040. It is our time to develop the green technologies and clean 
industries of the future; to put ourselves at the head. And it is 
our chance to take local people on this incredible journey with us. 

Steve Rotheram

Metro Mayor
Liverpool City Region

Councillor David Baines

Leader of St Helens Borough Council
Portfolio Holder: Climate and Renewable Energy

P
age 139



4 Liverpool City Region Pathway to 2040

Our record of delivery
Under the leadership of Metro Mayor Steve Rotheram, the 
Liverpool City Region Combined Authority became the first 
in the country to formally declare a climate emergency and 
set the ambitious target for us to be carbon neutral by 2040 
or sooner – at least a decade ahead of national targets. Since 
2005, carbon emissions have dropped by 40% - but we still 
have a way to go.

Plans are progressing to harness the power of the 
River Mersey as part of a Green Industrial Revolution 
to transform our reliance on fossil fuel energy to clean, 
renewable alternatives.

The Mersey Tidal Power Project has the potential to 
generate enough power for up to 1 million homes, 
create thousands of local jobs, and put our city region 
at the forefront of the Green Industrial Revolution – 
becoming a worldwide centre of excellence in a vital 
industry of the future.

Saving our planet is at the heart of our work and we are making 
good progress towards improving our environment, decarbonisation 
and better air quality. Our region’s natural assets and technological 
capability mean that we are uniquely positioned to become the 
UK’s Renewable Energy Coast and one of the leaders of the Green 
Industrial Revolution. 

Good opportunities for active travel and public 
transport that gives people a genuine alternative to 
the car are key to tackling the climate emergency. The 
Mayor is working to deliver a London-style transport 
system that is quick, cheap, reliable and shaped around 
local people. 
 
Decarbonising the transport network is at the heart 
of those plans. From our new £500m fleet of publicly 
owned trains, which produce up to 30% fewer 
emissions and have the potential to operate on battery 
power, to our newly ordered hydrogen buses, which 
could be on the road as soon as this year.  
 
The city region recently secured £750m of transport 
funding that will be invested in improving green 
transport infrastructure, expanding the bus and rail 
network and building on the Mayor’s plans for a 600km 
network of quality walking and cycling routes. 

A third of the region’s carbon emissions come from 
our homes, but work is well underway to tackle that. 
We have already invested nearly £40m to retrofit more 
than 3600 homes starting with the most vulnerable 
households. The first tranche of homes is due to be 
complete by March 2022 and applications for funding 
have been submitted to expand the scheme further. 
 
Retrofitting helps people warm their homes, improve 
insulation and energy efficiency, and cut fuel poverty by 
reducing fuel bills. It also offers local people a fantastic 
chance to tap into high quality, high value jobs and 
training opportunities that will only multiply as the 
scheme grows. 
 
The Mayor’s manifesto also commits to developing a 
‘Good Homes Standard’ to ensure that any new housing 
is properly accessible and highly energy efficient. 

P
age 140



5 Liverpool City Region Pathway to 2040

Our record  
of delivery

In 2020, Mayor Rotheram launched the Community Environment Fund, which made 
a number of grants designed to empower and engage the region’s residents to take 
action to improve the environment in their neighbourhoods. 
 
Half a million pounds was invested in 58 grassroots projects, ranging from urban 
beekeeping, farming and wildflower schemes that taught children about the 
importance of biodiversity, to workshops on food waste and improving air quality. 
 
The scheme proved so successful that a further £500,000 has been made available 
to bring the scheme back for 2022, while options are being explored to deliver a 
longer-term, self-sustaining scheme with private sector support moving forward.

HyNet, a pioneering carbon capture, usage and storage scheme, was one of only 
two pilot schemes recently selected by the government for further development. 
This innovative project will produce, store and distribute hydrogen as well as 
capturing and locking up carbon from industry whilst we transition to new, 
renewable energy sources. 
 
When it is up and running in 2025, HyNet has the potential to reduce the North 
West’s carbon emissions by 10m tonnes annually by 2030 – that’s the equivalent of 
taking about 4m cars off the road. It will also create and protect tens of thousands 
of jobs across the region. 
 
Alongside Glass Futures in St Helens, this project is key to reducing emissions from 
industry and helping us reach our ambitious climate targets. 

P
age 141



Working together across all 
Local Authorities

6 Liverpool City Region Pathway to 2040

All six Local Authorities in 
the Liverpool City Region 
have declared a Climate 
Emergency and all are taking 
targeted, local action on 
hundreds of different aspects 
of the climate challenge. 
From LED streetlights, 
energy efficient homes to 
zero carbon vehicles, sharing 
creative ideas and lessons 
learned is already helping 
the whole city region to 
make faster progress to 
achieve net zero carbon. 

Sefton Council is leading on engagement with 
young people, led by the innovative Eco Centre, 
with dedicated teachers and specialist resources for 
climate education on topics such as air quality e.g. 
‘Clean Air Crew’. Sefton is also leading on embedding 
a climate and carbon assessment in the decision 
making process and mandating climate training for  
all staff.

Knowsley Council is leading the way on carbon 
reduction in offices and workplaces, showing what 
can be done even in non-traditional buildings to 
minimise energy use. Knowsley is also supporting 
action on climate resilience, including huge tree 
planting efforts and surface water management that 
also benefits biodiversity. 

Wirral Council is leading the way on managing land 
for the benefit of wildlife, aiming to double their tree 
canopy cover. Wirral is spearheading an innovative, 
partnership model of climate action working closely 
with their community to set strategies, setting 
carbon budgets and integrating climate action into all 
Council policies.

Liverpool City Council is leading the way on the 
transformation of local energy systems through 
the introduction of shared heat network solutions, 
and the transformation of local transport systems 
road transport: increasing active travel options, 
segregated cycle routes and non-fossil fuelled buses, 
also championing innovation in urban green  
infrastructure solutions. 

Halton Borough Council is leading the way in clean,  
renewable energy including solar panels, large  
scale air source heat pumps and biomass boilers 
that save thousands of tonnes of carbon every year. 
Halton is also leading on production of hydrogen for 
industrial sectors.

St Helens Borough Council is leading the way on 
challenging industrial transformations, including 
transitioning high-energy manufacturing to hydrogen 
fuels, and has ordered the UK first Hydrogen fuel cell 
waste vehicle. St Helens is also championing climate 
engagement, with a dedicated Climate Commission 
and Youth Climate Commission to support rapid 
action and have awarded £120k of carbon grants. 

P
age 142



7 Liverpool City Region Pathway to 2040

What is net zero?
‘Net Zero Carbon’ means dramatically reducing 
the amount of carbon we emit and then physically 
removing any remaining emissions, effectively 
cancelling them out. So as a result, we don’t add to 
the amount of carbon in our atmosphere.

We can move towards this goal of largely eliminating 
carbon emissions if we reduce our use of fossil 
fuels which have traditionally provided the energy 
for our journeys, neighbourhoods and workplaces. 
We also need to increase the ability of our natural 

To reach our net zero carbon 2040 goal we 
need to halve the amount of energy that 
we use. This will mean we can generate 
the remaining energy we need from clean, 
renewable energy sources that don’t produce 
any carbon emissions at all. 

surroundings to flourish and absorb (remove) carbon.
Carbon is emitted into the atmosphere when we burn 
fossil fuels like natural gas, petrol, diesel (and to a 
lesser extent, wood and other products). 

Carbon isn’t the only gas we need to be concerned 
about (methane from animal and food waste is  
very damaging too), but it is the largest source  
of emissions.

P
age 143



8 Liverpool City Region Pathway to 2040

What is net zero?

The world is heating because of the 
‘greenhouse gases’ we emit that trap the 
sun’s energy and stop it escaping. The biggest 
source of greenhouse gas emissions is carbon 
dioxide (‘carbon’) which is why we talk about 
the need to become net zero carbon if we are 
to stop the heating process.

of people in the Liverpool City 
Region (LCR) agree that we 
need to take urgent action to 
reduce carbon emissions

P
age 144



9 Liverpool City Region Pathway to 2040

Climate change is the defining crisis of our time and it 
is happening even more quickly than we feared. But we 
are far from powerless. This is a race that we can win.”

- United Nations
Secretary-General António Guterres

P
age 145



10 Liverpool City Region Pathway to 2040

Why do we need to do it?
Globally, greenhouse gases are changing the climate, 
heating the planet. 
 
We will see the effect of this in rising sea levels, heat 
stress and threats to food production. The impact  
of temperature rise by 1.5, 2 or 3 deg C will  
change our way of life; the higher the temperature, 
the more severe the impact will be. We have to act to 
limit the temperature change.

The Liverpool City Region recognised the urgent 
need to act in 2019, when we declared a climate 
emergency. 

We have already emitted enough carbon into the 
atmosphere to start changing our global weather 
patterns. In Liverpool City Region we are more 
fortunate than many, because our temperate climate 
protects us from some of these global changes. But 
this doesn’t mean that we won’t experience difficult 
and sometimes dangerous changes that we need to 
start planning for now.

Increasing use of public 
transport, cycling  
and walking.

Helping people to 
understand the need to 
change and how they can 
play their part.

Reducing our consumption 
of energy and heat.

Being bold in our decision-making 
to protect our City Region.

Supporting people to 
make sure the transition is 
fair for all.

Investing in green skills 
and training for new 
opportunities.

As a city region, tackling the climate crisis will mean:

We now call on everyone to 
work with us to tackle this crisis 
with determination and resolve.

P
age 146



11 Liverpool City Region Pathway to 2040

If working apart, we are a force powerful enough to 
destabilise our planet, surely, working together, we are 
powerful enough to save it.”

- Sir David Attenborough, COP26 November 2021

P
age 147



12 Liverpool City Region Pathway to 2040

What will the impact of climate change 
in Liverpool City Region look like  
by 2040?

Increased difficulties connecting 
to global resources and supplies, 
including food and goods.

Drought, extreme weather and sea 
level rise may make some areas of 
the world uninhabitable, forcing 
people to move.

Increased wind speeds and 
stormy weather will cause 
high tides, storm damage and 
dangerous weather, threatening 
people’s homes and businesses.

More frequent, heavy rainfall will 
overwhelm drainage systems 
and cause local flooding and 
water quality issues.

Longer periods of very hot, 
wet or cold weather. This will 
impact vulnerable communities 
most, such as the elderly. 

Sea level rise of 40cm (15 inches) 
by 2040 will threaten coastal 
habitats, buildings and structures.

More unpredictable weather 
makes it harder to forecast. This 
will cause issues for agriculture, 
food producers and supply chains.

At some times of the year, 
we may run short of water for 
drinking or irrigating food crops.

P
age 148



13 Liverpool City Region Pathway to 2040

The climate crisis has already been solved. We already 
have all the facts and solutions. All we have to do is to 
wake up and change.”

- Greta Thunberg, TEDxStockholm,  
December 2018

P
age 149



14 Liverpool City Region Pathway to 2040

What does achieving a net zero 
target mean for the city region?

If LCR can reduce carbon more swiftly in the 
next five years, a large amount of carbon 
can be avoided that would otherwise be 
released into the atmosphere. 

Slow and Steady: If 
LCR continue to reduce 
carbon emissions at the 
same rate as the last 15 
years, we won’t reach net 
zero carbon by 2050, let 
alone 2040.

With the right level of investment 
and commitment, it is possible 
to speed up reductions, reaching 
net zero carbon by 2040.

Carbon emissions since 2005 
have reduced by 40%. This is 
mainly due to the electricity grid 
using more renewable energy 
and much less coal, meaning all 
electricity is lower carbon now.

Scientific modelling has shown that if we want to play 
our part in keeping global temperatures under 1.5oC, 
we need to reduce carbon emissions faster to start 
with, so we emit less carbon in total over the next 20 
years [Tyndall Centre Manchester].

2005 2010 2015 2020 2025 2030 2035 2040 2045 2050

For net zero carbon to happen, 
we need to make significant 
changes to four areas of our 
shared lives; our homes, our 
neighbourhoods, the journeys 
we make and our workplaces. 
Net Zero North West estimate 
that Liverpool City Region needs 
around £45bn investment over 
the next 20 years to deliver the 
carbon reductions we need, 
securing jobs and growing new 
green skills.

Carbon
Emissions

P
age 150

https://tyndall.ac.uk/
https://netzeronw.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/07/Net-Zero-North-West-Economic-Investment-Prospectus-1.pdf


15 Liverpool City Region Pathway to 2040

What does achieving a net zero 
target mean for the city region?

Thinking about how to take on such big challenges 
can feel overwhelming. However, there are things we 
can do as individuals, communities and businesses 
that will see a positive impact on the climate crisis 
and get us closer to our net zero carbon goal. 

Many organisations and groups over the last few 
years have looked at the potential ways we could 
reach net zero carbon. The UK Climate Change 
Committee has completed some of the most 
comprehensive and complex modelling. They 
have looked at hundreds of different scenarios, 
considering possible future technologies as well as 
those we already have. 

When we apply these different scenarios to the 
Liverpool City Region, it shows that with the right 
resources, investment and the commitment of our 
communities, it is definitely possible to achieve net 
zero carbon by 2040 in the Liverpool City Region. We 
know that the longer we wait the greater the scale 
of challenge - which will ultimately cost more in both 
money and wellbeing for us all. Thurstaston, Wirral Countryside, Merseyside

51% of Liverpool 
City Region 
residents said that 
they had a good 
knowledge of 
what they need  
to do to take 
climate action.

P
age 151

https://www.theccc.org.uk
https://www.theccc.org.uk


16 Liverpool City Region Pathway to 2040

What are the benefits of achieving 
net zero to the city region?

Double our use of trains, 
buses and other sustainable 
transport options.

Increase high quality green 
spaces, with room for animals, 
insects, birds and plants, as 
well as humans.

Lower risk of flooding 
and extreme weather.

Attract more ‘clean’ businesses 
that value a green economy to 
provide sustainable jobs in the 
City Region.

Halve energy consumption and increase local 
renewable energy, so we don’t have to rely 
on expensive fossil fuels from elsewhere.

Improve our air quality 
meaning better health 
for residents.

Produce food locally 
that doesn’t have to 
travel across the world.

Make our neighbourhoods 
greener, more attractive places 
to shop and spend time in.

Make homes and businesses 
warmer, less draughty and 
cheaper to run. 

Help our community to lead 
longer, healthier lives.

By setting a net zero 2040 
ambition we can: 

P
age 152



Ensuring a fair future 
for everyone

17 Liverpool City Region Pathway to 2040

Whilst action to reduce climate impacts isn’t new to 
us, the declaration of a climate emergency and our 
Year of the Environment in 2019 helped us to raise 
our level of ambition and our focus on achievement.  
Our first step in 2020 was to set up a Liverpool City 
Region Climate Partnership, who were instrumental in 
creating our Year One Climate Action Plan that we’re 
currently acting on.

We want to keep the momentum we have created 
and continue to focus on measurable, short term 
actions that fit within a bigger, more ambitious scale 
of achievement.

Achieving net zero carbon by 2040 would be an 
immense achievement in itself - but this target isn’t 
enough on its own. We want to create a future where 
we can live in warm homes, in clean neighbourhoods 
with access to high quality, nature-friendly green 
space. We want to grow our food locally and protect 
ourselves from flooding and extreme weather. We 
want to be able to travel safely and conveniently and 
to have access to long term, sustainable jobs. 

This is just the start

Sustainable 
energy

Carbon & 
environment 
literacy

Health & 
wellbeing

Waste & 
resources

Accessible green 
spaces, habitats & 
biodiversity

Food &
agriculture

Climate change  
& resilience

Air quality  
& transport

Water

So our pathway is 
about more than net 
zero carbon – it’s about 
creating the kind of 
future we want, that 
works for all of us. 
Our Year One Climate 
Action Plan focuses on 
all of the intertwined 
elements that need to 
work together to make 
our 2040 goal a reality.

P
age 153

https://www.liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/YearOneClimate6_compressed.pdf


Ensuring a fair future 
for everyone

18 Liverpool City Region Pathway to 2040

The government plans to make 
the UK net zero carbon by 2050. 
In the Liverpool City Region, we 
want to be far more ambitious 
and have developed a plan to 
achieve net zero carbon by 2040 
at the latest. 
We need action at every different scale to achieve our goal - from 
individuals making the right choices at home and community 
groups working at a neighbourhood level right up to nationally 
important projects like Hynet and the Mersey Tidal project. Helping 
our industries and businesses to move to clean fuels helps them 
to secure their future in our city region, protecting jobs and our 
economic prosperity.

P
age 154

https://hynet.co.uk/
https://www.liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk/mersey-tidal-power/


19 Liverpool City Region Pathway to 2040

Why clean 
energy is vital 
The current mix of energy used in Liverpool City 
Region is dominated by fossil fuels, with around 
75% coming from natural gas, petrol, diesel, heating 
oil and other fossil fuel based energy supplies. This 
cannot continue.

We need to end our reliance on non-renewable 
energy and transition instead to much cleaner sources 
like wind, solar, tidal and those can be naturally 
replenished. Changing the fuels that power our 
homes, lives and our economy is the key to saving 
our planet. 

Our future clean energy supplies will include low 
carbon electricity and hydrogen, as a replacement for 
natural gas, petrol, diesel and other fuels. Electricity 
use will increase, as we remove other fuels, and 
hydrogen will be introduced for specific energy 
intensive uses. There will be a need to change the 
way our supply systems work and to introduce new 
equipment and connections. 

Energy figures in tera-watt hours (1 tera-watt = 1 billion kWh units)By 2035 we expect the 
electricity supply to be 
virtually zero carbon.

Natual Gas
14.1

Uncertainty

2021 2040 2040

Uncertainty
Hydrogen

Hydrogen
2.0

Natural Gas
Removed

Petrol/Diesel
Removed

Petrol/Diesel
8.0

Electricity
6.6

Electricity
7.6

Electricity from 
renewables

7.6

By 2040, most people will use electricity for car 
journeys, heating and cooking as well  
as power. Clean hydrogen will be produced locally to 
supply industry and larger vehicles, where electricity 
is not the best answer.

The Combined Authority and the Government will 
play a major role to help deliver clean energy systems 
and this has already started, but communities 
and individuals must act too. By using renewable 
electricity through energy suppliers and moving away 
from fossil gases, you can have a tangible impact 
on the net zero carbon goal as well. Reducing your 
energy use means that renewable energy supplies go 
further, so we have set a target to halve our energy 
use by 2040.

P
age 155



20 Liverpool City Region Pathway to 2040

Why clean 
energy is vital 
Demand and forecast for 
energy in the UK, 1995 - 2040

1995 2000 2005 2010 2015 2020 Future

Coal used to be a huge part of our UK energy mix, 
but has virtually disappeared in an incredibly short 
time. Over the next 20 years, it’s likely that the same 
will happen to petrol, diesel, oil and natural gas

Wind, solar, hydro, 
tidal, other renewable

Bioenergy & Waste

Nuclear

Natural Gas

Petroleum

Coal

Imported Electricity

Our Renewable 
Energy Coast 
already has 
11 offshore 
wind farms 
and another 
four already in 
development, 
more than 
doubling  
current output. 

P
age 156

https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/digest-of-uk-energy-statistics-dukes-2021
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/digest-of-uk-energy-statistics-dukes-2021


21 Liverpool City Region Pathway to 2040

Why clean 
energy is vital 
To achieve a clean energy supply 
by 2040, we will need to:

To achieve this we will 
need to:

Halve energy consumption in all 
our buildings and in transport, 
so that the clean energy we 
generate isn’t wasted.

Upgrade energy supply systems 
to make sure that we have the 
electrical and hydrogen power 
when and where we need it.

Continue to lobby 
government to secure 
policy and funding  
for delivery.

Support people in fuel 
poverty or those who 
are vulnerable to make 
the changes.

Support, promote and 
lobby for investment 
in renewable energy 
generation and supply 
in our city region.

Work closely with people, 
energy producers and 
utility companies.Ensure that the energy supply 

needed to keep people safe, 
warm and prosperous is 
available affordably.

Increase energy efficiency across 
homes, businesses, industry and 
transport – insulation, smart 
controls and behaviour change will 
be needed.

P
age 157



22 Liverpool City Region Pathway to 2040

To achieve net zero energy in the 
Liverpool City Region will require 
investment of:

£15bn
P

age 158



23 Liverpool City Region Pathway to 2040

Home
Our homes play an integral role 
in achieving net zero carbon. 
There are two key areas to 
understand; what things look 
like now and how we’re going 
to tackle these challenges.

P
age 159



24 Liverpool City Region Pathway to 2040

Home
The overall 
investment 
required to 
achieve net 
zero in homes 
is £12bn.

What things look  
like now

Energy use in housing 

61% of houses in LCR are EPC (Energy 
Performance Certificates) band D and 
below. We should be aiming much 
higher, to make homes as energy 
efficient as possible.

There are currently 720,000 houses in 
LCR. There are likely to be 90,000 more 
homes by 2040.

Carbon from home electricity use is 
dropping fast. Our biggest challenge is 
gas use for heating and hot water.

We need to reduce other ‘domestic’ 
emissions, such as household waste 
and food related emissions. 

To achieve net zero carbon, we need to 
reduce energy use in homes by 60%.

Natural gas is replaced with 
zero carbon alternatives

20212005 2040

Majority of home energy 
use is zero carbon electricity 
and heat networks

Energy figures in tera-watt hours (1 tera-watt = 1 billion kWh units)

2040 AmountElectricityNatural Gas Oil & Biofuels

Liverpool City Region secured nearly 
£40m to retrofit more than 3600 of the 
least energy efficient homes across the 
city region by March 2023.

Poorly insulated homes 
disproportionately affect poorer and 
more vulnerable communities, so it is 
vital that we target the resource where 
we need it most.

P
age 160



25 Liverpool City Region Pathway to 2040

Home
How we’re going to tackle 
these challenges
Overall we will need to: Existing homes will need to: New homes will need to:

Continue to lobby 
government to secure policy 
and funding for delivery.

Support people in fuel 
poverty or those who 
are vulnerable to make 
the changes.

Reduce 
consumption  
of energy.

Promote  
behaviour change.

Make technology 
changes, sometimes 
simple, sometimes 
more complex.

Be highly insulated 
and well ventilated.

Be energy efficient 
with zero carbon 
systems built-in 
from the start.

Have controllable, 
smart technology 
as standard.

Provide highly 
biodiverse green space.

Be built in the most 
sustainable locations.

Have heating systems 
that are zero carbon 
enabled- from 2025 
there will be no gas 
supply to new homes.

Stop using fossil fuel 
such as natural gas to 
provide heating, cooking 
and hot water.

Where homes are suitable, introduce 
a system where heat is provided on a 
neighbourhood scale.

Insulate properties  
so that energy  
isn’t wasted.

Improve energy 
efficiency in our 
homes.

Make sure there 
are enough skilled 
tradespeople to 
carry out the work.

Work closely with 
homeowners, housing 
associations and 
private landlords.

P
age 161



26 Liverpool City Region Pathway to 2040

Neighbourhoods
Our neighbourhoods play a crucial 
role in achieving our net zero carbon 
future. Neighbourhoods have a huge 
number of ingredients that all fit 
together to make them a great place 
to live and work. In the future we will 
need our neighbourhoods to work 
harder than ever to deliver the climate 
benefits we want to see.

P
age 162



27 Liverpool City Region Pathway to 2040

Neighbourhoods
Our neighbourhoods 
provide space for:

All of these different environmental services 
interact - our green spaces are a biodiverse 
habitat but they also lock up carbon in the trees 
and protect us from flooding and air pollution, as 
well as providing a lovely place to walk and play. 

We know it’s important to people that we protect 
and create more green and blue spaces that people 
value, especially in areas where people don’t have 
gardens or yards.

That’s why we created the Community Environment 
Fund, which worked to develop and enhance 
climate literacy at a grass roots level and had a real, 
demonstrable impact across the City Region.

The climate crisis is also an 
ecological emergency - across 
the planet, species are going 
extinct at an accelerating rate 
and their habitats are being 
damaged or destroyed.
 
The UK is one of the world’s 
most nature-depleted 
countries - in the bottom 
10% globally and last among 
the G7 group of nations.

Food growing - by individuals as well 
as farming and agricultural businesses

Getting around - streets, paths and squares

Sports,  leisure and exercise

Community activities including socialising 
and learning

Water flows, including water courses, lakes, 
wetlands and our coast

Biodiversity including animals, insects, birds 
and plant habitats

Carbon storage including woodlands, saltmarsh 
and other carbon storing environments

More local energy generation such as 
wind turbines, solar panels and district 
heating where possible.

P
age 163



28 Liverpool City Region Pathway to 2040

Neighbourhoods

About a quarter of the area of Liverpool City 
Region is built-up - buildings, streets and hard 
landscape. 

Another quarter is urban habitats like parks and 
playing fields. 

The other half is filled with a range of habitats 
including farmland, grassland, woodland, water 
environments and the coastal areas.

Whilst a lot of our land area is green, this isn’t 
well spread around the city region. Some of our 
built up areas don’t have good access to high 
quality green space and we need to improve 
that. In addition, even existing green space can 
be improved, to support more plants and wildlife 
and to connect habitats together.

Every year, LCR sequesters (stores away) 
nearly 33,000 tonnes of carbon, mostly in our 
woodlands and saltmarshes. We need to double 
that amount by creating more carbon-storing 
environments. This will help us soak up any 
leftover carbon emissions that we can’t reduce  
by 2040. 

23%

28%15%

7%

5%

16%

5%
1%

Urban buildings & infrastructure

Urban habitats

Arable land

Grassland areas

Woodland

Intertidal & coastal fringe

Blue habitat

Other

What our neighbourhoods 
look like now

Natural Capital Baseline

P
age 164

https://www.liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/LCR-Natural-Capital-Baseline-Report.pdf


29 Liverpool City Region Pathway to 2040

Neighbourhoods
How we’re going to 
tackle these challenges

UK policy is still changing in this area 
of work, but the Government has 
committed to planting large areas 
of woodland in the UK, changing 
policies for agriculture and the 
natural environment to reduce 
emissions, promote biodiversity and 
provide more locally grown food. 

We are also expecting to see 
changes to pollution regulations for 
air and water, and more support for 
sustainable waste management such 
as food waste. All of this will help us 
to deliver the future we want to see, 
and make the most of the places we 
live and work.

The Liverpool City Region will 
use its spatial planning powers to 
promote a climate resilient City 
Region by promoting blue and 
green infrastructure and the right 
development in the right  
‘sustainable’ place.

Set priorities for restoring 
biodiversity across our City 
Region, aiming to stop and 
reverse the threats to nature 
in our area.

Continue to lobby 
government to secure policy 
and funding for delivery of 
these environmental benefits.

We need to help people to connect with natural 
environments so that everyone understands their 
importance to our future prosperity.

We need to make sure that we make 
the most of our ability to grow local 
food, choose sustainable, low carbon 
foods, support our growers and avoid 
food waste.

Improve the way we manage 
existing greenspace and farmland, 
so that it locks away more carbon 
every year. To do this, we need to 
support farmers and people who 
manage the land, including our 
communities, with the skills and 
knowledge to do this effectively.

Make space for green 
and blue environments 
right across the City 
Region, so that everyone 
can benefit no matter 
where they live.

Overall we will need to:

P
age 165



30 Liverpool City Region Pathway to 2040

Neighbourhoods

Can we afford to set aside space for  
nature and biodiverse habitats? 

The economics of biodiversity are very clear: 
our economies are embedded within Nature, 
not external to it. If we fail to protect nature, we 
can’t protect our economic prosperity. 

140,000 tonnes of food is wasted 
in the Liverpool City Region each 
year. We need to change our food 
buying habits to reduce this waste to 
zero, with more plant-based options. 
This would reduce greenhouse gas 
emissions and save people money.

In 2021, 58 Community 
Environment Fund projects were 
delivered, directly benefiting local 
people across the city region.

Further funding has been secured 
for 2022 to deliver more grassroots 
projects to communities.

We need to think carefully about how we want 
to use our neighbourhoods in the Liverpool 
City Region, how much land we want to use for 
biodiversity, leisure, growing food, producing 
energy, buildings and roads.

P
age 166



31 Liverpool City Region Pathway to 2040

Journeys
How we travel for work and 
leisure plays an integral role in 
achieving net zero carbon. There 
are two key areas to understand; 
what things look like now and 
how we’re going to tackle 
these challenges.

P
age 167



32 Liverpool City Region Pathway to 2040

Journeys
What things look like now

70% of people support 
creation of segregated 
cycle routes.

Government strategy and policy is 
developing fast on transport carbon 
emissions. From 2030 sales of new 
petrol and diesel cars and vans will be 
banned, and from 2035 all new cars 
and vans will need to be fully zero 
emissions at the tailpipe (not hybrid). 
Liverpool City Region are starting to 
develop a new Local Transport Plan 
which will be published in the next  
few years.

Good public transport is the backbone 
of any modern - and green - city region. 
But for too many people, our transport 
network does not currently work for 
them. Mayor Steve Rotheram has 
made it a major priority to improve our 
region’s transport network so that it 
offers a genuine alternative to the car. 

Some people will still need to drive a 
car, either privately owned or part of a 
car-hire club. All these cars will need to 
be fuelled by electricity, with suitable 
places available to charge them.

of ro
ad tra

nsport c
arb

on 

emissi
ons in

 LC
RCars

 produce:

67% 

2/3 of all LCR journeys are less 
than three miles. Half of these 
journeys are made by car.

600km of new and upgraded cycle 
and walking routes in Liverpool 
City Region will be delivered in 
the next few years. 

We have invested nearly £500m 
in a new fleet of green, modern, 
accessible trains for the Merseyrail 
network, and are rolling out high tech 
hydrogen buses from this year. 

P
age 168



33 Liverpool City Region Pathway to 2040

Journeys

2005

Now

2040

Cars | 67%

Vans | 17%

HGV | 12%

Bus | 4%

Remaining fossil 
fuel cars | <5%

Down 5% 

Liverpool City Region have 
secured £750m to transform 
public transport and  
active travel.

LCR journeys in the past, 
present and future.

We want to build 
a London-style 
transport system 
that is quicker, 
cheaper and more 
reliable. Work is 
well under way 
to make that 
happen.*These figures are 

based on our land 
journeys. Aviation 
and shipping are not 
yet included in these 
figures but will be 
included in our long 
term planning.

P
age 169



34 Liverpool City Region Pathway to 2040

Journeys
How we’re going to tackle these challenges

Overall we’re going to: People will need to: Businesses and employers will need to:

Continue to lobby 
government to 
secure policy and 
funding for delivery.

Prioritise walking and 
cycling rather than 
motorised vehicles across 
the whole city region.

Reduce the number 
of journeys and 
choose remote 
working where 
possible.

Choose walking and 
cycling for more journeys, 
particularly short trips.

Move to flexible 
working to help 
people to travel less.

Make it easy for 
employees to walk 
and cycle.

Ensure that all company 
vehicles are zero carbon 
when they are replaced.

Install electric vehicle 
charging at workplace 
car parks or support 
local car charging hubs.

Travel using public 
transport, if possible.

Swap their car or van (if 
they still need to own 
one) to an electric vehicle, 
charged at home or in a 
local car charging hub.

Enable homes to make 
working from home easier, 
such as digital connectivity.

Choose public transport 
for more journeys.

Work to make public 
transport zero carbon, as 
well as convenient, fast, 
safe and cheaper.

Develop a London-
style transport system, 
that integrates buses, 
trains and ferries and 
combines them with a 
comprehensive cycling 
and walking network.

Support people who will 
struggle to afford the 
change and those who 
are vulnerable.

P
age 170



35 Liverpool City Region Pathway to 2040

Workplaces
How we interact with our work 
environments plays an integral 
role in achieving net zero carbon. 
There are two key areas to 
understand; what things look 
like now and how we’re going 
to tackle these challenges.

P
age 171



36 Liverpool City Region Pathway to 2040

Workplaces
The overall investment  
required to achieve net zero  
for workplaces is £5 - 10bn.

From 2025, HyNet will use state-of-the-
art technology to produce, store and 
distribute hydrogen as well as capturing 
and locking up carbon from industry.

Glass Futures is a global industry-led glass R&D, 
innovation and training hub which will decarbonise the 
production of glass. The initial development, to be 
located on the former United Glass Bottling plant site 
in St Helens will have a furnace which enables both 
individual product testing and small run manufacturing. 
No such facility exists anywhere in the world.

What things look like now

Workplace Energy

The biggest challenge for industrial emissions is to 
move away from gas – some manufacturing can’t use 
electricity so we need to find an alternative fuel that 
can be delivered very rapidly.

Businesses also have a major role to play in reducing 
other impacts, such as waste and materials use. 

Energy figures in tera-watt hours (1 tera-watt = 1 billion kWh units)

Some areas of the LCR have 
high industrial energy use from 
manufacturing and suppliers, whereas 
others have relatively little.

Many of our commercial buildings are 
poorly insulated and need upgrading, 
just like our homes.

Buildings in Public, 
Office, Retail, Leisure

Industry

We need to reduce our industrial 
energy use by 30% by 2040, regardless 
of the fuel being used.

2.5

1.6

8.7

2021 2040

2

P
age 172



37 Liverpool City Region Pathway to 2040

Workplaces
How we’re going to tackle 
these challenges
Industrial sites will need to:

Public buildings, offices, leisure and retail 
buildings will need to: To achieve this we will need to:

Continue to lobby 
government to 
secure policy and 
funding for delivery.

Reduce consumption  
of energy.

Insulate properties so 
that energy isn’t wasted.

Improve energy  
efficiency of industrial and 
manufacturing processes.

Change fuel 
from gas to zero 
carbon electricity 
wherever possible.

Explore carbon capture 
and storage as an interim 
technology until zero 
carbon technology exists.

Reduce energy 
consumption through 
refurbishment and 
insulation.

Ensure that buildings 
are controllable, smart 
and connected.

Ensure all heating systems 
are zero carbon enabled.

Install renewable 
energy generation 
where possible.

Find a zero carbon fuel supply 
for high-heat processes that 
can’t use electricity (such as 
green hydrogen).

Support small 
businesses or those 
who will find it difficult 
to make changes. 

Make sure that employees and companies 
have the skills and knowledge needed 
to change every business and industrial 
process in order to meet these goals.

Work closely with industry, 
landlords and commercial 
building owners.

P
age 173



38 Liverpool City Region Pathway to 2040

What can be done now 
and in the future?
In order to achieve net zero in Liverpool City Region we need 
to work collectively and quickly. Whilst the challenge may 
feel insurmountable as individuals, together we can achieve 
our goals. How we interact with the world has fundamentally 
changed over the last twenty years and to get to where we 
need to be we’ll need to change again. You can be part of this 
change; here’s how. 

P
age 174



39 Liverpool City Region Pathway to 2040

Together we can make 
the difference

Three things you can do to get involved 
in the Net Zero Carbon plan

Engage1in how we think about a 
greener future, have your say 
on how we change our homes, 
neighbourhoods and workplaces.

Encourage2 your community and workplaces 
to act together to pledge action 
alongside others.

Educate3 yourself and others on climate 
information and simple actions – take 
a look at our website which also 
signposts to Liverpool City Region’s 
Local Authority resources.

What can be done now  
and in the future?

This document is a call to action for everyone;  
individuals, companies, community groups, 
local authorities, public sector partners and 
government.

The Liverpool City Region has made great strides 
already in our journey to net zero carbon, but 
there is much more to do. To play our part in 
avoiding the climate crisis we all need to work 
together.

Our next stage is to work collaboratively with all 
partners and stakeholders across the city region 
to co-create a comprehensive action plan against 
which short term and longer term progress can 
be measured. 

We are confident that with the right resources, 
investment and the commitment of our 
communities, we will achieve the cleaner, 
sustainable and fair future that the Liverpool City 
Region deserves.

P
age 175

https://www.liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk/what-we-do/energy-environment/


T
his page is intentionally left blank



LIVERPOOL CITY REGION COMBINED AUTHORITY 
 
 
To:  The Chair and Members of the LCR Overview & Scrutiny 

Committee 
 
Meeting:     20 January 2022 
 
Authority/Authorities Affected:  All 
 
EXEMPT/CONFIDENTIAL ITEM: No 
 
KEY DECISION   Yes 
 
 

REPORT OF THE EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR FOR CORPORATE DEVELOPMENT AND 
DELIVERY AND PORTFOLIO HOLDER FOR POLICY, REFORM AND RESOURCES 

 
EQUALITY STRATEGY DRAFT VISION AND OBJECTIVES 

 
 
1. PURPOSE OF REPORT 
 
1.1. This report provides a further update to members on work to develop a four-year 

equality strategy for the Liverpool City Region Combined Authority. The strategy will 
set out the vision and objectives for equality, diversity and inclusion and will include a 
delivery plan to demonstrate how the ambition set out within the corporate plan in 
relation to equalities will be achieved. 

 
1.2. Performance will be reviewed regularly against the delivery pan and considered by 

this committee in addition to the Combined Authority. The draft vision and objectives 
are set out in this report for consideration.  The finalised version of the Strategy and 
delivery plan is due to be considered at the Combined Authority at its meeting on 4 
March 2022. 

 
 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 

2.1. It is recommended that the Overview and Scrutiny Committee: 
 
(a) considers and provides comments on the draft equality vision and objectives 

provided at Appendix 1 and the further detail provided on the approach to 
developing the Equality Strategy. 
 

(b) considers and provides comments on the proposal to include socio-economic 
status as part of the equality strategy as described at paragraph 3.2; 

 
(c) notes that the Combined Authority Equality Strategy delivery plan will be 

presented to the Combined Authority in March 2022. 
 

Page 177

Agenda Item 8



(d) agrees the proposal to conduct a task and finish scrutiny review on disability in 
support of developing the Equality Strategy delivery plan as described at 3.7 
below; and 

 
(e) considers how the Equality Strategy and delivery plan can further inform the 

committee’s work programme and future scrutiny reviews. 

 

3. BACKGROUND 
 
3.1. The Combined Authority agreed a three-year Corporate Plan in July 2021, which 

established a vision for a fairer, stronger, cleaner City Region where no one is left 
behind. The plan outlines five priorities to achieve this vision and three crosscutting 
themes of recovery, equality and sustainability embedded across each priority.  

 
3.2 The plan sets out a commitment to develop a strategy which ensures we promote 

equality and diversity across the Liverpool City Region and play a leading role as an 
employer and commissioner of services to improve equality of outcomes across all 
protected characteristics. Under the Equality Act 2010 there is also a requirement for 
LCRCA to publish equality objectives at least every four years.  

 
3.3 The protected characteristics as defined by the Equality Act 2010 are race, religion, 

disability, age, LGBTQ+, gender re-assignment, marriage and civil partnership, sex, 
and pregnancy and maternity. As also noted in the report presented to Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee on 3 November 2021, the Social Mobility Commission 
recommended to Government legislating so that socio-economic status is also 
treated as a protected characteristic1, and it is recommended that the Combined 
Authority agrees to proceed on this basis.   

 
3.4 The draft vision and objectives are set out for consideration at Appendix 1. They 

have been developed based on engagement and consultation as reviewed by 
Overview and Scrutiny committee at its meeting on 3 November 2021. 

 
3.5 Members will recall that the approach is aligned with the Race Equality Declaration of 

Intent, which was agreed by the LCR Combined Authority on 19 March 2021. The 
Declaration sets out the ambitions and objectives for the protected characteristics 

                                            
1
 Navigating the Labyrinth, May 2021 

Page 178

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/987600/SMC-NavigatingtheLabyrinth.pdf


across the Combined Authority’s roles as an employer, as a commissioner, and as a 
civic leader.  

 
3.6 While developing the strategy, officers will continue to progress with the following 

subject to approval by the Combined Authority at its meeting on 21 January 2022: 
 

 Implement the Race Equality Programme as agreed by the Combined Authority 
and use best practice and learning to inform the development of programme 
activity across all protected characteristics; 

 Further enhance monitoring, analysis and reporting of equality data and embed 
this into systems and processes; 

 Publish additional information, including evidence of monitoring data, on the 
Combined Authority website; 

 Continue to develop capability to carry out and act upon quality Equality Impact 
Assessment’s (EIA’s) and embed into key business planning and decision-making 
processes, ensuring publication as appropriate;  

 Review the equalities infrastructure and engagement forums to identify 

opportunities for strengthening their support of delivery; 
 In collaboration with local authorities, establish employee network groups for 

disabled and LGBTQ+ employees; review other employee networks and their 

relationship with wider equalities infrastructure;  
 Collect and report on existing advisory board member equality data; 

 Embed equality objectives across all Combined Authority portfolios to ensure 

delivery of the corporate plan equalities crosscutting theme 

 
Proposed Scrutiny Task and Finish Group 
 
3.7 Overview and Scrutiny Committee is invited to consider a proposal to conduct a task 

and finish scrutiny review in relation to the Combined Authority’s approach to 
disability in support of developing the Equality Strategy delivery plan. The rationale 
for this proposal is that it: 

 
i. Provides a suitable initial focus to support detailed information gathering and 

scrutiny to ensure actionable recommendations, which could provide an 
approach that is then applied to other strands of equality/protected 
characteristics 

ii. Gives due priority to disability given data suggests Liverpool City Region is an 
outlier, with 22.7% of the population having a disability or long-term illness that 
impacts day-to-day life, compared to 20.2% for the north west and 17.6% for 
England 

iii. Will give Overview and Scrutiny Committee a timely opportunity to help shape the 
emerging application to the SIF (Strategic Investment Fund) being developed by 
the Employment and Skills Team in relation to disability equality. 

iv. Takes advantage of readily available and acknowledged expertise and insight 
from Overview and Scrutiny members, and potentially members of the Fairness 
and Social Justice Advisory Board, Combined Authority employees, and local 
disability organisations. 

 
  

Page 179



4 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 
 
4.1  Financial 
 
 Combined Authority resources have been secured to develop the equality strategy 

with £80k identified in the current budget year to develop and implement the strategy 
in terms of interim support, training and commissioning. Resources to support the 
ongoing delivery of the strategy have been identified through the budget setting 
process and are therefore subject to Combined Authority approval.  

 
4.2 Human Resources 
  
 Senior level interim capacity has been recruited to provide a 6-month period of 

support to the process of further embedding Equality, Diversity and Inclusion and, 
subject to approval of the budget growth item referenced at 4.1 above, a permanent 
Lead Officer role will be recruited.  

 
4.3 Physical Assets 

 
 There are no physical assets issues arising directly from this report. 
 
4.4 Information Technology 
 
 There are no IT issues arising directly from this report.  
 
 
5 LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
5.1 In common with other public authorities, the Combined Authority has a general and a 

specific duty under the Equality Act 2010. The development of the Equality Strategy 
and the consequent work to deliver against the objectives detailed therein will 
support the Combined Authority to be compliant with these duties.  

 
 
6 RISKS AND MITIGATION 
 
6.1 There are clear legal, reputational, performance, and political risks in not adeqautely 

addressing Equality, Diversity and Inclusion (EDI). These risks are being mitigated:  
 
 Senior leadership of the equalities agenda by the Executive Director for 

Corporate Development and Delivery 
 Prioritising and resourcing the development of the Equality Strategy 
 Taking forward a work programme under the equalities, diveristy and inclusion 

portoflio, led by Mayor Joanne Anderson, which includes embedding equality 
objectives across each portfolio.  

 
 A risk register is in place and will be monitored..  
  

Page 180



7 EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY IMPLICATIONS 
 
7.1 The Combined Authority’s Equality Strategy will be a key tool to delivering the 

commitment to EDI, as detailed within the Corporate Plan. As such the Equality 
Strategy should ensure that the interests of people with ‘protected characteristics’ are 
advanced across the Liverpool City Region.  

 
 
8 PRIVACY IMPLICATIONS 
 

8.1 Although there are no privacy implications arising directly from this report, it is 
recognised that good quality data will be central to delivery of the Equality Strategy, 
and this has already been identified as an area in need of improvement. It will 
therefore be vital to ensure a high level of confidence in the Combined Authority’s 
collection and use of data amongst employees, the public, and partner organisations, 
through careful adherence to General Data Protection Regulation requirements. 

 
 
9 COMMUNICATION ISSUES 
 
9.1 The final version of the Equality Strategy will be published on the Combined 

Authority’s website and shared directly with key partners. A communications plan will 
be developed to ensure activities within the strategy are communicated to residents, 
partners and stakeholders. 

 
 
10 CONCLUSION 
 
10.1 This importance of equality, diversity and inclusion is set out within the Combined 

Authority’s three-year Corporate Plan and is implicit in the vision for a City Region 
where no one is left behind. This report provides the draft vision and objectives for 
the equality strategy which will formally embed and deliver the City Region 
commitment to equality, diversity, and inclusion.  

 
 

LIZ DEAN 
Executive Director for Corporate Development and Delivery 

 
 
 

Contact Officer(s): 
 
Lucy Barrow, Assistant Director: Corporate Development 
Ben O’Brien, Head of Communications, Marketing and Engagement  
Olly Martins, Fairness and Social Inclusion Policy Lead 
 
 
Appendices: 
 
 
Appendix One – Our Equality Vision and Objectives 
 

Page 181



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 1 
 
Our Equality Vision and Objectives 
 
VISION 
 
The Liverpool City Region Combined Authority has a vision for a fairer, stronger, cleaner 
city region where no one is left behind. To achieve this, we must eliminate discrimination 
and promote equality in our policies, service delivery and funding decisions.  
 
We will prioritise those left behind, disadvantaged, or experiencing discrimination, and 
reduce inequality by changing how public services are delivered.  
 
Our vision for equality, is for a City Region that:  
 

 Achieves equity by doing more for those facing greatest disadvantage.  
 Promotes equality, diversity, and inclusion in all that we do.  
 Values and celebrates human diversity, and treats everyone with dignity and 

respect.  
 Champions social justice and challenges discrimination and prejudice. 
 Involves people in decision making, develops solutions with them and removes 

barriers to participation in civic life.  
 Promotes inclusive organisations with a culture that recognises the benefits and 

opportunities of diverse workforces.  
 Has accessibility at the heart of all that we provide.  

We will do this because nobody’s life chances should be determined by where they were 

born, the colour of their skin, what they believe, who they love, their gender, chosen or 

otherwise, or whether they have a disability. 

  

Page 183



OBJECTIVES 
 

Equality 
Objective One: 
Employer  

We will continue to strive towards a diverse workforce 
which represents the communities we serve, and an 
inclusive and enabling workplace culture which 
provides equality of opportunity for everyone to thrive.  
  

Descriptor  As an employer our objective is to be an organisation 
where our culture and ethos proclaims that equality, 
diversity, and inclusion are written in our DNA. We will 
be representative of the diversity of our local 
population at all levels of the organisation, and we will 
be a workplace where all feel valued, included, and 
equipped to achieve our purpose of a fairer, stronger, 
cleaner city region. We will celebrate our human 
difference and how it shapes the contributions we 
make. 
  

Priorities   Develop and implement our people strategy 
which will include core priorities for equality, 
diversity, and inclusion 

 Implement a positive action programme to 
improve the diversity of our workforce.  

 Ensure there is an inclusive workplace culture, 
communications, and employee engagement  

 Review our employment policies and 
procedures to ensure they are inclusive 

 Conduct a comprehensive review of our data 
and review benchmarking  

 

Equality 
Objective Two:  

Commissioner  

 

We will deepen our engagement with our communities 
and ensure their diverse needs continue to shape the 
services and programmes we deliver, actively 
removing barriers for under-represented groups and 
practising inclusion in all we do.  

Descriptor  Equity will be our guiding principle in how we deliver 
services, increase prosperity, and drive the social 
regeneration of our city region, with nowhere and no-
one left behind. Our approach will be fair, inclusive, 
and collaborative, addressing barriers to participation. 
We will measure our impact, report on it transparently, 
and expect to be held to account for our performance. 
 

Priorities   Conduct a comprehensive review of the 
services we commission and provide through 
the lens of equality, diversity, and inclusion. 

 Ensure our engagement first policy is embedded 
and inclusive, reaching all communities who 
need, or receive our services 

 Provide and commission inclusive services and 
programmes based on evidence and 

Page 184



engagement.  

 Embed social value and equality priorities in 
procurement processes and our supply chain. 

 

Equality 
Objective Three: 
Civic Leader   

Working with our partners, we will lead from the front 
and use our sphere of influence in the Liverpool City 
Region, demonstrating that our positive actions 
working together will deliver change that benefits 
everyone in our city region  
 

Descriptor  We will set an example for organisations across our 
city region to follow, being a beacon of best practice 
and championing equality, diversity, and inclusion. We 
will make common cause with others and work 
collaboratively to tackle inequality, discrimination, 
prejudice, and injustices and remove barriers to 
participation.  

Priorities   Support local and national campaigns for social 
justice   

 Be an active leader and play our part in 
educating discrimination    

 Facilitate increased diversity in senior 
leadership and board level positions across the 
City Region  

 Share best practice and promote organisational 
models that tackle inequality   

 Change the narrative in our region for those 
who face discrimination, encouraging positive 
narratives, challenge negative media, images, 
and communications   

 
 

Page 185



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the meeting held on 3 November 2021
	Minutes

	4 Combined Authority Budget Report 2022/23
	Enc.1 for Combined Authority budget report 2022-23 (v.7)
	Enc. 2 for Combined Authority Budget Report 2022-23
	Enc. 3 for Combined Authority Budget Report 2022-23
	Enc. 4 for Combined Authority Budget Report 2022-23
	Enc. 5 for Combined Authority Budget Report 2022-23
	Enc. 6 for Combined Authority Budget Report 2022-23

	5 LCR Combined Authority Corporate Plan 2021-24 - Biannual/Q2 Performance Report 2021/22
	Enc. 1 for CA Plan 2021-24 - Biannual 2021-22 Performance Summary

	6 Appointment of Substitute Scrutiny Member to the LCR Audit and Governance Committee 2021/22
	7 Liverpool City Region Pathway to Net Zero - Overview and Progress Update
	Enc. 2 for Liverpool City Region Pathway to Net Zero - Overview and Progress Update_APPENDIX 2
	Enc. 1 for Liverpool City Region Pathway to Net Zero - Overview and Progress Update_Pathway to Net Zero DRAFT

	8 Equality Strategy Draft Vision and Objectives
	Appendix 1


